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PART I
Forward‑Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10‑K, or Annual Report, contains forward‑looking statements, which reflect our current views about future events and financial results. We have
made these statements in reliance on the safe harbor created by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or
the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act). Forward‑looking statements include our views on future financial results,
financing sources, product development, capital requirements, market growth and the like, and are generally identified by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “targets,”
“projects,” “predicts,” “contemplates,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans” and similar words. Forward‑looking statements are merely predictions and
therefore inherently subject to uncertainties and other factors which could cause the actual results to differ materially from the forward‑looking statement. These uncertainties and other
factors include, among other things:
·

our ability to consummate the sale of the assets of our Efficient Energy Systems (“EES”) business segment to Webasto Charging Systems, Inc., as described in this Annual
Report;

·

unexpected technical and marketing difficulties inherent in major research and product development efforts;

·

availability of U.S. government funding for defense procurement and research and development programs;

·

the extensive regulatory requirements governing our contracts with the U.S. government and the results of any audit or investigation of our compliance therewith;

·

our ability to remain a market innovator and to create new market opportunities;

·

the potential need for changes in our long‑term strategy in response to future developments;

·

unexpected changes in significant operating expenses, including components and raw materials;

·

changes in the supply, demand and/or prices for our products and services;

·

increased competition, including from firms that have substantially greater resources than we have and in the UAS business from lower‑cost consumer drone manufacturers
who may seek to enhance their systems’ capabilities over time;

·

the complexities and uncertainty of obtaining and conducting international business, including export compliance and other reporting requirements;

·

the impact of potential security and cyber threats;

·

uncertainty in the customer adoption rate of commercial use unmanned aircraft systems;

·

changes in the regulatory environment; and

·

general economic and business conditions in the United States and elsewhere in the world.

Set forth below in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” are additional significant uncertainties and other factors affecting forward‑looking statements. The reader should understand that the
uncertainties and other factors identified in this Annual Report are not a comprehensive list of all the uncertainties and other factors that may affect forward‑looking
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statements. We do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward‑looking statements or the list of uncertainties and other factors that could affect those statements.
Item 1. Business.
Proposed Sale of EES Business Segment
On June 1, 2018, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. (“Webasto”) pursuant to which we agreed to
sell, and Webasto agreed to acquire, substantially all of the assets of our Efficient Energy Systems business segment (the “EES Business”) and to assume certain liabilities related to the EES
Business. The closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement is subject to certain closing conditions, including: (i) the accuracy of each party’s representations and
warranties (subject to customary materiality qualifiers), (ii) each party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the Purchase Agreement (subject to customary
materiality qualifiers), (iii) the execution by the parties of certain ancillary agreements and (iv) other customary closing conditions. As of April 30, 2018, we determined that the EES
Business met the criterion for classification as an asset held for sale and represents a strategic shift in in our operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the results of operations of
the EES Business are reported in this Annual Report as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
The disclosures and references in this Annual Report, including financial data, the description of our business operations in this Item 1, and risk factors related to our operations
included in Item 1A relate to our continuing operations, unless otherwise specifically noted.
Overview
We design, develop, produce, support and operate a technologically‑advanced portfolio of products and services for government agencies and businesses. We supply unmanned
aircraft systems (“UAS”) and related services primarily to organizations within the U.S. Department of Defense (“DoD”) and to international allied governments, and tactical missile
systems and related services to organizations within the U.S. Government. We derive the majority of our revenue from these business areas and we believe that the markets for these
solutions have significant growth potential. Additionally, we believe that some of the innovative potential products and services in our research and development pipeline will emerge as
new growth platforms in the future, creating additional market opportunities.
Our success with current products and services stems from our investment in research and development and our ability to invent and deliver advanced solutions, utilizing
proprietary and commercially available technologies, to help our government, commercial and consumer customers operate more effectively and efficiently. We develop these highly
innovative solutions by working very closely with our key customers to solve their most important challenges related to our areas of expertise. Our core technological capabilities,
developed through more than 45 years of innovation, include lightweight aerostructures; power electronics; electric propulsion systems; efficient electric power conversion, and storage
systems; high‑density energy packaging; miniaturization; digital data links (“DDL”); sensors; controls integration; systems integration; engineering optimization; vertical takeoff fixed wing
flight and autonomy, each coupled with professional field service capabilities.
Our UAS business focuses primarily on the design, development, production, marketing, support and operation of innovative UAS and tactical missile systems and the delivery of
UAS‑related services that provide situational awareness, remote sensing, multi‑band communications, force protection and other information and mission effects to increase the safety and
effectiveness of our customers’ operations.
Our Strategy
As a technology solutions provider, our strategy is to develop innovative, safe and reliable new solutions that provide customers with valuable benefits and enable us to create new
markets or market segments, gain market share and grow as market adoption increases. We believe that by introducing new solutions that provide customers with compelling value we are
able to create new markets or market segments and then grow our positions within those
3
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markets or market segments profitably, instead of entering existing markets and competing directly against large, incumbent competitors that may possess advantages in scope, scale,
resources and relationships.
We intend to grow our business by preserving a leadership position in the UAS and tactical missile system markets, and by creating new solutions that enable us to create and
establish leadership positions in new markets. Key components of this strategy include the following:
Expand our market leadership to grow existing markets and create new adjacent markets. Our small UAS and tactical missile systems enjoy leading positions in their
respective markets. We intend to increase the penetration of our small UAS products and services within the U.S. military, the military forces of allied nations, other government agencies
and non‑government organizations, including commercial entities, and to increase the penetration of our tactical missile systems within the U.S. military and allied nations. We believe that
the broad adoption of our small UAS by the U.S. military will continue to spur demand by allied nations, and that our efforts to pursue new applications are creating opportunities beyond
the early adopter military market.
Deliver innovative new solutions for existing and new markets. Customer‑focused innovation is the primary driver of our growth. We plan to continue pursuing internal and
customer‑funded research and development to develop better, more capable products, services and business models, both in response to and in anticipation of emerging customer needs. In
some cases, these innovations result in upgrades to existing offerings, expanding their value among existing customers and markets. In other cases, these innovations become entirely new
solutions that position us to address new markets, customers and business opportunities. We believe focused research and development investments will allow us to deliver innovative new
products and services that address market needs within and outside of our current target markets, and enable us to create new opportunities for growth. We view strategic partnerships as a
means by which to further the reach of our innovative solutions through access to new markets, customers and complementary capabilities.
Foster our entrepreneurial culture and continue to attract, develop and retain highly‑skilled personnel. Our company culture encourages innovation and an entrepreneurial
spirit, which helps to attract and retain highly‑skilled professionals. We intend to preserve this culture to encourage the development of the innovative, highly technical system solutions and
business models that give us our competitive advantage. A core component of our culture is our intent to demonstrate trust and integrity in all of our interactions, contributing to a positive
work environment and engendering loyalty among our employees and customers.
Preserve our agility and flexibility. We respond rapidly to evolving markets, solve complicated customer problems, and strive to deliver new products, services and
capabilities quickly, efficiently and affordably relative to available alternatives. We believe our agility and flexibility help us to strengthen our relationships with customers and partners. We
intend to maintain our agility and flexibility, which we believe to be important sources of differentiation when we compete against organizations with more extensive resources.
Effectively manage our growth portfolio for long‑term value creation. Our production and development programs and services position us for investment opportunities that
we believe will deliver long‑term growth by providing our customers with valuable new capabilities. We evaluate each opportunity independently and within the context of other investment
opportunities to determine its relative timing and potential, and thereby its priority. This process helps us to make informed decisions regarding potential growth capital requirements and
supports how we allocate resources based on relative risks and returns to maximize long‑term value creation, which is a key element of our growth strategy. We also review our portfolio on
a regular basis to determine if and when to narrow our focus on the highest potential growth opportunities.
Customers
We sell the majority of our UAS and services to organizations within the DoD, including the U.S. Army, Marine Corps, Special Operations Command, Air Force and Navy, and
increasingly to allied governments. We sell our tactical missile systems to organizations within the U.S. government. We also develop High Altitude Pseudo-Satellite (“HAPS”) systems for
a commercial customer based in Japan.
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During our fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, we generated approximately 19% of our revenue from the U.S. Army pursuant to orders placed under contract by the U.S. Army on
behalf of itself as well as several other organizations within the DoD. Other U.S. government agencies and government subcontractors accounted for 35% of our sales revenue, while
purchases by foreign, commercial and consumer customers accounted for the remaining 46% of sales revenue during our fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
Technology, Research and Development
Technological Competence and Intellectual Property
Our company was founded by the late Dr. Paul B. MacCready, the former Chairman of our board of directors and an internationally renowned innovator who was instrumental in
establishing our entrepreneurial and creative culture. This culture has consistently enabled us to attract and retain highly‑motivated, talented employees and has established our reputation as
an innovative leader in the industries in which we compete.
The innovations developed by our company and our founder include, among others: the world’s first effective human‑powered and manned solar‑powered airplanes; the first
modern passenger electric car, the EV1 prototype for General Motors; the world’s highest flying airplane in level flight, Helios™, a solar‑powered unmanned aircraft system that reached
over 96,000 feet above sea level in 2001; Global Observer, the world’s first liquid hydrogen‑fueled unmanned aircraft system; the Nano Hummingbird™, the world’s first flapping wing
unmanned aircraft system capable of precise hover and omni‑directional flight; and Blackwing™, the first submarine-launched unmanned aircraft system deployed by the U.S. Navy. The
Smithsonian Institution possesses seven vehicles developed by our company or our founder in its permanent collection. Our history of innovation excellence is the result of our talented,
creative and skilled employees whom we encourage to invent and develop innovative new solutions.
A component of our ongoing innovation is a screening process that helps our business managers identify early market needs, which assists us in making timely investments into
critical technologies necessary to develop solutions to address these needs. Similarly, we manage new product and business concepts through a commercialization process that balances
spending, resources, time and intellectual property considerations against market requirements and potential returns on investment. Strongly linking our technology and business
development activities to customer needs in attractive growth markets constitutes an important element of this process. Through the process we revisit our customer requirement
assumptions to evaluate continued investment and to help ensure that our products and services deliver high value.
As a result of our commitment to research and development, we possess an extensive portfolio of intellectual property in the form of patents, trade secrets, copyrights and
trademarks across a broad range of UAS and advanced energy technologies. As of April 30, 2018, we had 201 U.S. patents issued; 87 U.S. patent applications pending; 7 active Patent
Cooperation Treaty applications; and numerous foreign patents and applications, of which 51 U.S. patents, 20 U.S. patent applications and no active Patent Cooperation Treaty applications
are anticipated to be assigned to Webasto upon the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement. In many cases, when appropriate and to preserve confidentiality, we
opt to protect our intellectual property through trade secrets as opposed to filing for patent protection. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, a portion of our patents and pending patent
applications relating to the EES Business will be sold and to Webasto at the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement.
The U.S. government has licenses to some of our intellectual property that was specifically developed in performance of government contracts, and may use or authorize others to
use this intellectual property. In some cases we fund the development of certain intellectual property to maximize its value and limit its use by potential competitors. While we consider the
development and protection of our intellectual property to be integral to the future success of our business, at this time we do not believe that a loss or limitation of rights to any particular
piece of our intellectual property would have a material adverse effect on our overall business.
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Research, Development and Commercialization Projects
A core component of our business strategy is the focused development and commercialization of innovative solutions that we believe can become new products or services that
enable us to create large new markets or accelerate the growth of our current products and services. We invest in an active pipeline of these commercialization projects that range in maturity
from technology validation to early market adoption. We cannot predict when, if ever, we will successfully commercialize these projects, or the exact level of capital expenditures they
could require, which could be substantial.
For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, our internal research and development spending amounted to 10%, 12% and 15%, of our revenue, respectively, and
customer‑funded research and development spending amounted to an additional 19%, 19% and 23%, of our revenue, respectively.
Sales and Marketing
Our marketing strategy is based on developing leadership positions in new markets that we create through the introduction of innovation solutions that improve customer
operational effectiveness and efficiency. Our ability to operate in an agile, flexible manner helps us achieve first mover advantage and work closely with early customers to achieve the
successful adoption of our solutions. Once we establish a market position we work to maintain our leadership position while seeking to grow our revenue by expanding sales and through
continuous innovation and customer support. Our reputation for innovation is a key component of our brand and has been acknowledged through a variety of awards and recognized in
numerous articles in domestic and international publications. We have U.S. registered trademarks for AeroVironment, AV, Switchblade, Raven, Wasp, Snipe, and EV Solutions, and have
several other pending applications for trademark registration. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, a portion of our registered trademarks and pending trademark registration applications
that relate to the EES Business will be sold and assigned to Webasto at the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, including the U.S. registered trademarks for
EV Solutions, TurboCord, PosiCharge, BMID, BATTERY RX, Procore, Powered Your Way, Turbodock, NXT, and Turbo DX.
International Sales
We contract with international sales representatives and team with domestic organizations in a number of foreign markets and believe that these markets represent growth
opportunities for our business. Our international sales accounted for approximately 46%, 37% and 29%, of our revenue for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.
Competition
We believe that the principal competitive factors in the markets for our products and services include product performance; safety; features; acquisition cost; lifetime operating
cost, including maintenance and support; ease of use; rapid integration with existing equipment and processes; quality; reliability; customer support; and brand and reputation.
Manufacturing and Operations
We pursue a lean and efficient production strategy across our business, focusing on rapid prototyping, supply chain management, final assembly, integration, quality and final
acceptance testing. Using concurrent engineering techniques within an integrated product team structure, we rapidly prototype design concepts and products, while working to optimize our
designs to meet manufacturing requirements, mission capabilities and customer specifications. Within this framework we develop our products with feedback and input from manufacturing,
quality, supply chain management, key suppliers, logistics personnel and customers. We incorporate this input into product designs in an effort to maximize the efficiency and quality of our
products. As a result, we believe that we significantly reduce the time required to move a product from its design phase to full‑rate production deliveries while achieving high reliability,
quality and yields.
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We outsource certain production activities, such as the fabrication of structures, the manufacture of electronic printed circuit board subassemblies, payload components and, the
production of our Quantix drone, to qualified suppliers, with many of whom we have long‑term relationships. This outsourcing enables us to focus on final assembly, system integration and
test processes for our products, ensuring high levels of quality and reliability. We forge strong relationships with key suppliers based on their ability to grow with our production needs and
support our growth plans. We continue to expand upon our suppliers’ expertise to improve our existing products and develop new solutions. We rely on both single and multiple suppliers
for certain components and subassemblies. See “Risk Factors—If critical components or raw materials used to manufacture our products become scarce or unavailable, then we may incur
delays in manufacturing and delivery of our products, which could damage our business” for more information. All of our production system operations incorporate internal and external
quality programs and processes to increase acceptance rates, reduce lead times and lower cost.
Customer Funded Research and Development
We actively pursue externally funded projects that help us to strengthen our technological capabilities. Our UAS business submits bids to large research customers such as the
Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, the U.S. Air Force, the U.S. Army and the U.S. Special Operations Command for projects that we believe have future commercial
application. In some cases commercial enterprises may fund our research and development activities, as with our HAPSMobile, Inc. development program. Providing these services
contributes to the development and enhancement of our technical competencies. In an effort to manage the ability of our key technical personnel to support multiple, high‑value research
and development initiatives, we attempt to limit the volume of customer funded research and development projects that we accept. This process enables us to focus these personnel on
projects we believe offer the greatest current and future value to our business.
Seasonality
Historically, and more pronounced in recent years, our revenue in the second half of our fiscal years has exceeded our revenue in the first half of our fiscal years. The factors that
affect our revenue recognition between accounting periods include the timing of new contract awards, the availability of U.S. government and international government funding, lead time
to manufacture our family of systems to customer specification, customer acceptance and other regulatory requirements. We expect our fiscal year 2019 to have more balanced revenue
between the first and second halves.
Raw Materials and Suppliers
Historically, we have not experienced significant delays in the supply or availability of our key raw materials or components provided by our suppliers, nor have we experienced a
significant price increase for raw materials or components. We do not anticipate any such delays or significant price increases in our fiscal year 2019.
Contract Mix
The table below shows our revenue for the periods indicated by contract type, including both government and commercial sales:
2018

Fixed-price contracts
Cost-reimbursable contracts

80
20

Fiscal Year Ended
April 30,
2017

%
%

76
24

%
%

2016

75 %
25 %

Employees
As of April 30, 2018, we had 697 full time employees of our continuing business operations, of whom 253 were in research and development and engineering, 34 were in sales and
marketing, 252 were in operations and 158 were general and administrative personnel. We believe that we have a good relationship with our employees. As of April 30,
7
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2018, we had 100 employees of our EES Business. Upon the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, it is anticipated that we will terminate the employees of
the EES Business who will become employees of Webasto after the closing.
Backlog
We define funded backlog as unfilled firm orders for products and services for which funding currently is appropriated to us under the contract by the customer. As of April 30,
2018 and 2017, our funded backlog was approximately $174.3 million and $70.9 million, respectively. We expect that approximately 84% of our funded backlog will be filled during our
fiscal year ending April 30, 2019.
In addition to our funded backlog, we had unfunded backlog of $58.1 million and $14.1 million as of April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. We define unfunded backlog as the
total remaining potential order amounts under cost reimbursable and fixed price contracts with (i) multiple one‑year options, and indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity, or IDIQ contracts,
or (ii) incremental funding. Unfunded backlog does not obligate the customer to purchase goods or services. There can be no assurance that unfunded backlog will result in any orders in
any particular period, if at all. Management believes that unfunded backlog does not provide a reliable measure of future estimated revenue under our contracts. Unfunded backlog does not
include the remaining potential value associated with a U.S. Army IDIQ‑type contract for small UAS because that contract was awarded to seven companies in 2018, including
AeroVironment, and we cannot be certain that we will receive all task orders issued against the contract.
Because of possible future changes in delivery schedules and/or cancellations of orders, backlog at any particular date is not necessarily representative of actual sales to be
expected for any succeeding period, and actual sales for the year may not meet or exceed the backlog represented. Our backlog is typically subject to large variations from quarter to quarter
as existing contracts expire, are renewed, or new contracts are awarded. A majority of our contracts, specifically our IDIQ contracts, do not obligate the U.S. government to purchase any
goods or services. Additionally, all U.S. government contracts included in backlog, whether or not they are funded, may be terminated at the convenience of the U.S. government.
Other Information
AeroVironment, Inc. was originally incorporated in the State of California in July 1971 and reincorporated in Delaware in 2006.
Our principal executive offices are located at 800 Royal Oaks Drive, Suite 210, Monrovia, California 91016. Our telephone number is (626) 357‑9983. Our website home page is
http://www.avinc.com. We make our website content available for information purposes only. It should not be relied upon for investment purposes, nor is it incorporated by reference into
this Annual Report.
We make our annual reports on Form 10‑K, quarterly reports on Form 10‑Q, current reports on Form 8‑K and proxy statements for our annual stockholders’ meetings, as well as
any amendments to those reports, available free of charge through our website as soon as reasonably practical after we electronically file that material with, or furnish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or SEC. You can learn more about us by reviewing our SEC filings. Our SEC reports can be accessed through the investor relations page of our web site at
http://investor.avinc.com. These reports may also be obtained at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F. Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. The SEC also maintains a web site at
www.sec.gov that contains our reports, proxy statements and other information regarding us.
Unmanned Aircraft Systems
Our UAS business addresses the increasing economic and security value of network‑centric intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance (“ISR”) communications, remote sensing
and effects delivery with innovative UAS and tactical missile system solutions.
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Industry Background
Small UAS
The defense market for small UAS has grown significantly since the early 2000s driven largely by the demands associated with the global threat environment and the resulting
procurement by military customers, the early adopters for this technology. Small UAS now represent an accepted and enduring capability for the military. The U.S. military’s transformation
into a smaller, more agile force that operates via a network of observation, communication and precision targeting technologies accelerated following the terrorist attacks of September 11,
2001, as it required improved, distributed observation and targeting of enemy combatants who operate in small groups, often embedded in dense population centers or dispersed in remote
locations. We believe that UAS, which range from large systems, such as Northrop Grumman’s Global Hawk and General Atomics’ Predator, Sky Warrior, Reaper and Gray Eagle, to
small systems, such as our Raven, Wasp AE, Puma AE and Snipe, serve as integral components of today’s military force. These systems provide critical observation and communications
capabilities serving the increasing demand for actionable intelligence, while reducing risk to individual “warfighters.” Small UAS can provide real‑time observation and communication
capabilities to the small units who control them. As airspace regulations in the U.S. and other nations evolve to accommodate the commercial use of small UAS, we are furthering the
application of small UAS technology in new markets such as precision agriculture. We expect further growth through the introduction of UAS technology and services to these emerging
commercial applications.
Tactical Missile Systems
The development of weapons capable of rapid deployment and precision strike while minimizing the risk to surrounding civilians, property and operators accelerated in recent
years due to advances in enabling technologies. Weapons such as laser‑guided missiles, “smart” bombs and GPS‑guided artillery shells have dramatically improved the accuracy of strikes
against hostile targets. When ground forces find themselves engaged in a firefight or near a target, their ability to employ a precision weapon system quickly and easily can mean the
difference between mission success and failure. A rapidly deployable solution could address emerging requirements beyond ground engagements for use in other types of situations and
from a variety of sea, air and land platforms. We believe that embedding a precision lethal payload into a remotely controlled, man‑portable delivery system provides warfighters with a
valuable and more cost‑effective alternative to existing munition and missile systems.
Large UAS
We believe a market opportunity exists for large UAS that can fly for long periods of time to provide continuous remote sensing and communications in an affordable manner over
great distances. Existing solutions such as communications satellites and manned and unmanned aircraft address some of the emerging demand for this capability, but do so at relatively
high financial and resource costs. Geosynchronous satellites provide fixed, continuous communications capabilities to large portions of the globe, but they operate more than 20,000 miles
from the surface of the earth, therefore limiting the bandwidth they can provide and requiring relatively larger, higher power ground stations. Remote sensing satellites typically operate at
lower altitudes, but are unable to maintain geosynchronous positions, meaning they are moving with respect to the surface of the earth, resulting in a limited presence over specific areas of
interest and significant periods of time during which they are not present over those areas. A new category of constellations consisting of a large number of very small and low earth
orbiting satellites is designed to provide a lower cost alternative with more ubiquitous coverage for reconnaissance and communication, but has yet to be deployed in meaningful quantities.
UAS that are capable of operating in an affordable manner for extended periods of time over an area of interest without gaps in availability while carrying a communications or observation
payload could help to satisfy this need.
Our UAS Solutions
We supply our UAS products and services to multiple customers within and outside of the United States.
9
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Small UAS Products
Our small UAS, including Raven, Wasp AE, Puma AE and Snipe, are designed to operate reliably a few hundred feet above the ground in a wide range of environmental
conditions, providing a vantage point from which to collect and deliver valuable information. Military forces employ our small UAS to deliver ISR and communications, including real‑time
tactical reconnaissance, tracking, combat assessment and geographic data, directly to the small tactical unit or individual operator, thereby increasing flexibility in mission planning and
execution. In commercial applications, we operate our small UAS as part of a turnkey information solution to deliver advanced analysis that can reduce customers’ costs, enhance their
safety and increase their revenue. Our small UAS wirelessly transmit critical live video and other information generated by their payload of electro‑optical, infrared or other sensors directly
to a hand‑held ground control unit, enabling the operator to view and capture images, during the day or at night, on the control unit. Our Quantix data collection drone generates a volume of
high-resolution data significantly larger than wireless bandwidth can accommodate, requiring the transfer of data once the air vehicle has landed. With the exception of Quantix, our ground
control systems allow the operator to control the aircraft by programming it for GPS‑based autonomous navigation using operator‑designated way‑points, or by manual flight operation. The
ground control systems are designed for durability and ease of use in harsh environments and incorporate a user‑friendly, intuitive user interface. All of our fixed wing small UAS currently
in production for military customers operate from our common ground control system.
We designed our small UAS to be transportable by a single person, assembled without tools in less than five minutes and launched and operated by one or two people, with limited
training required. The efficient and reliable electric motors used in all of our small UAS are powered by modular battery packs that can be replaced quickly, enabling rapid return to flight.
We designed all of our small UAS to be reusable for hundreds of flights under normal operating circumstances and to be recovered through an autonomous landing feature that enables a
controlled descent to a designated location.
In military applications, our small UAS provide forward aerial observation capabilities that enable tactical commanders to observe around the next corner, to the next intersection
or past a ridgeline in real‑time. This information facilitates faster, safer movement through urban, rural and mountainous environments and can enable troops to be proactive based on field
intelligence rather than reactive to attack. Moreover, by providing this information, our systems reduce the risk to warfighters and to the surrounding population by providing the ability to
tailor the military response to the threat. U.S. military personnel regularly use our small UAS, such as Raven, for missions such as force protection, combat observation and damage
assessment. These reusable systems are easy to transport, assemble and operate and are relatively quiet when flying at typical operational altitudes of 200 to 300 feet above ground level, the
result of our efficient electric propulsion systems. Furthermore, their small size makes them difficult to see from the ground. In addition, the low cost of our small UAS relative to larger
systems and alternatives makes it practical for customers to deploy these assets directly to warfighters.
In emerging commercial applications, our small UAS enable enterprises to manage valuable assets such as crops, powerlines and railroad infrastructure, more effectively and safely
than previously possible. Our Quantix data collection drone and AeroVironment Decision Support System (“AVDSS”), a cloud‑based platform for processing, analyzing and storing
collected data, are designed to provide agriculture operations with more accurate and timely information regarding their crops. Better and more timely information can translate into more
efficient activities that facilitate more efficient use of scarce resources such as water for agriculture.
Our small UAS offering also includes spare equipment, alternative payload modules, batteries, chargers, repair services and customer support. We provide training by our
highly‑skilled instructors, who typically possess extensive military experience, and continuous refurbishment and repair services for our products. We designed our Quantix system for
minimal training so customers can learn how to operate it on their own. By maintaining close contact with our customers and users in the field, we gather critical feedback on our products
and incorporate that information into ongoing product development and research and development efforts. This approach enables us to improve our solutions in response to, and in
anticipation of, evolving customer needs.
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Each system in our small UAS portfolio typically includes multiple aircraft, our common and interoperable hand‑held ground control system and an array of spare parts and
accessories. Our current small UAS portfolio for defense applications consists of the following aircraft:
Small
UAS
Product

Wingspan
(ft.)

Weight
(lbs.)

Puma AE

9.2

14

Raven

4.5

4.5

Wasp AE
Snipe

3.3
0.8

2.8
0.3

Recovery
Vertical autonomous landing capable (ground
or water)
Vertical autonomous landing capable
Vertical autonomous landing capable (ground
or water)
Vertical takeoff and landing

Standard
Sensors
Mechanical pan, tilt, zoom and digital zoom electro-optical
and infrared
Mechanical pan, tilt, zoom and digital zoom electro-optical
and infrared
Mechanical pan, tilt, zoom and digital zoom electro-optical
and infrared
Mechanical tilt, electro-optical and infrared

Range
(mi.)(1)

Flight Time
(min.)(1)

9.0
6.0

210
60 -

3.0
0.6

90
50
15

(1) Represents point‑to‑point minimum customer‑mandated specifications for all operating conditions. In optimal conditions, the performance of our products may significantly exceed
these specifications. Our DDL relay can enable operational modes that can extend range significantly.
The ground control system serves as the primary interface between the operator and our small UAS designed for defense applications, and allows the operator to control the
direction, speed and altitude of the aircraft as well as the orientation of the sensors to view the visual information they produce through real‑time, streaming video and metadata. Our
common ground control system interfaces with each of our air vehicles, except Snipe, providing a common user interface with each of our air vehicles. In addition to the thousands of air
vehicles delivered to our customers, thousands of ground control systems are also in our customers’ hands.
The Snipe nano quadrotor is an unmanned aircraft system tailored to the needs of frontline troops who need immediate situational awareness. Snipe incorporates an advanced touch
screen interface to control the system and view the information produced by the air vehicle’s onboard sensors. Highly portable and easy to assemble, operate and stow, Snipe is designed to
provide rapid airborne information within one kilometer of its launch point in situations where time is short and risk is high.
Our line of miniature gimbaled sensor payloads provides small UAS operators with enhanced observation and target tracking functionality. Our DDL is integrated into Puma AE,
Raven and Wasp AE and Snipe systems, enhancing their capabilities, and ultimately, the utility of our small UAS by enabling more efficient radio spectrum utilization and communications
security. Small UAS incorporating our DDL offer many more channels as compared to our analog link, increasing the number of air vehicles that can operate in a given area. Additionally,
our DDL enables each air vehicle to operate as an Internet‑Protocol addressable hub capable of routing and relaying video, voice and data to and from multiple other nodes on this ad hoc
network. This capability enables beyond line‑of‑sight operation of our small UAS, further enhancing their value proposition to our customers.
Tactical Missile Systems Products
Our tactical missile systems consist of tube-launched aircraft that deploy with the push of a button, fly at higher speeds than our small UAS, and perform either effects delivery or
reconnaissance missions. Switchblade, the first of our tactical missile systems products, can be transported in its launch tube, within a backpack, and deployed within minutes to defend
against lethal threats such as snipers and mortar teams. With a high level of precision, including a custom warhead, wave-off, loiter and re-engagement capabilities, Switchblade can
neutralize a target rapidly and accurately without causing collateral damage. Furthermore, because it streams live electro-optical and thermal video to its operator, Switchblade can be called
off in the final moments prior to a strike should the situation require, minimizing damage to non-combatants. Blackwing, a variant of Switchblade, launches from a submerged submarine
and carries extra batteries instead of a warhead, providing longer flight time for reconnaissance operations.
UAS Logistics Services
In support of our small UAS for defense applications we offer a suite of services that help to ensure the successful operation of our products by our customers. These services
generate incremental revenue for us and provide us with continuous feedback to understand the performance of our systems, anticipate our customers’ needs and develop
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additional customer insights. We believe that this ongoing feedback loop enables us to continue to provide our customers with innovative solutions that help them succeed. We provide spare
parts as well as repair, refurbishment and replacement services in a manner that seeks to minimize supply chain delays, and we support our customers with spare parts, replacement aircraft
and support whenever and wherever they need them. One of our facilities also serves as the primary depot for repairs and spare parts.
We provide comprehensive training services to support all of our small UAS for defense applications. Our highly‑skilled instructors typically have extensive military experience.
We deploy training teams throughout the continental United States and overseas to support our customers’ training needs on both production and development‑stage systems.
UAS Customer Funded Research and Development
We provide specialized services in support of customer‑funded research and development projects, delivering new value‑added technology solutions to our customers. These types
of projects typically involve developing new system solutions and technology or new capabilities for existing solutions that we introduce as retrofits or upgrades. We recognize
customer‑funded research and development projects as revenue.
UAS Technology, Research and Development
Our primary areas of technological competence represent the sum of numerous technical skills and capabilities that help to differentiate our approach and product offerings. The
following list highlights a number of our key UAS technological capabilities:
·

lightweight, low speed aerostructures and aerodynamic design;

·

miniaturized avionics and micro/nano unmanned aircraft systems;

·

image stabilization and target tracking;

·

software;

·

sensor design, development, miniaturization and integration;

·

advanced flight control systems;

·

electric propulsion systems;

·

high altitude long endurance flight operations;

·

fluid dynamics;

·

miniature, low power wireless digital communications;

·

vertical takeoff and landing fixed‑wing flight unmanned aircraft systems; and

·

system integration and optimization.

Three of our UAS and tactical missile systems development initiatives are described below:
Tactical Missile System Variants. We pioneered our first rapidly deployable, high‑precision tactical missile system, named Switchblade, for use by defense
ground forces. Switchblade is now deployed by the U.S. military to provide force protection to its troops overseas in combat operations.
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During a multitude of demonstrations over the course of several years, multiple potential customers requested modifications to Switchblade to accommodate their specific
mission requirements. We performed a number of successful demonstrations and are now developing several variants to Switchblade for new customers and applications,
including deployment from sea and air vehicles. Blackwing, a submarine-launched reconnaissance system, represents one of the variants. Other variants have transitioned
into production and sale to U.S. customers. We believe these new variants have the potential to expand our tactical missile systems opportunities significantly.
Commercial Unmanned Aircraft Systems‑Based Information Solutions. In the same way our small UAS provide situational awareness to military customers,
we can employ our small UAS with advanced sensors to scan vast or inaccessible infrastructure, plants or wildlife, then process and analyze the resulting data to produce
actionable information for a wide variety of companies in industries that include energy, agriculture and natural resource management. Our Quantix data collection drone
is designed for highly automated vegetation and topographical scanning of more than 400 acres in its 45 minute flight time. Equipped with fixed electro-optical and multispectral sensors, Quantix takes off vertically, transitions to horizontal operation, flies its designated mission, then lands itself vertically at its launch point. Lower
resolution data can be viewed immediately through the wireless transmission of image data from the Quantix to its commercial tablet controller pre-loaded with custom
software. Further automated analysis can be performed by uploading the data to the AVDSS, a cloud-based platform for processing, analyzing and storing collected data.
We have developed this capability based on extensive work with early adopters for anticipated adoption in what could be a large market.
High Altitude Pseudo-Satellites, or HAPS. Building on our decades of groundbreaking development and demonstration of high altitude solar-powered UAS, in
2018 we established a joint venture with SoftBank Corp. to create a global broadband and telecommunications company to demonstrate and deploy HAPS UAS around
the world. HAPSMobile, Inc. is five percent owned by AeroVironment, Inc. and 95 percent owned by SoftBank Corp. The joint venture is providing $76 million in
funding to AeroVironment to develop and demonstrate solar HAPS UAS. AeroVironment possesses exclusive rights to manufacture and supply the solar HAPS UAS
developed by the joint venture to HAPSMobile, Inc., subject to meeting contractual performance criteria. HAPSMobile, Inc. possesses exclusive rights to the solar HAPS
UAS for commercial markets globally, while AeroVironment possesses exclusive rights to the solar HAPS UAS for non-commercial markets globally, with the exception
of Japan.
UAS Sales and Marketing
We organize our U.S. UAS business development team members by target market and customer and we locate team members in close proximity to the customers they support,
where possible. We organize our program managers by product and focus on designing optimal solutions and contract fulfillment, as well as internalizing feedback from customers and
users. By maintaining assigned points of contact with our customers, we believe that we are able to maintain our relationships, service existing contracts effectively and gain vital feedback
to improve our responsiveness and product offerings. We employ a direct-sale and dealer-based distribution strategy for our Commercial Information Solutions.
UAS Manufacturing and Operations
Continued investment in infrastructure has established our manufacturing capability to meet demand with scalable capacity. We have the manufacturing infrastructure to produce
UAS products at rates higher than our historical volumes, support initial low rate production for new UAS development programs and tactical missile systems and execute initial low‑rate
production of large UAS. By drawing upon experienced personnel across various manufacturing industries including aerospace, automotive and volume commodities, we have instituted
lean production systems and leverage our International Organization for Standardization, or ISO certification for Quality Management, integrated supply chain strategy, document control
systems and process control methodologies for production. Presently, we
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perform small UAS manufacturing at the 85,000 square foot manufacturing facility we established in 2005. Our 9001:2015 + AS9100D certified manufacturing facilities are designed to
accommodate demand of up to 1,000 aircraft per month. ISO 9001:2015 + AS9100D refers to a set of voluntary standards for quality management systems. These standards are established
by the ISO to govern quality management systems used worldwide. Companies that receive ISO certification have passed audits performed by a Registrar Accreditation Board‑certified
auditing company. These audits evaluate the effectiveness of companies’ quality management systems and their compliance with ISO standards. Some companies and government agencies
view ISO certification as a positive factor in supplier assessments.
UAS Competition
The market for defense small UAS continues to evolve in response to changing technologies, shifting customer needs and expectations and the potential introduction of new
products. We believe that a number of established domestic and international defense contractors have developed or are developing small UAS that continue to compete, or will compete,
directly with our products. Some of these contractors have significantly greater financial and other resources than we possess. Our current principal small UAS competitors include Elbit
Systems Ltd., L3 Technologies, Inc., and Lockheed Martin Corporation. We do not view large UAS such as Northrop Grumman Corporation’s Global Hawk, General Atomics, Inc.’s
Predator and its derivatives, The Boeing Company’s ScanEagle and Textron Inc.’s Shadow as direct competitors to our small UAS because they perform different missions, do not typically
deliver their information directly to front‑line ground forces and are not hand‑launched and controlled. However, we cannot be certain that these platforms will not become direct
competitors in the future. Potential competition from consumer-focused drone manufacturers could emerge as their capabilities increase and their prices remain low relative to existing
defense solutions, which could result in some level of military consideration even if such drones do not meet traditional military performance or security specifications.
The market for HAPS UAS is in an early stage of development. As a result, this category is not well defined and is characterized by multiple potential solutions. An existing
contractor that claims to provide high altitude long endurance UAS is Northrop Grumman Corporation with its Global Hawk. Several aerospace and defense contractors are pursuing this
market opportunity with proposed very long duration UAS, including The Boeing Company, Airbus, Lockheed Martin Corporation and Northrop Grumman Corporation. Some internet
technology companies have acquired small firms that focus on this type of capability and represent potential future competitors. Companies pursuing airships (high altitude aircraft that are
kept buoyant by a body of gas that is lighter than air) as a solution for this market include Lockheed Martin Corporation and Northrop Grumman Corporation. Companies pursuing
conventional satellites as a solution for this market include The Boeing Company, Lockheed Martin Corporation, General Dynamics Corporation, EADS N.V., Ball Corporation and Orbital
Sciences Corporation. Companies pursuing Low Earth Orbit, or LEO, micro or cubesat satellite constellations for global communication and remote sensing include OneWeb, SpaceX and
The Boeing Company.
The market for tactical missile systems is in an early stage of development, but it is evolving rapidly. Competitors in this market include Textron Inc., Raytheon Company and
Lockheed Martin Corporation.
The market for commercial UAS products and services is in an early stage of development, but is evolving rapidly, generating a great deal of interest as government regulations
evolve to accommodate commercial UAS operations in the National Airspace System and in the airspace systems of other countries. Given the breadth of applications and the diversity of
industries that could benefit from UAS technology, a growing number of potential competitors in this market include consumer drone manufacturers such as Dà-Jiāng Innovation, who seek
to enhance their systems’ capabilities over time; other small UAS manufacturers, including large aerospace companies such as Lockheed Martin Corporation, and drone and aerial
surveying and mapping service providers such as PrecisionHawk and AgEagle; ground‑based surveying and mapping service providers; satellite imagery providers; and specialty system
manufacturers, software as a service and other service providers aiming to address specific market segments. The emerging non‑military market is attracting numerous additional
competitors and significant venture capital funding given perceived lower barriers to entry and a much more fragmented marketplace as compared to the military market. Potential
additional competitors include start‑up companies providing low cost solutions.
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We believe that the principal competitive factors in the markets for our UAS products and services include product performance, features, acquisition cost, lifetime operating cost,
including maintenance and support, ease of use, integration with existing equipment and processes, quality, reliability, customer support, brand and reputation.
UAS Regulation
Due to the fact that we contract with the DoD and other agencies of the U.S. government, we are subject to extensive federal regulations, including the Federal Acquisition
Regulations, Defense Federal Acquisitions Regulations, Truth in Negotiations Act, Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, False Claims Act and the regulations promulgated under the DoD
Industrial Security Manual, which establishes the security guidelines for classified programs and facilities as well as individual security clearances. The federal government audits and
reviews our performance on contracts, pricing practices, cost structure, and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. Like most government contractors, our contracts are
audited and reviewed on a continual basis by federal agencies, including the Defense Contract Management Agency, or DCMA, and the Defense Contract Audit Agency, or DCAA.
Certain of these regulations impose substantial penalties for violations, including suspension or debarment from government contracting or subcontracting for a period of time. We
monitor all of our contracts and contractual efforts to minimize the possibility of any violation of these regulations.
In addition, we are subject to industry‑specific regulations due to the nature of the products and services we provide. For example, certain aspects of our business are subject to
further regulation by additional U.S. government authorities, including (i) the FAA, which regulates airspace for all air vehicles in the U.S. National Airspace System, (ii) the National
Telecommunications and Information Administration and the Federal Communications Commission, which regulate the wireless communications upon which our UAS depend in the
United States and (iii) the Defense Trade Controls of the U.S. Department of State that administers the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, which regulate the export of controlled
technical data, defense articles and defense services.
The FAA issued the first restricted type certificate for the commercial operation of an unmanned aircraft over American soil to our Puma AE system in 2014. Under a COA, we
operated Puma AE systems in the Prudhoe Bay area of Alaska to support a major oil and gas customer. The Secretary of Transportation has the authority to determine whether an
airworthiness certificate is required for a UAS to operate safely in the U.S. National Airspace System. On September 25, 2014 the FAA began issuing case‑by‑case authorization for certain
unmanned aircraft to perform commercial operations prior to the finalization of the rules providing for the integration of small UAS into the U.S. National Airspace System. As of May 11,
2015 the FAA had granted us four exemptions for the use of our small UAS, including Puma AE systems, for agriculture, aerial survey, and patrol operations and for inspections of fixed
infrastructures in controlled environments. On June 21, 2016 the FAA released its final rules that allow routine use of certain small UAS in the U.S. National Airspace System. The FAA
rules, which went into effect in August 2016, provide safety rules for small UAS (under 55 pounds) conducting non‑recreational operations. The rules limit flights to visual‑line‑of‑sight
daylight operation, unless the UAS has anti-collision lights in which case twilight operation is permitted. The final rule also addresses height and speed restrictions, operator certification,
optional use of a visual observer, aircraft registration and marking and operational limits, including prohibiting flights over unprotected people on the ground who are not directly
participating in the operation of the UAS. Current FAA regulations require drone operators to register their systems with the FAA and secure operating licenses for their drones as per the
Part 107 specifications. These regulations continue to evolve to accommodate the integration of UAS into the national airspace system for commercial applications, including HAPS UAS,
that are designed to fly at very high altitudes for extended periods of time.
Furthermore, our non‑U.S. operations are subject to the laws and regulations of foreign jurisdictions, which may include regulations that are more stringent than those imposed by
the U.S. government on our U.S. operations.
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UAS Government Contracting Process
We sell the significant majority of our small UAS and tactical missile system products and services as the prime contractor under contracts with the U.S. government. Certain
important aspects of our government contracts are described below.
UAS Bidding Process
Most of our current government contracts were awarded through a competitive bidding process. The U.S. government awards competitive‑bid contracts based on proposal
evaluation criteria established by the procuring agency. Competitive‑bid contracts are awarded after a formal bid and proposal competition among providers. Interested contractors prepare a
bid and proposal in response to the agency’s request for proposal or request for information. A bid and proposal is usually prepared in a short time period in response to a deadline and
requires the extensive involvement of numerous technical and administrative personnel. Following award, competitive‑bid contracts may be challenged by unsuccessful bidders.
UAS Funding
The funding of U.S. government programs is subject to congressional appropriations. Although multi‑year contracts may be authorized in connection with major procurements,
Congress generally appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis, even though a program may continue for many years. Consequently, programs are often only partially funded initially, and
additional funds are committed only as Congress makes further appropriations.
The U.S. military funds its contracts for our full‑rate production UAS either through operational need statements or as programs of record. Operational need statements require
allocations of discretionary spending or reallocations of funding from other government programs. Funding for our production of initial Raven system deliveries, for example, was provided
through operational need statements. We define a program of record as a program which, after undergoing extensive DoD review and product testing, is included in the five‑year
government budget cycle, meaning that funding is allocated for purchases under these contracts during the five‑year cycle, absent affirmative action by the customer or Congress to change
the budgeted amount. Despite being included in the five-year budget cycle, funding for these programs is subject to annual approval.
UAS Material Government Contract Provisions
All contracts with the U.S. government contain provisions, and are subject to laws and regulations, that give the government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial
contracts, including rights that allow the government to:
·

terminate existing contracts for convenience, in whole or in part, when it is in the interest of the government to do so;

·

terminate contracts for default upon the occurrence of certain enumerated events;

·

unilaterally modify contracts with regard to certain performance requirements;

·

cancel multi‑year contracts and related orders, if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year become unavailable;

·

potentially obtain rights in, or ownership to, intellectual property associated with products and systems developed or delivered by a contractor as a result of its performance of
the contract;

·

adjust contract costs and fees on the basis of audits completed by its agencies;

·

suspend or debar a contractor from doing business with the U.S. government; and
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·

control or prohibit the export of certain items.

Generally, government contracts are subject to oversight audits by government representatives. Compensation, if any, in the event of a termination for default is limited to payment
for work completed at the time of termination. In the event of a termination for convenience, the contractor may receive the contract price for completed work, as well as its costs of
performance of terminated work including an allowance for profit and reasonable termination settlement costs.
UAS Government Contract Categories
We have three types of government contracts, each of which involves a different payment methodology and level of risk related to the cost of performance. These basic types of
contracts are typically referred to as fixed‑price contracts, cost reimbursable contracts, including cost‑plus‑fixed fee, cost‑plus‑award fee, and cost‑plus‑incentive fee, and time‑and‑materials
contracts.
In some cases, depending on the urgency of the project and the complexity of the contract negotiation, we will enter into a Letter Contract prior to finalizing the terms of a
definitive fixed‑price, cost reimbursable or time‑and‑materials definitive contract. A Letter Contract is a written preliminary contractual instrument that provides limited initial funding and
authorizes us to begin immediately manufacturing supplies or performing services while negotiating the definitive terms of the procurement.
Fixed‑Price. These contracts are not subject to adjustment by reason of costs incurred in the performance of the contract. With this type of contract, we assume
the risk that we will not be able to perform at a cost below the fixed‑price, except for costs incurred because of contract changes ordered by the customer. Upon the U.S.
government’s termination of a fixed‑price contract, generally we would be entitled to payment for items delivered to and accepted by the U.S. government and, if the
termination is at the U.S. government’s convenience, for payment of fair compensation for work performed plus the costs of settling and paying claims by any terminated
subcontractors, other settlement expenses and a reasonable allowance for profit on the costs incurred.
Cost Reimbursable. Cost reimbursable contracts include cost‑plus‑fixed fee contracts, cost‑plus‑award fee contracts and cost‑plus‑incentive fee contracts, each
of which are described below. Under each type of contract, we assume the risk that we may not be able to recover costs if they are not allowable under the contract terms
or applicable regulations, or if the costs exceed the contract funding.
·

Cost‑plus‑fixed fee contracts are cost reimbursable contracts that provide for payment of a negotiated fee that is fixed at the inception of the contract. This
fixed fee does not vary with actual cost of the contract, but may be adjusted as a result of changes in the work to be performed under the contract. This
contract type poses less risk of loss than a fixed‑price contract, but our ability to win future contracts from the procuring agency may be adversely affected if
we fail to perform within the maximum cost set forth in the contract.

·

A cost‑plus‑award fee contract is a cost reimbursable contract that provides for a fee consisting of a base amount, which may be zero, fixed at inception of
the contract and an award amount, based upon the government’s satisfaction with the performance under the contract. With this type of contract, we assume
the risk that we may not receive the award fee, or only a portion of it, if we do not perform satisfactorily.

·

A cost‑plus‑incentive fee contract is a cost reimbursable contract that provides for an initially negotiated fee to be adjusted later by a formula based on the
relationship of total allowable costs to total target costs.
17

Table of Contents

We typically experience lower profit margins and lower risk under cost reimbursable contracts than under fixed‑price contracts. Upon the termination of a cost
reimbursable contract, generally we would be entitled to reimbursement of our allowable costs and, if the termination is at the U.S. government’s convenience, a total fee
proportionate to the percentage of work completed under the contract.
Time‑and‑Materials. Under a time‑and‑materials contract, our compensation is based on a fixed hourly rate established for specified labor or skill categories. We
are paid at the established hourly rates for the hours we expend performing the work specified in the contract. Labor costs, overhead, general and administrative costs and
profit are included in the fixed hourly rate. Materials, subcontractors, travel and other direct costs are reimbursed at actual costs plus an amount for material handling. We
make critical pricing assumptions and decisions when developing and proposing time‑and‑materials labor rates. We risk reduced profitability if our actual costs exceed the
costs incorporated into the fixed hourly labor rate. One variation of a standard time‑and‑materials contract is a time‑and‑materials, award fee contract. Under this type of
contract, a positive or negative incentive can be earned based on achievement against specific performance metrics.
UAS Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity Contract Form
The U.S. government frequently uses IDIQ contracts and IDIQ‑type contract forms, such as cost reimbursable and fixed price contracts with multiple one‑year options, to obtain
fixed‑price, cost reimbursable and time‑and‑materials contractual commitments to provide products or services over a period of time pursuant to established general terms and conditions.
At the time of the award of an IDIQ contract or IDIQ‑type contract, the U.S. government generally commits to purchase only a minimal amount of products or services from the contractor
to whom such contract is awarded.
After award of an IDIQ contract the U.S. government may issue task orders for specific services or products it needs. The competitive process to obtain task orders under an award
contract is limited to the pre‑selected contractors. If an IDIQ contract has a single prime contractor, then the award of task orders is limited to that contractor. If the contract has multiple
prime contractors, then the award of the task order is competitively determined among only those prime contractors.
IDIQ and IDIQ‑type contracts typically have multi‑year terms and unfunded ceiling amounts that enable, but do not commit, the U.S. government to purchase substantial amounts
of products and services from one or more contractors.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
General Business Risks
The proposed acquisition of the assets associated with our EES operating segment by Webasto may disrupt our business and, if this transaction is not completed, our stock price may
decline and we will have incurred significant expenses.
On June 1, 2018, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with Webasto, pursuant to which Webasto has agreed to acquire certain properties, assets and rights used or held for use
in connection with our EES Business. The transaction, whether or not consummated, may disrupt our sales and marketing or other business activities, including our relationships with
customers, suppliers and other third parties, and divert management’s and our employees’ attention from our day-to-day operations, which may have an adverse impact on our financial
performance. Further, the failure to complete the transaction may result in disruptions related to the re-integration of our EES Business, as well as a potential decline in employee morale.
Alternatively, we could seek other strategic alternatives for the EES Business, such as a sale of the assets of the business to another party. We may not be successful in consummating such
other strategic alternatives or on terms as favorable as the current proposed transaction with Webasto. Additionally, the employees of our EES Business, despite being offered employment
with Webasto after the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, may decide to depart and seek alternative employment prior to the closing, which would have a
negative impact on our ability to continue our operations.
The Purchase Agreement generally requires us to operate our EES Business in the ordinary course pending consummation of the transaction and places certain contractual
restrictions on the conduct of our EES Business that may affect our ability to execute on our business strategy and attain our financial objectives. Additionally, we have incurred and will
continue to incur substantial financial advisory, legal, and other professional fees and expenses in connection with the transaction, which we must pay regardless of whether the transaction
is completed.
The obligations of the parties to complete the transaction with Webasto are subject to certain closing conditions, including: (i) the accuracy of each party’s representations and
warranties (subject to customary materiality qualifiers), (ii) each party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the Purchase Agreement (subject to customary
materiality qualifiers), (iii) the execution by the parties of certain ancillary agreements and (iv) other customary closing conditions, which are described in more detail in the Purchase
Agreement, which will be filed as an exhibit to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending July 29, 2018. In the event that any of the conditions set forth in the Purchase
Agreement are not satisfied or waived to the extent permitted by applicable law or the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement do not occur when or as expected, the price per
share of our common stock could decline.
We will continue to be responsible for certain liabilities and obligations related to our EES business even if our proposed divestiture of the related assets is consummated.
Under our Purchase Agreement with Webasto, Webasto has assumed certain of our future obligations with respect to our EES business, although we will continue to be responsible
for certain warranty, product and other liabilities arising prior to the closing of such transaction. If substantial unknown liabilities were to arise in the future, then our financial condition
could be materially adversely affected. Further, we have agreed to indemnify Webasto for certain pre-closing liabilities associated with our EES business assets and for breaches of the
representations and warranties contained in the Purchase Agreement for the transaction. There can be no guarantee that material claims will not arise during the relevant indemnification
periods and that we will not have to provide the requisite indemnification. In addition, legal challenges to any potential claim for indemnification could result in increased legal expenses to
us.
We rely heavily on sales to the U.S. government, particularly to agencies of the Department of Defense.
Historically, we have derived a significant portion of our total sales and substantially all of our small UAS sales from the U.S. government and its agencies. Sales to the U.S.
government, either as a prime contractor or subcontractor, represented approximately 54% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. The DoD, our principal U.S.
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government customer, accounted for approximately 46% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. We believe that the success and growth of our business for the foreseeable
future will continue to depend to a significant degree on our ability to win government contracts, in particular from the DoD. Many of our government customers are subject to budgetary
constraints and our continued performance under these contracts, or award of additional contracts from these agencies, could be jeopardized by spending reductions, including constraints on
government spending imposed by the Budget Control Act of 2011 and its subsequent amendments, or budget cutbacks at these agencies. The funding of U.S. government programs is
uncertain and dependent on continued congressional appropriations and administrative allotment of funds based on an annual budgeting process. We cannot assure you that current levels of
congressional funding for our products and services will continue and that our business will not decline. Additionally, the U.S. military funds our contracts primarily through operational
needs statements, and to a lesser extent, through programs of record, which provides us with less visibility and certainty on future funding allocations for our contracts. Furthermore, all of
our contracts with the U.S. government are terminable by the U.S. government at will. A significant decline in government expenditures generally, or with respect to programs for which we
provide products, could adversely affect our business and prospects. Our operating results may also be negatively impacted by other developments that affect these government programs
generally, including the following:
·

changes in government programs that are related to our products and services;

·

adoption of new laws or regulations relating to government contracting or changes to existing laws or regulations;

·

changes in political or public support for security and defense programs;

·

delays or changes in the government appropriations and budget process;

·

uncertainties associated with the current global threat environment and other geo‑political matters; and

·

delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices.

These developments and other factors could cause governmental agencies to reduce their purchases under existing contracts, to exercise their rights to terminate contracts at‑will or
to abstain from renewing contracts, any of which would cause our revenue to decline and could otherwise harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Military transformation and changes in overseas operational levels may affect future procurement priorities and existing programs, which could limit demand for our UAS.
Over the last decade, operational activity in Afghanistan and Iraq led to adoption and an increase in demand for our small UAS. More recently, the U.S. military has reduced its
presence and operational activity in Afghanistan and Iraq, reducing demand for certain of our small UAS products from prior levels. We cannot predict whether the reduction in overseas
operational levels will continue, how future procurement priorities related to defense transformation will be impacted or how changes in the threat environment will impact opportunities for
our small UAS business in terms of existing, additional or replacement programs. If defense transformation or overseas operations cease or slow down, then our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be impacted negatively.
We operate in evolving markets, which makes it difficult to evaluate our business and future prospects.
Our UAS are sold in new and rapidly evolving markets. The commercial UAS market is in the early stages of customer adoption. The market for HAPS UAS is also in an early
stage of development. Accordingly, our business and future prospects may be difficult to evaluate. We cannot accurately predict the extent to which demand for our products will increase, if
at all. The challenges, risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by companies in rapidly evolving markets could impact our ability to do the following:
·

generate sufficient revenue to maintain profitability;
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·

acquire and maintain market share;

·

achieve or manage growth in our operations;

·

develop and renew contracts;

·

attract and retain additional engineers and other highly‑qualified personnel;

·

successfully develop and commercially market new products;

·

adapt to new or changing policies and spending priorities of governments and government agencies; and

·

access additional capital when required and on reasonable terms.

If we fail to address these and other challenges, risks and uncertainties successfully, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially harmed.
We face competition from other firms, many of which have substantially greater resources.
The defense industry is highly competitive and generally characterized by intense competition to win contracts. Our current principal small UAS competitors include Elbit
Systems Ltd., L3 Technologies, Inc. and Lockheed Martin Corporation. We do not view large UAS such as Northrop Grumman Corporation’s Global Hawk, General Atomics, Inc.’s
Predator and related products, The Boeing Company’s ScanEagle and Textron Inc.’s Shadow as direct competitors because they perform different missions, do not typically deliver their
information directly to front‑line ground forces, and are not hand launched and controlled. However, we cannot be certain that these platforms will not become direct competitors in the
future. The HAPS UAS market is in an early stage of development and our HAPS UAS faces competition from several aerospace and defense contractors and internet technology
companies pursuing the high altitude long endurance UAS market for global communication and remote sensing, including The Boeing Company, Airbus, Lockheed Martin Corporation
and Northrop Grumman Corporation, and competition from companies pursuing alternative solutions for this market such as Lockheed Martin Corporation and Northrop Grumman
Corporation with airships (high altitude aircraft that are kept buoyant by a body of gas that is lighter than air) and companies pursuing conventional satellites and Low Earth Orbit, or LEO,
micro or cubesat satellite constellations. Our tactical missile systems business faces competition from competitors including Textron Inc., Raytheon Company and Lockheed Martin
Corporation.
Some of these firms have substantially greater financial, management, research and marketing resources than we have. Our UAS services business also faces competition from
smaller businesses that can provide training and logistics services for multiple UAS platforms, including our small UAS.
Our competitors may be able to provide customers with different or greater capabilities or benefits than we can provide in areas such as technical qualifications, past contract
performance, geographic presence, price and the availability of key professional personnel, including those with security clearances. Furthermore, many of our competitors may be able to
utilize their substantially greater resources and economies of scale to develop competing products and technologies, manufacture in high volumes more efficiently, divert sales away from us
by winning broader contracts or hire away our employees by offering more lucrative compensation packages. Small business competitors in our services businesses may be able to offer
more cost competitive services, due to their lower overhead costs, and take advantage of small business incentive and set‑aside programs for which we are ineligible. In the event that the
market for small UAS and services expands, we expect that competition will intensify as additional competitors enter the market and current competitors expand their product lines. In order
to secure contracts successfully when competing with larger, well‑financed companies, we may be forced to agree to contractual terms that provide for lower aggregate payments to us over
the life of the contract, which could adversely affect our margins. In addition, larger diversified competitors serving as prime contractors may be able to supply underlying products and
services from affiliated entities, which would prevent us from competing for subcontracting opportunities on these contracts. Our failure to compete effectively
21

Table of Contents

with respect to any of these or other factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results.
If the UAS, tactical missile systems, and commercial UAS markets do not experience significant growth, if we cannot expand our customer base or if our products do not achieve broad
acceptance, then we may not be able to achieve our anticipated level of growth.
We cannot accurately predict the future growth rates or sizes of the markets for our products. Demand for our products may not increase, or may decrease, either generally or in
specific markets, for particular types of products or during particular time periods. We believe the market for commercial UAS is nascent. Moreover, there are only a limited number of
major programs under which the U.S. military, our primary customer, is currently funding the development or purchase of our UAS and tactical missile systems. Although we have
expanded our UAS customer base to include foreign governments, and domestic non‑military agencies, we cannot assure you that our continued efforts to further increase our sales to these
customers will be successful. The expansion of the UAS, tactical missile systems, and commercial UAS markets in general, and the market for our products in particular, depends on a
number of factors, including the following:
·

customer satisfaction with these types of systems as solutions;

·

the cost, performance and reliability of our products and products offered by our competitors;

·

customer perceptions regarding the effectiveness and value of these types of systems;

·

limitations on our ability to market our UAS and tactical missile systems products and services outside the United States due to U.S. government regulations;

·

obtaining timely regulatory approvals, including, with respect to our small UAS business, access to airspace and wireless spectrum; and

·

marketing efforts and publicity regarding these types of systems.

Even if UAS, tactical missile systems, and commercial UAS gain wide market acceptance, our products may not adequately address market requirements and may not continue to
gain market acceptance. If these types of systems generally, or our products specifically, do not gain wide market acceptance, then we may not be able to achieve our anticipated level of
growth and our revenue and results of operations would decline.
Our international business poses potentially greater risks than our domestic business.
We derived approximately 46% of our revenue from international sales, including U.S. government foreign military sales in which an end user is a foreign government, during the
fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 compared to 37% for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. We expect to continue to derive an increasing portion of our revenue from international sales.
Our international revenue and operations are subject to a number of material risks, including the following:
·

the unavailability of, or difficulties in obtaining any, necessary U.S. governmental authorizations for the export of our products to certain foreign jurisdictions;

·

regulatory requirements that may adversely affect our ability to operate in foreign jurisdictions, sell certain products or repatriate profits to the United States;

·

the complexity and necessity of using foreign representatives and consultants;
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·

the complexities of operating a business in an international location through a subsidiary or joint venture structure that may include foreign business partners, subcontractors
and suppliers;

·

the complexity of shipping our products internationally through multiple jurisdictions with varying legal requirements;

·

difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems and other relevant legal issues, including fewer legal protections for intellectual
property;

·

potential fluctuations in foreign economies and in the value of foreign currencies and interest rates;

·

potential preferences by prospective customers to purchase from local (non‑U.S.) sources;

·

general economic and political conditions in the markets in which we operate;

·

laws or regulations relating to non‑U.S. military contracts that favor purchases from non‑U.S. manufacturers over U.S. manufacturers;

·

the imposition of tariffs, embargoes, export controls and other trade restrictions; and

·

different and changing legal and regulatory requirements, including those pertaining to anti-corruption, anti-boycott, data protection and privacy, employment law, intellectual
property and contracts in the jurisdictions in which we currently operate or may operate in the future.

Negative developments in any of these areas in one or more countries could result in a reduction in demand for our products, the cancellation or delay of orders already placed,
threats to our intellectual property, difficulty in collecting receivables and a higher cost of doing business, any of which could negatively impact our business, financial condition or results
of operations. While we have adopted policies and procedures to facilitate compliance with laws and regulations applicable to our international sales, our failure, or the failure by our
employees or others working on our behalf, to comply with such laws and regulations may result in administrative, civil or criminal liabilities, including suspension or debarment from
government contracts or suspension of our export privileges. Moreover, our sales, including sales to customers outside the United States, substantially all are denominated in U.S. dollars,
and downward fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar may make our products more expensive than other products, which could harm our business.
We could be prohibited from shipping our products to certain countries if we are unable to obtain U.S. government authorization regarding the export of our products, or if current or
future export laws limit or otherwise restrict our business. In addition, failure to comply with export laws could result in fines, export restrictions and other sanctions and penalties.
We must comply with U.S. and other laws regulating the export of our products. In some cases, explicit authorization from the relevant U.S. government authorities is needed to
export our products. The export regulations and the governing policies applicable to our business are subject to change. We cannot provide assurance that such export authorizations will be
available for our products in the future. Compliance with these laws has not significantly limited our operations or our sales in the recent past, but could significantly limit them in the
future. We maintain an export compliance program but there are risks that our compliance controls may be ineffective. We have voluntarily disclosed export violations to the U.S.
Department of State, a number of which are currently under review by the department. The State Department has imposed significant fines, penalties and sanctions, including suspension of
export privileges, on companies that have violated the export laws. If the State Department determines that the conduct in our voluntary disclosures warrants the imposition of significant
fines, penalties or sanctions, it could have a material adverse impact on our business, operations and financial condition and limit or prevent us from being able to sell our products in certain
international jurisdictions.
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If we are unable to manage the increasing complexity of our business or achieve or manage our expected growth, our business could be adversely affected.
The complexity of our business has increased significantly over the last several years. We have expanded the number of business areas being pursued, shifting from primarily a
U.S. government focused business to a business that includes substantial international product sales and added commercial services and formed a joint venture with SoftBank Corp. to
develop HAPS UAS. This increased complexity and our expected growth has placed, and will continue to place, a strain on our management and our administrative, operational and
financial infrastructure. We anticipate further growth of headcount and facilities will be required to address expansion in our product offerings and the geographic scope of our customer
base. However, if we are unsuccessful in our efforts, our business could decline. Our success will depend in part upon the ability of our senior management to manage our increased
complexity and expected growth effectively. To do so, we must continue to hire, train, manage and integrate a significant number of qualified managers and engineers. If our new employees
perform poorly, or if we are unsuccessful in hiring, training, managing and integrating these new employees, or retaining these or our existing employees, then our business may experience
declines.
To support our expected growth, we must continue to improve our operational, financial and management information systems. If we are unable to manage our growth while
maintaining our quality of service, or if new systems that we implement to assist in managing our growth do not produce the expected benefits, then our business, prospects, financial
condition or operating results could be adversely affected.
Any efforts to expand our offerings beyond our current markets may not succeed, which could negatively impact our operating results.
Until recently, we have focused on selling our small UAS to the U.S. military. We have, however, expanded our small UAS sales into other government and commercial markets
and formed a joint venture with SoftBank Corp. to develop HAPS UAS for global communication and remote sensing applications. Our efforts to expand our product offerings beyond our
traditional markets may divert management resources from existing operations and require us to commit significant financial resources to unproven businesses that may not generate
additional sales, either of which could significantly impair our operating results.
The markets in which we compete are characterized by rapid technological change, which requires us to develop new products and product enhancements, and could render our
existing products obsolete.
Continuing technological changes in the market for our products could make our products less competitive or obsolete, either generally or for particular applications. Our future
success will depend upon our ability to develop and introduce a variety of new capabilities and enhancements to our existing product offerings, as well as introduce a variety of new product
offerings, to address the changing needs of the markets in which we offer our products. Delays in introducing new products and enhancements, the failure to choose correctly among
technical alternatives or the failure to offer innovative products or enhancements at competitive prices may cause existing and potential customers to purchase our competitors’ products.
If we are unable to devote adequate resources to develop new products or cannot otherwise successfully develop new products or enhancements that meet customer requirements
on a timely basis, our products could lose market share, our revenue and profits could decline, and we could experience operating losses.
We expect to incur substantial research and development costs and devote significant resources to identifying and commercializing new products and services, which could significantly
reduce our profitability and may never result in revenue to us.
Our future growth depends on penetrating new markets, adapting existing products to new applications, and introducing new products and services that achieve market acceptance.
We plan to incur substantial research and development costs as part of our efforts to design, develop and commercialize new products and services and enhance existing products. We spent
$26.4 million, or 10% of our revenue, in our fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 on research and development activities. We believe that there are significant investment opportunities in a
number of business areas.
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Because we account for research and development as an operating expense, these expenditures will adversely affect our earnings in the future. Further, our research and development
programs may not produce successful results, and our new products and services may not achieve market acceptance, create additional revenue or become profitable, which could materially
harm our business, prospects, financial results and liquidity.
Failure to obtain necessary regulatory approvals from the FAA or other governmental agencies, or limitations put on the use of small UAS in response to public privacy concerns, may
prevent us from expanding the sales of our small UAS to non‑military customers in the United States.
The regulation of small UAS for commercial use in the United States is undergoing substantial change and the ultimate treatment is uncertain. In 2006, the FAA issued a
clarification of its existing policies stating that, in order to engage in commercial use of small UAS in the U.S. National Airspace System, a public operator must obtain a COA from the
FAA, or fly in restricted airspace. The FAA’s COA approval process requires that the public operator certify the airworthiness of the aircraft for its intended purpose, that a collision with
another aircraft or other airspace user is extremely improbable, that the small unmanned aircraft system complies with appropriate cloud and terrain clearances and that the operator or
spotter of the small unmanned aircraft system is generally within one half‑mile laterally and 400 feet vertically of the small unmanned aircraft system while in operation. Furthermore, the
FAA’s clarification of existing policy stated that the rules for radio‑controlled hobby aircraft do not apply to public or commercial use of small UAS.
On February 14, 2012, the FAA Modernization and Reform Act of 2012 was enacted, establishing various deadlines for the FAA to allow expanded use of small UAS for both
public and commercial applications. On June 21, 2016, the FAA released its final rules regarding the routine use of certain small UAS (under 55 pounds) in the U.S. National Airspace
System pursuant to the act. The rules, which became effective in August 2016, provided safety regulations for small UAS conducting non‑recreational operations and contain various
limitations and restrictions for such operations, including a requirement that operators keep UAS within visual-line-of-sight and prohibiting flights over unprotected people on the ground
who are not directly participating in the operation of the UAS. We cannot assure you that these new rules will result in the expanded use of our small UAS by law enforcement or other
non‑military government agencies or commercial entities and we may not be able to expand our sales of small UAS beyond our military customers, which could harm our business
prospects.
In addition, there exists public concern regarding the privacy implications of U.S. commercial and law enforcement use of small UAS. This concern has included calls to develop
explicit written policies and procedures establishing usage limitations. We cannot assure you that the response from regulatory agencies, customers and privacy advocates to these concerns
will not delay or restrict the adoption of small UAS by non‑military customers.
Our products and services are complex and could have unknown defects or errors, which may give rise to claims against us, diminish our brand or divert our resources from other
purposes.
Our UAS rely on complex avionics, sensors, user‑friendly interfaces and tightly‑integrated, electromechanical designs to accomplish their missions. Despite testing, our products
have contained defects and errors and may in the future contain defects, errors or performance problems when first introduced, when new versions or enhancements are released, or even
after these products have been used by our customers for a period of time. These problems could result in expensive and time‑consuming design modifications or warranty charges, delays
in the introduction of new products or enhancements, significant increases in our service and maintenance costs, exposure to liability for damages, damaged customer relationships and
harm to our reputation, any of which could materially harm our results of operations and ability to achieve market acceptance. In addition, increased development and warranty costs could
be substantial and could reduce our operating margins.
The existence of any defects, errors, or failures in our products or the misuse of our products could also lead to product liability claims or lawsuits against us. A defect, error or
failure in one of our UAS could result in injury, death or property damage and significantly damage our reputation and support for our UAS in general. We anticipate this risk will grow as
our UAS begin to be used in U.S. domestic airspace and urban areas. We also remain liable for warranty and product liability claims for our EV charging systems and power cycling and test
systems sold prior the closing of the transaction contemplated by the Purchase Agreement, which products have the potential to cause injury, death or
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property damage in the event that they are misused, malfunction or fail to operate properly due to unknown defects or errors.
Although we maintain insurance policies, we cannot provide assurance that this insurance will be adequate to protect us from all material judgments and expenses related to
potential future claims or that these levels of insurance will be available in the future at economical prices or at all. A successful product liability claim could result in substantial cost to us.
Even if we are fully insured as it relates to a claim, the claim could nevertheless diminish our brand and divert management’s attention and resources, which could have a negative impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If critical components or raw materials used to manufacture our products become scarce or unavailable, then we may incur delays in manufacturing and delivery of our products,
which could damage our business.
We obtain hardware components, various subsystems and systems from a limited group of suppliers. We do not have long‑term agreements with any of these suppliers that obligate
them to continue to sell components, subsystems, systems or products to us. Our reliance on these suppliers involves significant risks and uncertainties, including whether our suppliers will
provide an adequate supply of required components, subsystems, or systems of sufficient quality, will increase prices for the components, subsystems or systems and will perform their
obligations on a timely basis.
In addition, certain raw materials and components used in the manufacture of our products are periodically subject to supply shortages, and our business is subject to the risk of
price increases and periodic delays in delivery. Particularly, the market for electronic components is experiencing increased demand, creating substantial uncertainty regarding our suppliers’
continued production of key components for our products. If we are unable to obtain components from third party suppliers in the quantities and of the quality that we require, on a timely
basis and at acceptable prices, then we may not be able to deliver our products on a timely or cost effective basis to our customers, which could cause customers to terminate their contracts
with us, increase our costs and seriously harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, if any of our suppliers become financially unstable, or otherwise unable
or unwilling to provide us with raw materials or components, then we may have to find new suppliers. It may take several months to locate alternative suppliers, if required, or to redesign
our products to accommodate components from different suppliers. We may experience significant delays in manufacturing and shipping our products to customers and incur additional
development, manufacturing and other costs to establish alternative sources of supply if we lose any of these sources or are required to redesign our products. We cannot predict if we will
be able to obtain replacement components within the time frames that we require at an affordable cost, if at all.
Our earnings and profit margins may decrease based on the mix of our contracts and programs and other factors related to our contracts.
In general, we perform our production work under fixed‑price contracts and our repair and customer‑funded research and development work under cost‑plus‑fee contracts. Under
fixed‑price contracts, we perform services under a contract at a stipulated price. Under cost‑plus‑fee contracts, which are subject to a contract ceiling amount, we are reimbursed for
allowable costs and paid a fee, which may be fixed or performance based. We typically experience lower profit margins under cost‑plus‑fee contracts than under fixed‑price contracts,
though fixed‑price contracts involve higher risks. In general, if the volume of services we perform under cost‑plus‑fee contracts increases relative to the volume of services we perform
under fixed‑price contracts, we expect that our operating margin will decline. In addition, our earnings and margins may decrease depending on the costs we incur in contract performance,
our achievement of other contract performance objectives and the stage of our performance at which our right to receive fees, particularly under incentive and award fee contracts, is finally
determined.
We use estimates in accounting for many of our programs and changes in our estimates could adversely affect our future financial results.
Contract accounting requires judgments relative to assessing risks, including risks associated with estimating contract revenues and costs, assumptions for schedule and technical
issues, customer‑directed delays and reductions in scheduled deliveries, and unfavorable resolutions of claims and contractual matters. Due to the size and nature of many
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of our contracts, the estimation of total revenues and cost at completion is complicated and subject to many variables. For example, we must make assumptions regarding the length of time
to complete the contract because costs also include expected increases in wages and prices for materials; consider whether the intent of entering into multiple contracts was effectively to
enter into a single project in order to determine whether such contracts should be combined or segmented; consider incentives or penalties related to performance on contracts in estimating
sales and profit rates, and record them when there is sufficient information for us to assess anticipated performance; and use estimates of award fees in estimating sales and profit rates based
on actual and anticipated awards. Because of the significance of the judgments and estimation processes described above, it is likely that materially different amounts could be recorded if
we used different assumptions or if the underlying circumstances were to change. Changes in underlying assumptions, circumstances or estimates may adversely affect our future results of
operations and financial condition.
Cost overruns on our contracts could subject us to losses, decrease our operating margins and adversely affect our future business.
Fixed‑price contracts (including both government and commercial contracts) represented approximately 80% of our revenue for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. If we fail to
anticipate technical problems, estimate costs accurately or control costs during our performance of fixed‑price contracts, then we may incur losses on these contracts because we absorb any
costs in excess of the fixed price. Under cost‑plus‑fee contracts, if costs exceed the contract ceiling or are not allowable under the provisions of the contract or applicable regulations, then
we may not be able to obtain reimbursement for all such costs. Under time and materials contracts, we are paid for labor at negotiated hourly billing rates and for certain expenses. Because
many of our contracts involve advanced designs and innovative technologies, we may experience unforeseen technological difficulties and cost overruns. Under each type of contract, if we
are unable to control the costs we incur in performing under the contract, then our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. Cost overruns also
may adversely affect our ability to sustain existing programs and obtain future contract awards.
Our senior management and key employees are important to our customer relationships and overall business.
We believe that our success depends in part on the continued contributions of our senior management and key employees. We rely on our executive officers, senior management
and key employees to generate business and execute programs successfully. In addition, the relationships and reputation that members of our management team and key employees have
established and maintain with government defense personnel contribute to our ability to maintain good customer relations and to identify new business opportunities. We do not have
employment agreements with any of our executive officers or key employees, and these individuals could terminate their employment with us at any time. The loss of any of our executive
officers, members of our senior management team or key employees could significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives and could materially harm our business
and customer relationships and impair our ability to identify and secure new contracts and otherwise manage our business.
We must recruit and retain highly‑skilled employees to succeed in our competitive business.
We depend on our ability to recruit and retain employees who have advanced engineering and technical services skills and who work well with our customers. These employees are
in great demand and are likely to remain a limited resource in the foreseeable future. If we are unable to recruit and retain a sufficient number of these employees, then our ability to
maintain our competitiveness and grow our business could be negatively affected. In addition, because of the highly technical nature of our products, the loss of any significant number of
our existing engineering personnel could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. Moreover, some of our U.S. government contracts contain provisions requiring
us to staff a program with certain personnel the customer considers key to our successful performance under the contract. In the event we are unable to provide these key personnel or
acceptable substitutes, the customer may terminate the contract.
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Our business may be dependent upon our employees obtaining and maintaining required security clearances, as well as our ability to obtain security clearances for the facilities in
which we perform sensitive government work.
Certain of our U.S. government contracts require our employees to maintain various levels of security clearances, and we are required to maintain certain facility security
clearances complying with DoD requirements. The DoD has strict security clearance requirements for personnel who work on classified programs. Obtaining and maintaining security
clearances for employees involves a lengthy process, and it is difficult to identify, recruit and retain employees who already hold security clearances. If our employees are unable to obtain
security clearances in a timely manner, or at all, or if our employees who hold security clearances are unable to maintain the clearances or terminate employment with us, then a customer
requiring classified work could terminate the contract or decide not to renew it upon its expiration. In addition, we expect that many of the contracts on which we will bid will require us to
demonstrate our ability to obtain facility security clearances and employ personnel with specified types of security clearances. To the extent we are not able to obtain facility security
clearances or engage employees with the required security clearances for a particular contract, we may not be able to bid on or win new contracts, or effectively rebid on expiring contracts.
Our future profitability may be dependent upon achieving cost reductions and projected economies of scale from increasing manufacturing quantities of our products. Failing to
achieve such reductions in manufacturing costs and projected economies of scale could materially adversely affect our business.
We have limited experience manufacturing small UAS and tactical missile systems in high volume. We do not know whether or when we will be able to develop efficient, low‑cost
manufacturing capabilities and processes that will enable us to manufacture (or contract for the manufacture of) these products in commercial quantities while meeting the volume, speed,
quality, price, engineering, design and production standards required to successfully market our products. Our failure to develop such manufacturing processes and capabilities in locations
that can efficiently service our markets could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Our future profitability is, in part,
dependent upon achieving increased savings from volume purchases of raw materials and component parts, achieving acceptable manufacturing yield and capitalizing on machinery
efficiencies. We expect our suppliers to experience a sharp increase in demand for their products. As a result, we may not have reliable access to supplies that we require or be able to
purchase such materials or components at cost effective prices. There is no assurance that we will ever be in a position to realize any material, labor and machinery cost reductions
associated with higher purchasing power and higher production levels. Failure to achieve these cost reductions could adversely impact our business and financial results.
We face significant risks in overseeing our outsourcing of manufacturing processes as well as in the management of our inventory, and failure to properly oversee our manufacturing
processes or to effectively manage our inventory levels may result in product recalls or supply imbalances that could harm our business.
We have contracted for the manufacture of our Quantix UAS with contract manufacturers. We sell these units directly and through dealers. We face significant risks if our contract
manufacturers do not perform as expected. If we fail to effectively oversee the manufacturing process, including the work performed by our contract manufacturers, we could be negatively
impacted by product recalls, poorly performing products and higher than anticipated warranty costs.
In addition, we also maintain a variety of parts and components in inventory to allow us to customize our UAS products for specific customer requirements, which parts are subject
to obsolescence and expiration. Due to the long‑lead time for obtaining certain UAS product components and the manufacturing cycles, we need to make forecasts of demand and commit
significant resources towards manufacturing our products. As such, we are subject to significant risks in managing the inventory needs of our business during the year, including estimating
the appropriate demand for our products. Should orders and market conditions differ significantly from our estimates, our future results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
In the future, we may be required to record write‑downs of finished products and materials on‑hand and/or additional charges for excess purchase commitments as a result of future changes
in our sales forecasts or customer orders.
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Due to the volatile and flammable nature of certain components of our products and equipment, fires or explosions may disrupt our business or cause significant injuries, which could
adversely affect our financial results.
The development and manufacture of certain of our products involves the handling of a variety of explosive and flammable materials as well as high power equipment. From time
to time, these activities may result in incidents that could cause us to temporarily shut down or otherwise disrupt some manufacturing processes, causing production delays and resulting in
liability for workplace injuries and/or fatalities. We have safety and loss prevention programs that require detailed reviews of process changes and new operations, along with routine safety
audits of operations involving explosive materials, to mitigate such incidents, as well as a variety of insurance policies, however our insurance coverage may be inadequate to cover all
claims and losses related to such incidents. We may experience such incidents in the future, which could result in production delays or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our
business and financial condition.
The operation of UAS in urban environments may be subject to risks, such as accidental collisions and transmission interference, which may limit demand for our UAS in such
environments and harm our business and operating results.
Urban environments may present certain challenges to the operators of UAS. UAS may accidentally collide with other aircraft, persons or property, which could result in injury,
death or property damage and significantly damage the reputation of and support for UAS in general. As the usage of UAS has increased, particularly by military customers, the danger of
such collisions has increased. Furthermore, the incorporation of our DDL technology into our UAS has increased the number of vehicles which can operate simultaneously in a given area
and with this increase has come an increase in the risk of accidental collision. In addition, obstructions to effective transmissions in urban environments, such as large buildings, may limit
the ability of the operator to utilize the aircraft for its intended purpose. The risks or limitations of operating UAS in urban environments may limit their value in such environments, which
may limit demand for our UAS and consequently materially harm our business and operating results.
As a manufacturer of commercial UAS, we are subject to various government regulations and may be subject to additional regulations in the future, violation of which could subject us
to sanctions or otherwise harm our business.
As a manufacturer of consumer products, we are subject to significant government regulations, including, in the United States, those issued under the Consumer Products Safety
Act, as well as those issued under product safety and consumer protection statutes in our international markets. Failure to comply with any applicable product safety or consumer protection
regulation could result in sanctions that could have a negative impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Governments and regulatory agencies in the markets where we manufacture and sell products may enact additional regulations relating to product safety and consumer protection
in the future, and may also increase the penalties for failure to comply with product safety and consumer protection regulations. In addition, one or more of our customers might require
changes in our products, such as the non‑use of certain materials, in the future. Complying with any such additional regulations or requirements could impose increased costs on our
business. Similarly, increased penalties for non‑compliance could subject us to greater expenses in the event any of our products were found to not comply with such regulations. Such
increased costs or penalties could harm our business.
We could be the subject of future product liability suits or product recalls, which could harm our business.
We may be subject to involuntary product recalls or may voluntarily conduct a product recall. The costs associated with any future product recalls could be significant. In addition,
any product recall, regardless of direct costs of the recall, may harm consumer perceptions of our products and have a negative impact on our future revenues and results of operations.
In addition to government regulation, products that have been or may be developed by us may expose us to potential liability from personal injury or property damage claims by
the users of such products. There can be no assurance that a claim will not be brought against us in the future. While we maintain insurance coverage for product
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liability claims, our insurance may be inadequate to cover any such claims. Any successful claim could significantly harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Further, we remain responsible for non-warranty costs of any recall of products we manufactured, sold or services prior to closing of the transaction with Webasto.
Our quarterly operating results may vary widely.
Our quarterly revenue, cash flow and operating results have and may continue to fluctuate significantly in the future due to a number of factors, including the following:
·

fluctuations in revenue derived from government contracts, including cost‑plus‑fee contracts and contracts with a performance‑based fee structure;

·

the size and timing of orders from military and other governmental agencies, including increased purchase requests from government customers for equipment and materials in
connection with the U.S. government’s fiscal year end, which may affect our quarterly operating results;

·

the mix of products that we sell in the period;

·

seasonal fluctuations in customer demand for some of our products or services;

·

unanticipated costs incurred in the introduction of new products;

·

fluctuations in the adoption of our products in new markets;

·

our ability to win additional contracts from existing customers or other contracts from new customers;

·

cancellations, delays or contract amendments by our U.S. governmental agency and foreign government customers;

·

changes in policy or budgetary measures that adversely affect our U.S. governmental agency and foreign government customers;

·

the cost of complying with various regulatory requirements applicable to our business and the potential penalties or sanctions that could be imposed for non‑compliance; and

·

our ability to obtain the necessary export licenses for sales of our products and services to international customers.

Changes in the volume of products and services provided under existing contracts and the number of contracts commenced, completed or terminated during any quarter may cause
significant variations in our cash flow from operations because a relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed. We incur significant operating expenses during the start‑up and early
stages of large contracts and typically do not receive corresponding payments in that same quarter. We may also incur significant or unanticipated expenses when contracts expire or are
terminated or are not renewed. In addition, payments due to us from government agencies may be delayed due to billing cycles or as a result of failures of governmental budgets to gain
congressional and presidential approval in a timely manner.
Shortfalls in available external research and development funding could adversely affect us.
We depend on our research and development activities to develop the core technologies used in our UAS products and for the development of our future products. A portion of our
research and development activities depends on funding by commercial companies and the U.S. government. U.S. government and commercial spending levels can be impacted by a
number of variables, including general economic conditions, specific companies’ financial performance and competition for U.S. government funding with other U.S.
government‑sponsored programs in the
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budget formulation and appropriation processes. To the extent that these external sources of funding are reduced or eliminated, company funding for research and development could be
reduced. Any reductions in available research and development funding could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
Our work for the U.S. government and international governments may expose us to security risks.
As a U.S. government contractor, we face various security threats, including cyber security attacks on our information technology infrastructure, attempts to gain access to our
proprietary, financial, banking or classified information as well as threats to the physical security of our facilities and employees. Although we utilize various procedures and controls to
monitor and mitigate these threats, there can be no assurance that these procedures and controls will be sufficient to prevent disruptions, the unauthorized release of confidential technical,
financial or banking information or corruption of data. Accordingly, any significant operational delays, or any destruction, manipulation or improper use of our data, information systems or
networks could adversely affect our financial results and damage the reputation for our products and services. Previous cyber-attacks directed at us have not materially impacted our
business or financial results, but the impact of future incidents cannot be predicted due to the evolving nature and complexity of cyber-attacks. If we or our partners are subject to data
security breaches, we may have a loss in sales or increased costs arising from the restoration or implementation of additional security measures, either of which could materially and
adversely affect our business and financial results. Additionally, expenses resulting from cyber security attacks and other security risks may not be fully insured or otherwise mitigated,
which could harm our financial results.
In addition, we work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our employees and contractors or substantial costs. Some of our
services are performed in or adjacent to high‑risk locations, such as Iraq and Afghanistan, where the country or location is experiencing political, social or economic issues, or war or civil
unrest. In those locations where we have employees or operations, we may incur substantial costs to maintain the safety of our personnel. Despite these precautions, the safety of our
personnel in these locations may continue to be at risk, and we may in the future be negatively impacted by the loss of employees and contractors, which could harm our business and
operating results.
We may not be able to obtain capital when desired on favorable terms, if at all, or without dilution to our stockholders.
We operate in emerging and rapidly evolving markets, which makes our prospects difficult to evaluate. It is possible that we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations
or otherwise have the capital resources to meet our future capital needs. If this occurs, then we may need additional financing to pursue our business strategies, including to:
·

hire additional engineers and other personnel;

·

develop new or enhance existing products;

·

enhance our operating infrastructure;

·

fund working capital requirements;

·

acquire complementary businesses or technologies; or

·

otherwise respond to competitive pressures.

If we raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, the percentage ownership of our stockholders could be significantly diluted, and these
newly‑issued securities may have rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of existing stockholders. We cannot assure you that additional financing will be available on terms
favorable to us, or at all. Our former line of credit contained, and future debt financing may contain, covenants or other provisions that limit our operational or financial flexibility. In
addition, certain of our customers require that we obtain letters of credit to support our obligations under some of our contracts.
31

Table of Contents

Our investment portfolio includes investments in auction rate securities. Failures in the auctions for these securities affect our liquidity, coupled with deterioration in credit ratings of
issuers of such securities and/or third parties insuring such investments may require us to adjust the carrying value of our investment through an impairment of earnings.
As of April 30, 2018, our $2.1 million of long‑term investments recorded at fair value consisted entirely of auction rate municipal bonds with maturities that range from
approximately 1 to 16 years. These investments have characteristics similar to short‑term investments, because at pre‑determined intervals, generally ranging from 30 to 35 days, there is a
new auction process at which the interest rates for these securities are reset to current interest rates. At the end of such period, we choose to roll‑over our holdings or redeem the investments
for cash. A market maker facilitates the redemption of the securities and the underlying issuers are not required to redeem the investment within 365 days.
Since fiscal 2008, we have experienced failed auctions of our auction rate securities and there is no assurance that auctions on the remaining auction rate securities in our
investment portfolio will succeed in the future. As a result, our ability to liquidate our investments in the near term may be limited, and our ability to recover the carrying value of our
investments may be limited. An auction failure means that the parties wishing to sell securities were not able to do so. As of June 15, 2018, including the securities involved in failed
auctions, we held approximately $1.9 million of these auction rate securities, all of which carry investment grade ratings. These investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market
and interest rate risks, which may be exacerbated by problems in the global credit markets. These and other related factors have affected various sectors of the financial markets and caused
credit and liquidity issues. If the issuers of these securities are unable to successfully close future auctions or their credit ratings deteriorate, we may in the future be required to record an
impairment charge on these investments. We currently believe these securities are not permanently impaired, primarily due to the government backing of the underlying securities. However,
it could take until the final maturity of the underlying notes (up to 16 years) to realize our remaining investments’ purchase price of $2.0 million. Based on our ability to access our cash and
cash equivalents, expected operating cash flows, and our other sources of cash, we do not anticipate that the current lack of liquidity on these investments will affect our ability to continue
to operate our business in the ordinary course, however we can provide no assurance as to when these investments will again become liquid or as to whether we may ultimately have to
recognize an impairment charge with respect to these investments.
Our cash may be subject to a risk of loss and we may be exposed to fluctuations in the market values of our portfolio investments and in interest rates.
Our assets include a significant amount of cash and investments. We adhere to an investment policy set by our Board of Directors which aims to preserve our financial assets,
maintain adequate liquidity and maximize returns. We believe that our cash is held in institutions whose credit risk is minimal and that the value and liquidity of our deposits are accurately
reflected in our consolidated financial statements as of April 30, 2018. We currently invest the majority of our cash in U.S. government securities, U.S. government agency securities,
municipal bonds and high-grade corporate bonds, the performance of which are subject to additional market risks related to their respective issuers. Nearly all of our cash and bank deposits
are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the FDIC. Therefore, our cash and any bank deposits that we now hold or may acquire in the future may be subject to risks,
including the risk of loss or of reduced value or liquidity. In the future, should we determine that there is a decline in value of any of our portfolio securities which is not temporary in
nature, this would result in a loss being recognized in our consolidated statements of operations.
Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and stock price.
Global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme disruptions in recent years, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer
confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. There can be no assurance that renewed deterioration in credit and
financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Our general business strategy may be
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adversely affected by any economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets deteriorate,
or do not improve, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on
favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to delay or abandon implementing business
initiatives. These events and the continuing market upheavals could adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including:
Potential Deferment of Purchases and Orders by Customers: Uncertainty about current and future global economic conditions may cause governments, including the U.S.
government, which is our largest customer, consumers and businesses to modify, defer or cancel purchases in response to tighter credit, decreased cash availability and declining consumer
confidence. Accordingly, future demand for our products could differ materially from our current expectations. Additionally, if customers are not successful in generating sufficient revenue
or are precluded from securing financing, they may not be able to pay, or may delay payment of, accounts receivable that are owed to us. Any inability of current and/or potential customers
to pay us for our products may adversely affect our earnings and cash flow.
Negative Impact from Increased Financial Pressures on Key Suppliers: Our ability to meet customers’ demands depends, in part, on our ability to obtain timely and adequate
delivery of quality materials, parts and components from our suppliers. Certain of our hardware components and various subsystems are available only from a limited group of suppliers. If
certain key suppliers were to become capacity constrained or insolvent as a result of a market downturn, then we may have to find new suppliers. We may experience significant delays in
manufacturing and shipping our products to customers and incur additional development, manufacturing and other costs to establish alternative sources of supply if we lose any of these
sources or are required to redesign our products. We cannot predict if we will be able to obtain replacement components within the time frames that we require at an affordable cost, if at all.
In addition, credit constraints of key suppliers could result in accelerated payment of accounts payable by us, impacting our cash flow.
Customers’ Inability to Obtain Financing to Make Purchases from Us and/or Maintain Their Business: Some of our customers may require substantial financing in order to fund
their operations and make purchases from us. The inability of these customers to obtain sufficient credit to finance purchases of our products, or otherwise meet their payment obligations to
us could adversely impact our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if a market downturn results in insolvencies for our customers, it could adversely impact our
financial condition and results of operations.
Potential future acquisitions could be difficult to integrate, divert the attention of key personnel, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and impair our financial results.
We intend to consider strategic acquisitions that would add to our customer base, technological capabilities or system offerings. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, any of which
could harm our business, including the following:
·

difficulties in integrating the operations, technologies, products, existing contracts, accounting and personnel of the target company and realizing the anticipated synergies of
the combined businesses;

·

difficulties in supporting and transitioning customers, if any, of the target company;

·

diversion of financial and management resources from existing operations;

·

the price we pay or other resources that we devote may exceed the value we realize, or the value we could have realized if we had allocated the purchase price or other
resources to another opportunity;

·

risks of entering new markets in which we have limited or no experience;

·

potential loss of key employees, customers and strategic alliances from either our current business or the target company’s business;
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·

assumption of unanticipated problems or latent liabilities, such as problems with the quality of the target company’s products or its regulatory compliance; and

·

inability to generate sufficient revenue to offset acquisition costs.

Acquisitions also frequently result in the recording of goodwill and other intangible assets which are subject to potential impairments in the future that could harm our financial
results. In addition, if we finance acquisitions by issuing equity, or securities convertible into equity, then our existing stockholders may be diluted, which could lower the market price of
our common stock. If we finance acquisitions through debt, then such future debt financing may contain covenants or other provisions that limit our operational or financial flexibility.
If we fail to properly evaluate acquisitions or investments, then we may not achieve the anticipated benefits of any such acquisitions, and we may incur costs in excess of what we
anticipate. The failure to successfully evaluate and execute acquisitions or investments or otherwise adequately address these risks could materially harm our business and financial results.
Environmental laws and regulations and unforeseen costs could impact our future earnings.
The manufacture and sale of our products in certain states and countries may subject us to environmental and other regulations. For example, we obtain a significant number of our
electronics components from companies located in East Asia, where environmental rules may be less stringent than in the United States. Over time, the countries where these companies are
located may adopt more stringent environmental regulations, resulting in an increase in our manufacturing costs. Given the increasing focus on environmental compliance by regulators and
the general public, any incidence of non‑compliance could result in damage to our reputation beyond the fines and other sanctions that could be imposed. Furthermore, certain
environmental laws, including the U.S. Comprehensive, Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, impose strict, joint and several liability on current and previous
owners or operators of real property for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous substances and impose liability for damages to natural resources. These laws often impose liability
even if the owner or operator did not know of, or was not responsible for, the release of such hazardous substances. These environmental laws also assess liability on persons who arrange
for hazardous substances to be sent to disposal or treatment facilities when such facilities are later found to be contaminated. Such persons can be responsible for cleanup costs even if they
never owned or operated the contaminated facility. Although we have never been named a responsible party at a contaminated site, we could be named a potentially responsible party in the
future. We cannot assure you that such existing laws or future laws will not have a material adverse effect on our future earnings or results of operations.
Our business is subject to federal, state and international laws regarding data protection and privacy, as well as confidentiality obligations under various agreements, and a privacy
breach could damage our reputation, expose us to litigation risk and adversely affect our business.
In connection with our business, we receive, collect, process and retain certain sensitive and confidential customer information. As a result, we are subject to increasingly rigorous
federal, state and international laws regarding privacy and data protection. We also execute confidentiality agreements with various parties under which we are required to protect their
confidential information. Compliance with these agreements and constantly evolving laws may cause us to incur significant costs or require changes to our business practices, which could
reduce our revenue. If we fail to comply with these privacy and data protection laws, proceedings may be brought against us by governmental entities or others or penalties may be imposed
on us, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we could be subject to damages if we breach the
confidentiality obligations in our agreements. While we rely, in part, on security services and software provided by outside vendors to protect sensitive and confidential customer
information, there is no guarantee that the protections that we, or our outside vendors have implemented will prevent security breaches. In addition, we have access to certain of our
customers’ proprietary systems that contain sensitive information and are liable to such customers for damages caused by or employees’ and agents’ misuse of or access to such systems,
including damages resulting from security breaches to such customers’ systems caused by us. Any actual, threatened or perceived security breach that could result
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in misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential customer information could harm our reputation and relationship with customers and potential
customers, expose us to litigation risk and liability and adversely affect our business.
Compliance with the SEC’s conflict minerals regulations may increase our costs and adversely impact the supply‑chain for our UAS products.
In August 2012, the SEC adopted disclosure rules regarding a company’s use of conflict minerals in its products with substantial supply chain verification requirements in the event
that the conflict minerals come from, or could have come from, the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries. These rules and verification requirements will impose
additional costs on us and on our suppliers, including costs related to determining the source of conflict minerals used in our products, which will adversely affect our results of operations.
We are dependent on information supplied by our first tier suppliers in conducting due diligence into the origins of conflict minerals in our products and in complying with our SEC
reporting obligations. To the extent that information we receive from our suppliers is inaccurate or inadequate, we may not be able to determine whether our products are conflict
mineral‑free. We may face challenges in satisfying our customers who may require that our products be certified as conflict mineral‑free, which could place us at a competitive disadvantage
and could harm our business. These regulations could also have the effect of limiting the pool of suppliers from which we source items containing conflict minerals, and we may be unable
to obtain conflict‑free minerals at competitive prices, if at all, which could increase our costs and adversely affect our results of operations.
Our business and operations are subject to the risks of earthquakes and other natural catastrophic events.
Our corporate headquarters, research and development and manufacturing operations are located in Southern California, a region known for seismic activity and wild fires. A
significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or other catastrophic event, could severely affect our ability to conduct normal business operations, and as a result, our future
operating results could be materially and adversely affected.
We self-insure a portion of our health insurance program which may expose us to unexpected costs and negatively affect our results of operations.
We are self-insured for employee medical claims, subject to individual and aggregate stop loss insurance policies. We estimate a liability for claims filed and incurred but not
reported based upon recent claims experience and an analysis of the average period of time between the occurrence of a claim and the time it is reported to and paid by us. However,
unanticipated changes in assumptions and management estimates underlying our recorded liabilities for medical claims could result in materially different amounts of expense than expected
under our health insurance program, which could have an adverse material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Our U.S. Government Contracts
We are subject to extensive government regulation, and our failure to comply with applicable regulations could subject us to penalties that may restrict our ability to conduct our
business.
As a contractor to the U.S. government, we are subject to and must comply with various government regulations that impact our revenue, operating costs, profit margins and the
internal organization and operation of our business. The most significant regulations and regulatory authorities affecting our business include the following:
·

the Federal Acquisition Regulations and supplemental agency regulations, which comprehensively regulate the formation and administration of, and performance under, U.S.
government contracts;

·

the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires certification and disclosure of all factual cost and pricing data in connection with contract negotiations;
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·

the False Claims Act and the False Statements Act, which impose penalties for payments made on the basis of false facts provided to the government and on the basis of false
statements made to the government, respectively;

·

the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, which prohibits U.S. companies from providing anything of value to a foreign official to help obtain, retain or direct business, or obtain any
unfair advantage;

·

the National Telecommunications and Information Administration and the Federal Communications Commission, which regulate the wireless spectrum allocations upon which
UAS depend for operation and data transmission in the United States;

·

the Federal Aviation Administration, which regulates the use of airspace for all aircraft, including UAS operation in the United States;

·

the International Traffic in Arms Regulations, which regulate the export of controlled technical data, defense articles and defense services and restrict from which countries we
may purchase materials and services used in the production of certain of our products; and

·

laws, regulations and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of information classified for national security purposes or determined to be “controlled unclassified
information” and the exportation of certain products and technical data.

Also, we need special security clearances and regulatory approvals to continue working on certain of our projects with the U.S. government. Classified programs generally will
require that we comply with various executive orders, federal laws and regulations and customer security requirements that may include restrictions on how we develop, store, protect and
share information, and may require our employees and facilities to obtain government security clearances. Our failure to comply with applicable regulations, rules and approvals or
misconduct by any of our employees could result in the imposition of fines and penalties, the loss of security clearances, the loss of our government contracts or our suspension or
debarment from contracting with the U.S. government generally, any of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are also subject to certain
regulations of comparable government agencies in other countries, and our failure to comply with these non‑U.S. regulations could also harm our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
Our business could be adversely affected by a negative audit or investigation by the U.S. government.
U.S. government agencies, primarily the DCAA and the DCMA, routinely audit and investigate government contractors. These agencies review a contractor’s performance under
its contracts, cost structure and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. These agencies also may review the adequacy of, and a contractor’s compliance with, its internal
control systems and policies, including the contractor’s purchasing, quality, accounting, property, estimating, compensation and management information systems.
Like most government contractors, our contracts are audited and reviewed on a continual basis by the DCMA and the DCAA. The indirect costs we incur in performing
government contracts have been audited on an annual basis. The DCMA, disallowed a portion of the our executive compensation and other costs included in our fiscal 2006, 2007 and 2008
incurred cost claims and sought interest for all three years and penalties for fiscal 2006, based on the disallowed costs. We appealed these cost disallowances to the Armed Services Board
of Contract Appeals. For fiscal 2006, as a result of partial settlements and a decision of the Armed Services Board of Contract Appeals in March 2016, the government’s remaining claims
were dismissed with prejudice. All of the government’s claims related to our 2007 and 2008 incurred cost claims were settled as of October 2015 by payment to the government of $50,000
and the government’s claims related to our 2009 incurred cost claims were settled as of October 2015 without the payment of any consideration. The audit of our 2010 incurred cost claim
was settled in April 2016 without payment of any consideration. Our incurred cost claims for fiscal years 2011 through 2014 were accepted as submitted during the fiscal year ended April
30, 2017. No consideration was paid. In addition, non‑audit reviews or investigations by the government may still be conducted on all of our government contracts.
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Any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific cost reimbursement contract will not be reimbursed, while such costs already reimbursed must be refunded. If an audit or
investigation of our business were to uncover improper or illegal activities, then we could be subject to civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions, including termination of
contracts, suspension of payments, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with the U.S. government. We could experience serious harm to our reputation if allegations of
impropriety or illegal acts were made against us, even if the allegations were inaccurate. In addition, responding to governmental audits or investigations may involve significant expense
and divert management attention. If any of the foregoing were to occur, our financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.
Moreover, if any of our administrative processes and business systems are found not to comply with the applicable requirements, we may be subjected to increased government
scrutiny or required to obtain additional governmental approvals that could delay or otherwise adversely affect our ability to compete for or perform contracts. In December 2015, DCMA
concluded that our purchasing system was not approved. In an April 2016 follow-up review the DCMA approved our purchasing system. An unfavorable outcome to such an audit or
investigation by the DCAA, U.S. Department of Justice or DOJ, or other government agency, could materially adversely affect our competitive position, affect our ability to obtain new
government business, and obtain the maximum price for our products and services, and result in a substantial reduction of our revenues.
If we were suspended or debarred from contracting with the federal government generally, or any specific agency, if our reputation or relationship with government agencies were
impaired, or if the government otherwise ceased doing business with us or significantly decreased the amount of business it does with us, our revenue and operating results could be
materially harmed. For example, in February 2010, we were notified by the DOJ that it had initiated a civil investigation into our cost charging practices with respect to government
contracts. We resolved these claims with the DOJ in October 2013. Under the settlement agreement, we reimbursed the government for an amount erroneously charged to the government in
our fiscal 2006 incurred cost claim submittal.
Some of our contracts with the U.S. government allow it to use inventions developed under the contracts and to disclose technical data to third parties, which could harm our ability to
compete.
Some of our contracts allow the U.S. government to use, royalty‑free, or have others use, inventions developed under those contracts on behalf of the government. Some of the
contracts allow the federal government to disclose technical data without constraining the recipient on how those data are used. The ability of third parties to use patents and technical data
for government purposes creates the possibility that the government could attempt to establish alternative suppliers or to negotiate with us to reduce our prices. The potential that the
government may release some of the technical data without constraint creates the possibility that third parties may be able to use this data to compete with us, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
U.S. government contracts are generally not fully funded at inception and contain certain provisions that may be unfavorable to us, which could prevent us from realizing our contract
backlog and materially harm our business and results of operations.
U.S. government contracts typically involve long lead times for design and development, and are subject to significant changes in contract scheduling. Congress generally
appropriates funds on a fiscal year basis even though a program may continue for several years. Consequently, programs are often only partially funded initially, and additional funds are
committed only as Congress makes further appropriations. The termination or reduction of funding for a government program would result in a loss of anticipated future revenue
attributable to that program.
The actual receipt of revenue on awards included in backlog may never occur or may change because a program schedule could change or the program could be canceled, or a
contract could be reduced, modified or terminated early.
In addition, U.S. government contracts generally contain provisions permitting termination, in whole or in part, at the government’s convenience or for contractor default. Since a
substantial majority of our revenue is dependent on the procurement, performance and payment under our U.S. government contracts, the termination of one or more critical
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government contracts could have a negative impact on our results of operations and financial condition. Termination arising out of our default could result in damage to our reputation,
expose us to liability and have a material adverse effect on our ability to re‑compete for future contracts and orders. Moreover, several of our contracts with the U.S. government do not
contain a limitation of liability provision, creating a risk of responsibility for indirect, incidental damages and consequential damages. These provisions could cause substantial liability for
us, especially given the use to which our products may be put.
U.S. government contracts are subject to a competitive bidding process that can consume significant resources without generating any revenue.
U.S. government contracts are frequently awarded only after formal, protracted competitive bidding processes and, in many cases, unsuccessful bidders for U.S. government
contracts are provided the opportunity to protest contract awards through various agency, administrative and judicial channels. We derive significant revenue from U.S. government
contracts that were awarded through a competitive bidding process. Much of the UAS business that we expect to seek in the foreseeable future likely will be awarded through competitive
bidding. Competitive bidding presents a number of risks, including the following:
·

the need to bid on programs in advance of the completion of their design, which may result in unforeseen technological difficulties and cost overruns;

·

the substantial cost and managerial time and effort that must be spent to prepare bids and proposals for contracts that may not be awarded to us;

·

the need to estimate accurately the resources and cost structure that will be required to service any contract we are awarded; and

·

the expense and delay that may arise if our competitors protest or challenge contract awards made to us pursuant to competitive bidding, and the risk that any such protest or
challenge could result in the delay of our contract performance, the distraction of management, the resubmission of bids on modified specifications, or in termination,
reduction or modification of the awarded contract.

We may not be provided the opportunity to bid on contracts that are held by other companies and are scheduled to expire if the government extends the existing contract. If we are
unable to win particular contracts that are awarded through a competitive bidding process, then we may not be able to operate for a number of years in the market for goods and services that
are provided under those contracts. If we are unable to win new contract awards over any extended period consistently, then our business and prospects will be adversely affected.
We are subject to procurement rules and regulations, which increase our performance and compliance costs under our U.S. government contracts.
We must comply with, and are affected by, laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and performance of U.S. government contracts. These laws and
regulations, among other things, require certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing data in connection with contract negotiation, define allowable and unallowable costs and
otherwise govern our right to reimbursement under certain cost‑based U.S. government contracts, and restrict the use and dissemination of classified information and the exportation of
certain products and technical data. These requirements, although customary in U.S. government contracts, increase our performance and compliance costs. These costs might increase in
the future, reducing our margins, which could have a negative effect on our financial condition. Although we believe we have procedures in place to comply with these regulations and
requirements, the regulations and requirements are complex and change frequently. Failure to comply with these regulations and requirements under certain circumstances could lead to
suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracting or subcontracting for a period of time and could have a negative effect on our reputation and ability to receive other U.S.
government contract awards in the future.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
If we fail to protect, or incur significant costs in defending or enforcing our intellectual property and other proprietary rights, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially harmed.
Our success depends, in large part, on our ability to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. We rely primarily on patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets
and unfair competition laws, as well as license agreements and other contractual provisions, to protect our intellectual property and other proprietary rights. However, a significant portion
of our technology is not patented, and we may be unable or may not seek to obtain patent protection for this technology. In addition, the U.S. government has licenses under certain of our
patents and certain other intellectual property that are developed or used in performance of government contracts, and it may use or authorize others to use such patents and intellectual
property for government and other purposes. Moreover, existing U.S. legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights offer only
limited protection, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, and our rights may be challenged by third parties. The laws of countries other than the United States may be even
less protective of our intellectual property rights. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual
property or otherwise gaining access to our technology. Unauthorized third parties may try to copy or reverse engineer our products or portions of our products or otherwise obtain and use
our intellectual property. Moreover, many of our employees have access to our trade secrets and other intellectual property. If one or more of these employees leave our employment to work
for one of our competitors, then they may disseminate this proprietary information, which may as a result damage our competitive position. If we fail to protect our intellectual property and
other proprietary rights, then our business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially harmed. From time to time, we have initiated lawsuits to protect our intellectual
property and other proprietary rights. Pursuing these claims is time consuming and expensive and could adversely impact our results of operations.
In addition, affirmatively defending our intellectual property rights and investigating whether any of our products or services violate the rights of others may entail significant
expense. Our intellectual property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative processes or litigation. If we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our
intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, then the proceedings could result in significant expense to
us and divert the attention and efforts of our management and technical employees, even if we prevail.
We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights, which could be costly, time‑consuming and limit our ability to use certain technologies in the
future.
We may become subject to claims that our technologies infringe upon the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third parties. Defending against, or otherwise
addressing, any such claims, whether they are with or without merit, could be time‑consuming and expensive, and could divert our management’s attention away from the execution of our
business plan. Moreover, any settlement or adverse judgment resulting from these claims could require us to pay substantial amounts or obtain a license to continue to use the disputed
technology, or otherwise restrict or prohibit our use of the technology. We cannot assure you that we would be able to: obtain from the third party asserting the claim a license on
commercially reasonable terms, if at all; develop alternative technology on a timely basis, if at all; or obtain a license to use a suitable alternative technology to permit us to continue
offering, and our customers to continue using, our affected product. An adverse determination also could prevent us from offering our products to others. Infringement claims asserted
against us may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
Risks Relating to Securities Markets and Investment in Our Stock
The price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly.
The market prices for securities of emerging technology companies have historically been highly volatile, and the market has from time to time experienced significant price and
volume fluctuations that are unrelated to the
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operating performance of particular companies. The market price of our common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control,
including the following:
·

U.S. government spending levels, both generally and by our particular customers;

·

the volume of operational activity by the U.S. military;

·

delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices, resulting in potentially reduced earnings during a particular fiscal quarter;

·

announcements of new products or technologies, commercial relationships or other events relating to us or our industry or our competitors;

·

failure of any of our key products to gain market acceptance;

·

variations in our quarterly operating results;

·

perceptions of the prospects for the markets in which we compete;

·

changes in general economic conditions;

·

changes in securities analysts’ estimates of our financial performance;

·

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

·

fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies;

·

news about the markets in which we compete or regarding our competitors;

·

terrorist acts or military action related to international conflicts, wars or otherwise;

·

sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and significant stockholders; and

·

additions or departures of key personnel.

In addition, the equity markets in general, and NASDAQ in particular, have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate
to the operating performance of companies. Further, the market prices of securities of emerging technology companies have been particularly volatile. These broad market and industry
factors may affect the market price of our common stock adversely, regardless of our operating performance. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s
securities, securities class action litigation often has been instituted against that company. This type of litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
management’s attention and resources.
Our management, whose interests may not be aligned with yours, is able to exert significant influence over all matters requiring stockholder approval.
As of June 20, 2018, our directors, executive officers and their affiliates collectively beneficially owned 2,813,865 shares, or approximately 12%, of our total outstanding shares of
common stock. Accordingly, our directors and executive officers as a group may be able to exert significant influence over matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of
directors. The interests of our directors and executive officers may not be fully aligned with yours. Although there is no agreement among our directors and executive officers with respect
to the voting of their shares, this concentration of ownership may delay, defer or even prevent a change in control of our company, and make
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transactions more difficult or impossible without the support of all or some of our directors and executive officers. These transactions might include proxy contests, tender offers, mergers or
other purchases of common stock that could give you the opportunity to realize a premium over the then‑prevailing market price for shares of our common stock.
Delaware law and anti‑takeover provisions in our organizational documents may discourage our acquisition by a third party, which could make it more difficult to acquire us and limit
your ability to sell your shares at a premium.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain certain provisions that reduce the probability of a change of control or acquisition of our company, even if such a transaction
would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions include, but are not limited to:
·

The ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock in one or more series of with such rights, obligations and preferences as the board may determine, without further
vote or action by our stockholders;

·

Advanced notice procedures for stockholders to nominate candidates for election to the board of directors and for stockholders to submit proposals for consideration at a
meeting of stockholders;

·

The absence of cumulative voting rights for our stockholders;

·

The classification of our board of directors, which effectively prevents stockholders from electing a majority of the directors at any one annual meeting of stockholders;

·

The limitation that directors may be removed only for cause by the affirmative vote of the holders of 662/3% of the total voting power of all of our outstanding securities
entitled to vote in the election of directors, voting together as a single class; and

·

Restrictions on the ability of our stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders.

We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which, subject to certain exceptions, prohibits “business combinations” between a publicly‑held Delaware
corporation and an “interested stockholder,” which is generally defined as a stockholder who becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or more of a Delaware corporation’s voting stock for a
three‑year period following the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder. This statute, as well as the provisions in our organizational documents, could have the effect of
delaying, deterring or preventing certain potential acquisitions or a change in control of us.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
All of our facilities are leased. Our corporate headquarters are located in Monrovia, California where we lease approximately 36,000 square feet under an agreement expiring in
June 2024. We have several other leased facilities in California, Alabama and Virginia that are used for administration, research and development, logistics and manufacturing and have a
total of approximately 375,000 square feet. Such leases expire between the end of 2018 and 2025. We believe that our facilities are adequate to meet our needs for the foreseeable future.
Effective March 28, 2018, we entered into a lease agreement to lease approximately 94,280 square feet of space in Moorpark, California to serve as a new facility for the design,
engineering, testing, and manufacturing of unmanned aircraft systems. As of April 30, 2018, the lease term had not commenced and we had no operations at the facility.
As of April 30, 2018 our business had significant operations at the following locations:
·

UAS: Simi Valley, California; and Huntsville, Alabama
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·

EES: Monrovia, California; and Simi Valley, California. In conjunction with the closing of the purchase agreement, we will enter into sub-lease agreements with the purchaser
for all or portions of these EES facilities.

·

Corporate functions: Monrovia, California; and Simi Valley, California

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
On April 18, 2018, a former employee of AeroVironment, Mark Anderson, filed a lawsuit against us and Wahid Nawabi, our President and Chief Executive Officer, in the Superior
Court of the State of California for the County of Los Angeles. Mr. Anderson’s claims include whistle blower retaliation, race discrimination and wrongful termination related to the
termination of his employment with the Company. Mr. Anderson is seeking special damages, general damages, punitive damages, attorneys’ fees and other relief the court deems just and
proper. We believe the complaint contains legal claims that are without merit. We will defend ourselves vigorously once we are served with the complaint.
We are subject to lawsuits, government investigations, audits and other legal proceedings from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. It is not possible to predict the
outcome of any legal proceeding with any certainty. The outcome or costs we incur in connection with a legal proceeding could adversely impact our operating results and financial
position.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure.
Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Common Stock
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for our common stock from May 1, 2016 through April 30, 2018. The following quotations
reflect inter‑dealer prices, without retail mark‑up, mark‑down or commission, and may not represent actual transactions.

High

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

40.10
55.75
58.99
58.06

Fiscal Year Ended April 30,
2018
2017
Low
High

$
$
$
$

28.13
36.71
41.53
41.60

$
$
$
$

32.44
30.08
29.42
29.96

$
$
$
$

Low

26.02
22.16
23.40
25.42

On June 20, 2018, the closing sales price of our common stock as reported on the NASDAQ Global Select Market was $57.90 per share. As of June 20, 2018, there were 94
holders of record of our common stock.
Dividends
To date we have retained all earnings for use in the operation and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future
determination related to dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition,
capital requirements, capital allocation policy, expected return on invested capital, contractual restrictions and such other factors as our board of directors deems relevant.
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Stock Price Performance Graph
The following graph shows a comparison of cumulative returns on our common stock, based on the market price of the common stock, with the cumulative total returns of
companies in the Russell 2000 Index and the SPADE Defense Index.

The following table shows the value of $100 invested on April 30, 2013 in AeroVironment, Inc., the Russell 2000 Index and the SPADE Defense Index.
April 30,
2013

AeroVironment Stock
Russell 2000 Index
SPADE Defense Index

100
100
100

April 30
2014

174
119
136

Performance Graph Table ($)
April 30,
April 30,
2015
2016

132
129
156

149
119
156

April 30
2017

148
148
193

April 30,
2018

282
164
242

The stock price performance shown on the graph above is not necessarily indicative of future price performance. Factual material was obtained from sources believed to be
reliable, but we are not responsible for any errors or omissions contained therein. No portions of this graph shall be deemed incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities
Act, or the Exchange Act through any general statement incorporating by reference in its entirety the report in which this graph appears, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate
this graph or a portion of it by reference. In addition, this graph shall not be deemed filed under either the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
On September 24, 2015, we announced that on September 23, 2015 our Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program (the “Share Repurchase Program”), pursuant to
which we may repurchase up to $25 million of our common stock from time to time, in amounts and at prices we deem appropriate, subject to market conditions and other
considerations. Share repurchases may be executed through open market transactions or negotiated purchases and may
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be made under a Rule 10b5-1 plan. There is no expiration date for the program. The Share Repurchase Program does not obligate us to acquire any particular amount of common stock and
may be suspended at any time by our Board of Directors. We did not repurchase any shares during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018. As of April 30, 2018, approximately $21.2 million
remained authorized for future repurchases under this program.
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements. The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of
results of future operations, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report in order to understand fully factors that may affect the
comparability of the financial data presented below.
2018

Consolidated Income Statement Data:
Revenue
Net income from continuing operations attributable to AeroVironment
Earnings per common share from continuing operations attributable to
AeroVironment:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding (basic):
Weighted average common shares outstanding (diluted):
Balance Sheet Data
Total assets
Capital lease obligations, current portion
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion
Other long-term obligations

2017

Year Ended April 30,
2016
2015
(In thousands, except per share data)

2014

$
$

271,052
22,576

$
$

228,940
16,633

$
$

233,738
15,393

$
$

220,951
11,682

$
$

208,810
25,659

$
$

0.97
0.95
23,471
23,814

$
$

0.72
0.72
23,059
23,308

$
$

0.67
0.67
22,936
23,153

$
$

0.51
0.50
22,869
23,146

$
$

1.14
1.10
22,354
22,719

$
$
$
$

472,911
161
—
2,274

$
$
$
$

432,500
288
161
2,083

$
$
$
$

410,393
390
449
2,339

$
$
$
$

397,467
—
—
1,712

$
$
$
$

384,954
—
—
4,546

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Introduction
The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our “Selected Consolidated Financial Data” and our consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included herein as Item 8. This discussion contains forward‑looking statements. Refer to “Forward‑Looking Statements” on page 2 and “Risk Factors”
beginning on page 19, for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements.
On June 1, 2018, we entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (“the Purchase Agreement”) with Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. (“Webasto”) pursuant to which we agreed to
sell, and Webasto agreed to acquire, substantially all of the assets of our Efficient Energy Systems (the “EES Business”) and to assume certain liabilities related to the EES Business. The
closing of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement is subject to certain closing conditions, including: (i) the accuracy of each party’s representations and warranties
(subject to customary materiality
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qualifiers), (ii) each party’s compliance with its covenants and agreements contained in the Purchase Agreement (subject to customary materiality qualifiers), (iii) the execution by the
parties of certain ancillary agreements and (iv) other customary closing conditions. We anticipate that the transaction will close within our first quarter of fiscal 2019. As of April 30, 2018,
we determined that the EES Business met the criterion for classification as an asset held for sale and represents a strategic shift in in our operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and
the results of operations of the EES Business are reported in this Annual Report as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Overview
We design, develop, produce, support and operate a technologically‑advanced portfolio of products. We supply unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”) and related services to
organizations within the U.S. Department of Defense (“DoD”) and to international allied governments, and tactical missile systems and related services primarily to organizations within the
U.S. Government. We derive the majority of our revenue from these business areas and we believe that the markets for these solutions have significant growth potential. Additionally, we
believe that some of the innovative potential products in our research and development pipeline will emerge as new growth platforms in the future, creating additional market opportunities.
The success we have achieved with our current products and services stems from our investment in research and development and our ability to invent and deliver advanced
solutions, utilizing our proprietary technologies, to help our government, commercial and consumer customers operate more effectively and efficiently. We develop these highly innovative
solutions by working very closely with our key customers and solving their most important challenges related to our areas of expertise. Our core technological capabilities, developed
through more than 45 years of innovation, include lightweight aerostructures, power electronics, electric propulsion systems, efficient electric power generation, conversion, and storage
systems, high‑density energy packaging, miniaturization, DDL, aircraft payloads, controls integration, systems integration and engineering optimization coupled with professional field
service capabilities.
Our UAS business focuses primarily on the design, development, production, marketing, support and operation of innovative UAS and tactical missile systems and the delivery of
UAS-related services that provide situational awareness, remote sensing, multi‑band communications, force protection and other information and mission effects to increase the safety and
effectiveness of our customers’ operations.
Revenue
We generate our revenue primarily from the sale, support and operation of our small UAS and tactical missile systems. Support for our small UAS customers includes training,
spare parts, product repair, product replacement, and the customer‑contracted operation of our small UAS by our personnel. We refer to these support activities, in conjunction with
customer‑funded research and development (“R&D”), as our services operation. We derive most of our small UAS revenue from fixed‑price and cost‑plus‑fee contracts with the U.S.
government.
Cost of Sales
Cost of sales consists of direct costs and allocated indirect costs. Direct costs include labor, materials, travel, subcontracts and other costs directly related to the execution of a
specific contract. Indirect costs include overhead expenses, fringe benefits and other costs that are not directly charged to a specific contract.
Gross Margin
Gross margin is equal to revenue minus cost of sales. We use gross margin as a financial metric to help us understand trends in our direct costs and allocated indirect costs when
compared to the revenue we generate.
Selling, General and Administrative
Our selling, general and administrative expenses, or SG&A, include salaries and other expenses related to selling, marketing and proposal activities, and other administrative costs.
Some SG&A expenses relate to market and
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business development activities that support both ongoing business areas as well as new and emerging market areas. These activities can be directly associated with developing
requirements for and applications of capabilities created in our R&D activities. SG&A is an important financial metric that we analyze to help us evaluate the contribution of our selling,
marketing and proposal activities to revenue generation.
Research and Development Expense
R&D, is an integral part of our business model. We normally conduct significant internally funded R&D. Our R&D activities focus specifically on creating capabilities that support
our existing product portfolio as well as new solutions.
Other Income and Expenses
Other income and expenses includes interest income, interest expense, amortization of capital lease payments, changes in fair value of certain financial investments, gains/losses on
sale of available‑for‑sale equity securities, and gains resulting from the purchase of a controlling interest in an entity formerly accounted for under the equity method.
Income Tax Expense
Our effective tax rates are lower than the statutory rates primarily due to research and development tax credits partially offset by the impact of the Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2017.
Equity Method Investment Activity, Net of Tax
Equity method investment activity, net of tax, includes equity method gain or loss related to the HAPSMobile, Inc. joint venture we formed in December 2017 with Softbank Corp,
and our investment in Altoy Savunma Sanayi ve Havacilik Anonim Sirketi (“Altoy”) prior to obtaining a controlling interest on February 1, 2017.
Loss from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax
On June 1, 2018, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with Webasto pursuant to which we agreed to sell, and Webasto agreed to acquire, substantially all of the assets of our
EES Business and to assume certain liabilities related to the EES Business. We anticipate that the transaction will close within our first quarter of fiscal 2019. As of April 30, 2018, we
determined that the EES Business met the criterion for classification as an asset held for sale and represents a strategic shift in in our operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the
results of operations of the EES Business are reported in this Annual Report as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Net Loss Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests includes the 15% interest in the income or losses of our Turkish joint venture, Altoy. We acquired a controlling interest in Altoy on
February 1, 2017.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. When we prepare these consolidated financial statements, we are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the reporting period. Some of our accounting policies require that we make subjective judgments, including estimates that involve matters that are inherently uncertain. Our most
critical estimates include those related to revenue recognition, inventories and reserves for excess and obsolescence, self‑insured liabilities, accounting for stock‑based awards, and income
taxes. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for our judgments about the carrying values
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of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe the following critical accounting estimates affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements. Please see
Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements, which are included in Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this Annual Report, for our Organization and Significant
Accounting Policies. There have been no material changes made to the critical accounting estimates during the periods presented in the consolidated financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
Significant management judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the recognition of revenue in any accounting period. Material differences in the
amount of revenue in any given period may result if these judgments or estimates prove to be incorrect or if management’s estimates change on the basis of development of the business or
market conditions. Management judgments and estimates have been applied consistently and have been reliable historically. We believe that there are two key factors which impact the
reliability of management’s estimates. The first of those key factors is that the terms of our contracts are typically less than six months. The short‑term nature of such contracts reduces the
risk that material changes in accounting estimates will occur on the basis of market conditions or other factors. The second key factor is that we have hundreds of contracts in any given
accounting period, which reduces the risk that any one change in an accounting estimate on one or several contracts would have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements
or our two reporting segments’ measures of profit.
The substantial majority of our revenue is generated pursuant to written contractual arrangements to design, develop, manufacture and/or modify complex products, and to provide
related engineering, technical and other services according to customer specifications. These contracts may be fixed price or cost‑reimbursable. We consider all contracts for treatment in
accordance with authoritative guidance for contracts with multiple deliverables.
Revenue from product sales not under contractual arrangement is recognized at the time title and the risk and rewards of ownership pass, which typically occurs when the products
are shipped and collection is reasonably assured.
Revenue and profits on fixed‑price contracts are recognized using percentage‑of‑completion methods of accounting. Revenue and profits on fixed‑price production contracts,
whose units are produced and delivered in a continuous or sequential process, are recorded as units are delivered based on their selling prices, or the units‑of‑delivery method. Revenue and
profits on other fixed‑price contracts with significant engineering as well as production requirements are recorded based on the ratio of total actual incurred costs to date to the total
estimated costs for each contract, or the cost‑to‑cost method. Under percentage‑of‑completion methods of accounting, a single estimated total profit margin is used to recognize profit for
each contract over its entire period of performance, which can exceed one year. Accounting for revenue and profits on a fixed‑price contract requires the preparation of estimates of (1) the
total contract revenue, (2) the total costs at completion, which is equal to the sum of the actual incurred costs to date on the contract and the estimated costs to complete the contract’s
statement of work and (3) the measurement of progress towards completion. The estimated profit or loss at completion on a contract is equal to the difference between the total estimated
contract revenue and the total estimated cost at completion. Under the units‑of‑delivery method, sales on a fixed‑price type contract are recorded as the units are delivered during the period
based on their contractual selling prices. Under the cost‑to‑cost method, sales on a fixed‑price type contract are recorded at amounts equal to the ratio of actual cumulative costs incurred
divided by total estimated costs at completion, multiplied by (A) the total estimated contract revenue, less (B) the cumulative sales recognized in prior periods. The profit recorded on a
contract in any period using either the units‑of‑delivery method or cost‑to‑cost method is equal to (X) the current estimated total profit margin multiplied by the cumulative sales
recognized, less (Y) the amount of cumulative profit previously recorded for the contract. In the case of a contract for which the total estimated costs exceed the total estimated revenue, a
loss arises, and a provision for the entire loss is recorded in the period that it becomes evident. The unrecoverable costs on a loss contract that are expected to be incurred in future periods
are recorded in the program cost.
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Revenue and profits on cost‑reimbursable type contracts are recognized as costs are incurred on the contract, at an amount equal to the costs plus the estimated profit on those
costs. The estimated profit on a cost‑reimbursable contract is generally fixed or variable based on the contractual fee arrangement.
We review cost performance and estimates to complete at least quarterly and in many cases more frequently. Adjustments to original estimates for a contract’s revenue, estimated
costs at completion and estimated profit or loss are often required as work progresses under a contract, as experience is gained and as more information is obtained, even though the scope of
work required under the contract may not change, or if contract modifications occur. The impact of revisions in profit estimates for all types of contracts are recognized on a cumulative
catch‑up basis in the period in which the revisions are made. During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, changes in accounting estimates on fixed‑price contracts
recognized using the percentage of completion method of accounting are presented below. Amounts representing contract change orders or claims are included in revenue only when they
can be reliably estimated and their realization is probable. Incentives or penalties and awards applicable to performance on contracts are considered in estimating revenue and profit rates,
and are recorded when there is sufficient information to assess anticipated contract performance.
For the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, favorable and unfavorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments included in cost of sales were as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Gross favorable adjustments
Gross unfavorable adjustments
Net adjustments

$
$

1,195
(847)
348

$
$

464
(318)
146

2016

$
$

479
(210)
269

For the year ended April 30, 2018, favorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $1.2 million were primarily due to final cost adjustments on 14 contracts, which individually were
not material. For the same period, unfavorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $0.8 million were primarily related to higher than expected costs on 5 contracts, which individually were
not material.
For the year ended April 30, 2017, favorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $0.5 million were primarily due to final cost adjustments on 52 contracts, which individually were
not material. For the same period, unfavorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $0.3 million were primarily related to higher than expected costs on 9 contracts, which individually were
not material.
For the year ended April 30, 2016, favorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $0.5 million were primarily due to final cost adjustments on 19 contracts, which individually were
not material. For the same period, unfavorable cumulative catch‑up adjustments of $0.2 million were primarily related to higher than expected costs on 15 contracts, which individually
were not material.
Inventories and Reserve for Excess and Obsolescence
Our policy for valuation of inventory, including the determination of obsolete or excess inventory, requires us to perform a detailed assessment of inventory at each balance sheet
date, which includes a review of, among other factors, an estimate of future demand for products within specific time horizons, valuation of existing inventory, as well as product lifecycle
and product development plans. Inventory reserves are also provided to cover risks arising from slow‑moving items. We write down our inventory for estimated obsolescence or
unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based on assumptions about future demand and market conditions. We may be
required to record additional inventory write‑downs if actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected by our management.
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Self‑Insured Liability
We are self‑insured for employee medical claims, subject to individual and aggregate stop‑loss policies. We estimate a liability for claims filed and incurred but not reported based
upon recent claims experience and an analysis of the average period of time between the occurrence of a claim and the time it is reported to and paid by us. We perform an annual evaluation
of this policy and have determined that for all prior years during which this policy has been in effect there have been cost advantages to this policy, as compared to obtaining commercially
available employee medical insurance. However, actual results may differ materially from those estimated and could have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Impairment of Long‑Lived Assets
We review the recoverability of long‑lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. The
estimated future cash flows are based upon, among other things, assumptions about expected future operating performance, and may differ from actual cash flows. If the sum of the
projected undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets will be written down to the estimated fair value in the period in which the
determination is made.
Intangible Assets – Acquired in Business Combinations
We perform valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business combination and allocate the purchase price of each acquired
business to our respective net tangible and intangible assets. Acquired intangible assets include: customer relationships and trade names. We use valuation techniques to value these
intangibles assets, with the primary technique being a discounted cash flow analysis. A discounted cash flow analysis requires us to make various assumptions and estimates including
projected revenue, gross margins, operating costs, growth rates, useful lives and discount rates. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method which approximates the pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed.
Long‑Term Incentive Awards
For our outstanding long-term incentive plans as of April 30, 2018, we grant long-term incentive awards and we establish a target payout at the beginning of each performance
period. The actual payout at the end of the performance period is calculated based upon our achievement of such targets. Payouts are made in cash and restricted stock units. Upon vesting
of the restricted stock units, we have the discretion to settle the restricted stock units in cash or stock.
The cash component of the award is accounted for as a liability. The equity component is accounted for as a stock-based liability as the restricted stock units may be settled in cash
or stock. At each reporting period, we reassess the probability of achieving the performance targets. The estimation of whether the performance targets will be achieved requires judgment,
and to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from our current estimates, the cumulative effect on current and prior periods of those changes will be recorded in the period
estimates are revised.
Income Taxes
We are required to estimate our income taxes, which includes estimating our current income taxes as well as measuring the temporary differences resulting from different treatment
of items for tax and accounting purposes. We currently have significant deferred assets, which are subject to periodic recoverability assessments. Realizing our deferred tax assets
principally depends on our achieving projected future taxable income. We may change our judgments regarding future profitability due to future market conditions and other factors, which
may result in recording a valuation allowance against those deferred tax assets.
We have various foreign subsidiaries to conduct or support our business outside the United States. We do not provide for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings for our
foreign subsidiaries as management expects the foreign earnings will be indefinitely reinvested in such foreign jurisdictions.
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We followed the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”), which provides additional clarification regarding the application of ASC Topic 740 in situations
where we do not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) for the reporting period in which the Act was enacted. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period beginning in the reporting period that includes the Act’s
enactment date and ending when the Company has obtained, prepared, and analyzed the information needed in order to complete the accounting requirements but in no circumstances
should the measurement period extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
Fiscal Periods
Our fiscal year ends on April 30. Due to our fixed year end date of April 30, our first and fourth quarters each consist of approximately 13 weeks. The second and third quarters
each consist of exactly 13 weeks. Our first three quarters end on a Saturday.
Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain historical consolidated income statement data expressed in dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of revenue for the periods indicated.
Certain amounts may not sum due to rounding.
Fiscal Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Income from continuing operations
Interest income, net
Other (expense) income, net
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax expense
Equity method investment activity, net of tax
Net income from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net income attributable to AeroVironment

$

$

271,052
162,164
108,888
50,826
26,433
31,629
2,240
(49)
33,820
10,177
(1,283)
22,360
(2,508)
19,852
216
20,068

100 %
60 %
40 %
19 %
10 %
12 %
1%
—%
12 %
4%
—%
8%
(1)%
7%
—%
7%

$ 228,940
133,755
95,185
47,642
28,465
19,078
1,618
172
20,868
4,138
(119)
16,611
(4,154)
12,457
22
$ 12,479

100 %
58 %
42 %
21 %
12 %
8%
1%
—%
9%
2%
—%
7%
(2)%
5%
—%
5%

2016

$ 233,738
128,164
105,574
50,463
35,040
20,071
1,032
(2,589)
18,514
2,983
(138)
15,393
(6,427)
8,966
—
$
8,966

100 %
55 %
45 %
22 %
15 %
9%
—%
(1)%
8%
—%
—%
7%
(3)%
4%
—%
4%

Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2018 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2017
Revenue. Revenue for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $271.1 million, as compared to $228.9 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, representing an increase of
$42.2 million, or 18%. The increase in revenue was due to an increase in product deliveries of $35.7 million and an increase in customer-funded R&D work of $8.2 million, partially offset
by a decrease in service revenue of $1.7 million. The increase in product deliveries was primarily due to an increase in product deliveries of small UAS to international customers and to
customers within the U.S. government and product deliveries of tactical missile systems to customers within the U.S. government. The increase in customer-funded R&D was primarily
associated with our design and development agreement with HAPSMobile, partially offset
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by a decrease in tactical missile systems and tactical missile system variant programs. The decrease in service revenue was primarily due to a decrease in sustainment activities in support of
tactical missile system product deliveries.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $162.2 million, as compared to $133.8 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, representing an
increase of $28.4 million, or 21%. The increase in cost of sales was a result of an increase in product cost of sales of $23.0 million and an increase in service costs of sales of $5.4 million.
The increase in product costs was primarily due to the increase in product deliveries. The increase in service costs of sales was primarily due to the increase in service revenue. As a
percentage of revenue, cost of sales increased from 58% to 60%, primarily due to an unfavorable mix in both products and services and an increase in inventory reserve charges.
Gross Margin. Gross margin for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $108.9 million, as compared to $95.2 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, representing an
increase of $13.7 million, or 14%. The increase in gross margin was primarily due to an increase in product margins of $12.7 million and an increase in service margins of $1.0 million. The
increase in product margins was primarily due to the increase in product deliveries. The increase in services margins was primarily due to the increase in customer-funded R&D revenue. As
a percentage of revenue, gross margin decreased from 42% to 40%, primarily due to an unfavorable mix in both products and services and an increase in inventory reserve charges.
Selling, General and Administrative. SG&A expense for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $50.8 million, or 19% of revenue, compared to SG&A expense of $47.6
million, or 21% of revenue, for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The increase in SG&A expense was primarily due to an increase in bonus expense associated with our fiscal 2018
financial results, the recording of impairment charges related to the identifiable intangible assets and goodwill of Altoy during the three months ended October 28, 2017, an increase in bad
debt expense and an increase in legal expenses, partially offset by a decrease in sales commission expense as a result of a decrease in the number of international small UAS contracts under
which we utilized sales agents.
Research and Development. R&D expense for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $26.4 million, or 10% of revenue, compared to R&D expense of $28.5 million, or 12% of
revenue, for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. R&D expense decreased primarily due to decreased development activities for certain strategic initiatives.
Interest Income, net. Interest income, net for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $2.2 million, compared to $1.6 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The
increase in interest income was primarily due to an increase in the average interest rates earned on our investments portfolio.
Other Income (Expense), net. Other expense, net for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was $49,000, as compared to other income, net of $0.2 million for the fiscal year ended
April 30, 2017.
Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 30.1% for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, as compared to 19.8% for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The provision for
income taxes for the fiscal year ended 2018 included the impact of the Tax Cut and Jobs Act of 2017, inclusive of a reduction in the blended fiscal year 2018 federal statutory tax rate from
35% to 30.4% and an estimated $3.4 million one-time expense resulting from the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Equity method investment activity, net of tax. Equity method investment activity, net of tax for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was a loss of $1.3 million, as compared to
equity method investment activity, net of tax loss of $0.1 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The increase was due to the equity method loss associated with our investment in
the HAPSMobile joint venture formed in December 2017. Equity method investment activity, net of tax for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 related to our investment in Altoy prior to
obtaining a controlling interest in February 2017.
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 was a loss of $2.5 million as compared to a
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax of $4.2
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million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The loss from discontinued operations, net of tax relates to the results of our EES Business.
Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year Ended April 30, 2016
Revenue. Revenue for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $228.9 million, as compared to $233.7 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, representing a decrease of
$4.8 million, or 2%. The decrease in revenue was primarily due to a decrease in customer‑funded R&D of $9.9 million and a decrease in product deliveries of $2.4 million, partially offset
by an increase in service revenue of $7.5 million. The decrease in customer‑funded R&D was primarily associated with tactical missile system variant programs. The decrease in product
deliveries was primarily due to a decrease in product deliveries of small UAS, partially offset by an increase in product deliveries of tactical missile systems. The increase in service revenue
was primarily due to an increase in services associated with tactical missile systems and an increase in sustainment activities in support of small UAS for our international customers. In
fiscal 2017, we continued to experience expansion in small UAS product deliveries and related services to international customers and in tactical missile system product deliveries and
related services to customers within the U.S. Government.
Cost of Sales. Cost of sales for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $133.8 million, as compared to $128.2 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, representing an
increase of $5.6 million, or 4%. As a percentage of revenue, cost of sales increased from 55% to 58%. The increase in cost of sales was a result of an increase in product cost of sales of $3.9
million and an increase in service costs of sales of $1.7 million, both of which were impacted by the reserve reversal of $3.2 million for the settlement of prior year government incurred
cost audits recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2016 as well as an increase in sustaining engineering activities in support of our existing products, partially offset by decreases in
customer-funded R&D and decreases in product deliveries.
Gross Margin. Gross margin for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $95.2 million, as compared to $105.6 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, representing a
decrease of $10.4 million, or 10%. As a percentage of revenue, gross margin decreased from 45% to 42%. The decrease in gross margin was a result of a decrease in product margin of
$6.3 million and a decrease in service margin of $4.1 million, both of which were impacted by the reserve reversal of $3.2 million for the settlement of prior year government incurred cost
audits recorded in the second quarter of fiscal 2016.
Selling, General and Administrative. SG&A expense for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $47.6 million, or 21% of revenue, compared to SG&A expense of
$50.5 million, or 22% of revenue, for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The decrease in SG&A expense was primarily due to a decrease in bid and proposal costs and a decrease in
professional services expenses, partially offset by an increase in sales commission expense as a result of our increased international small UAS revenues.
Research and Development. R&D expense for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $28.5 million, or 12% of revenue, compared to R&D expense of $35.0 million, or 15% of
revenue, for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. R&D expense decreased primarily due to decreased development activities for certain strategic initiatives.
Interest Income, net. Interest income, net for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $1.6 million, compared to $1.0 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The
increase in interest income was primarily due to an increase in the average interest rates earned on our investments portfolio.
Other Income (Expense), net. Other income, net for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was $0.2 million, as compared to other expense, net of $2.6 million for the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2016. The increase in other income was primarily due to the recording of an other-than-temporary impairment loss on our CybAero equity securities during the first quarter
of fiscal 2016. Other income, net for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 also included a gain of $0.6 million related to the acquisition of a controlling interest in our Turkish Joint Venture,
Altoy.
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Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate was 19.8% for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, as compared to 16.1% for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The increase in
the effective tax rate was primarily a result of an increase in income before taxes and a decrease in tax credits as a result of federal legislation permanently reinstating the federal research
and development tax credit retroactive to January 2015 during fiscal year 2016, partially offset by a reversal of a reserve of $1.0 million for uncertain tax positions due to the settlement of
prior fiscal year audits recorded in the first quarter of fiscal 2017.
Equity method investment activity, net of tax. Equity method investment activity, net of tax for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 and April 30, 2016 was a loss of $0.1 million.
The losses related to the equity method investment in our Turkish Joint Venture, Altoy prior to obtaining a controlling interest in February 2017.
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax. Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 was a loss of $4.2 million as compared to
loss from discontinued operations, net of tax of $6.4 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax relates to the results of our EES Business.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We currently have no material cash commitments, except for normal recurring trade payables, accrued expenses and ongoing research and development costs, all of which we
anticipate funding through our existing working capital and funds provided by operating activities. The majority of our purchase obligations are pursuant to funded contractual arrangements
with our customers. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities and other financing sources will be sufficient to meet our anticipated working
capital, capital expenditure and debt service requirements, if any, during the next twelve months. There can be no assurance, however, that our business will continue to generate cash flow
at current levels. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, then we may be required to sell assets, reduce capital expenditures or obtain additional financing. We
anticipate that existing sources of liquidity and cash flows from operations will be sufficient to satisfy our cash needs for the foreseeable future.
Our primary liquidity needs are for financing working capital, investing in capital expenditures, supporting product development efforts, introducing new products and enhancing
existing products, and marketing acceptance and adoption of our products and services. Our future capital requirements, to a certain extent, are also subject to general conditions in or
affecting the defense industry and are subject to general economic, political, financial, competitive, legislative and regulatory factors that are beyond our control. Moreover, to the extent
that existing cash, cash equivalents, cash from operations, and cash from short‑term borrowing are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through
public or private equity or debt financing. In addition, we may also need to seek additional equity funding or debt financing if we become a party to any agreement or letter of intent for
potential investments in, or acquisitions of, businesses, services or technologies.
Our working capital requirements vary by contract type. On cost‑plus‑fee programs, we typically bill our incurred costs and fees monthly as work progresses, and therefore
working capital investment is minimal. On fixed‑price contracts, we typically are paid as we deliver products, and working capital is needed to fund labor and expenses incurred during the
lead time from contract award until contract deliveries begin.
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Cash Flows
The following table provides our cash flow data from continuing operations for the periods ended:
2018

Fiscal Year Ended April 30,
2017

2016

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

$
$
$

70,436
(6,397)
2,020

$
$
$

(7,995)
(36,516)
3,470

$
$
$

6,047
(15,950)
(3,096)

Cash Provided by Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018 increased by $78.4 million to $70.4 million, compared to
net cash used in operating activities of $8.0 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. This increase in net cash provided by operating activities was primarily due to an increase in the
cash provided as a result of changes in operating assets and liabilities of $63.7 million largely resulting from decreases in accounts receivable due to year over year timing differences in
revenue and related collections, and decreases in inventory primarily due to year over year timing differences in purchases to support anticipated product deliveries, an increase in non-cash
expenses of $8.9 million, primarily due to the $3.4 million charge resulting from the remeasurement of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, an increase in stock-based compensation, and
the equity method loss associated with the our HAPS JV, and an increase in net income from continuing operations of $5.7 million.
Net cash used in operating activities for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 increased by $14.0 million to $8.0 million, compared to net cash provided by operating activities of
$6.0 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. This increase in net cash used in operating activities was primarily due to an increase in the use of cash as a result of changes in
operating assets and liabilities of $14.4 million largely resulting from increases in inventory primarily due to year over year timing differences in purchases to support anticipated product
deliveries, partially offset by an increase in net income of $1.2 million.
Cash Used in Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities decreased by $30.1 million to $6.4 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, compared to net cash
used in investing activities of $36.5 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The decrease in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to lower net purchases of
held‑to‑maturity investments of $33.4 million, partially offset by the investment in our HAPSMobile joint venture. During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, we used
cash to purchase property and equipment totaling $9.6 million, $9.0 million and $6.1 million, respectively.
Net cash used in investing activities increased by $20.5 million to $36.5 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, compared to net cash used in investing activities of $16.0
million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The increase in net cash used in investing activities was primarily due to higher net purchases of held to maturity investments of $16.9
million and an increase in capital expenditures of $2.9 million. During the fiscal years ended April 30, 2017, and 2016, we used cash to purchase property and equipment totaling $9.0
million and $6.1 million, respectively.
Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities decreased by $1.5 million to $2.0 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018,
compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $3.5 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in the cash provided from the
exercise of employee stock options of $1.2 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities increased by $6.6 million to $3.5 million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $3.1
million for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016. The increase was primarily due to a decrease in the purchase and retirement of common stock of $3.8 million and an increase in cash
provided from the exercise of employee stock options of $2.7 million.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table describes our commitments to settle contractual obligations as of April 30, 2018:
Payments Due By Period
Less Than
1 Year

Total

Operating lease obligations
Capital lease obligations
Purchase obligations(1)
Total

$

$

21,199
161
48,236
69,596

$

$

4,940
161
48,236
53,337

1 to 3 Years
(In thousands)

$

$

8,646
—
—
8,646

More Than
5 Years

3 to 5 Years

$

$

5,699
—
—
5,699

$

$

1,914
—
—
1,914

(1) Consists of all cancelable and non‑cancelable purchase orders as of April 30, 2018.
(2) Not included in the table above is an additional capital contribution of 209,500,000 yen (approximately $1,900,000) in or around January 2019 required under our HAPSMobile
Inc. Joint Venture Agreement.
Off‑Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of April 30, 2018 we had no off‑balance sheet arrangements as defined in Item 303(a)(4) of the SEC’s Regulation S‑K.
Inflation
Our operations have not been, and we do not expect them to be, materially affected by inflation. Historically, we have been successful in adjusting prices to our customers to reflect
changes in our material and labor costs.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory. This ASU does not apply to inventory that is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) or the retail inventory method. The amendments apply to all other inventory, which includes
inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost. This ASU eliminates from U.S. GAAP the requirement to measure inventory at the lower of cost or market.
Market under the previous requirement could be replacement cost, net realizable value, or net realizable value less a normal profit margin. Entities within the scope of this update will now
be required to measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably
predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory using LIFO or the retail inventory method. Our adoption of ASU 2015-11
effective May 1, 2017 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which simplifies the test for
goodwill impairment by removing Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. If goodwill impairment is realized, the amount recognized will be the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized cannot exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. ASU 2017-04 must be applied on a
prospective basis and will become effective for public entities in the first quarter of the year ending July 31, 2020, with early adoption available. We elected to early adopt the standard
during the three months ended October 28, 2017. Our adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
New Accounting Standards
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In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations – Clarifying the definition of a business (Topic 805). This ASU clarifies the definition of a business with
the objective of providing a more robust framework to evaluate whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The guidance will be
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that fiscal year, with early adoption permitted. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively to business combinations that occur after the effective date.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (Topic 230). This ASU adds and clarifies
guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim
periods therein, with early adoption permitted. We are evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on our consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU requires the lessee to recognize the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by
leases with terms of 12 months or more. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods therein, with early adoption permitted. We are
evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on our consolidated financial statements. We currently do not hold a large number of leases that are classified as operating leases under the
existing lease standard, with the only significant leases being our various property leases. We are evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on our consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The new standard was originally effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016 and early adoption was not permitted. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)-Deferral of the Effective
Date. This update approved a one-year delay of the effective date to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, while permitting companies to voluntarily adopt the new standard
as of the original effective date. Since the issuance of ASU 2014- 09, the FASB has issued several amendments to provide additional supplemental guidance on certain aspects of the
original pronouncement. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenue upon the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
expected to be received. In adopting the guidance, companies are permitted to select between two transition methods: (1) a full retrospective transition method with the application of the
new guidance to each prior reporting period presented, or (2) a retrospective transition method that recognizes the cumulative effect on prior periods at the date of adoption together with
additional footnote disclosures.
Contracts for product deliveries of our tactical missile systems that we have historically recognized revenue as the related products were delivered will recognize revenue under the
new standard over time as costs are incurred. In addition, services performed under contracts for both our tactical missile systems and small UAS that we have historically recognized
revenue upon customer acceptance will recognize revenue under the new standard over time using an appropriate measure of progress, which is generally as costs are incurred. The new
standard will not change the total amount of revenue recognized on these contracts, it will only accelerate the timing of when the revenue is recognized, resulting in an increase to unbilled
receivables. The timing of cost of sales recognition for these contracts will also be accelerated, resulting in a decrease in inventories.
The new standard will not have a significant impact to revenue recognition for product deliveries of our small UAS family of systems that have historically recognized revenue as
the related products were delivered. Under the new standard we will recognize revenue for these contracts at a point in time when the products transfer to the customer.
The new standard will not have a significant impact to revenue recognition for our customer-funded research and development contracts that we have historically recognized
revenue based on percentage of completion. Under the new standard we will recognize revenue for these contracts over time as costs are incurred which approximates percentage of
completion.
We will adopt ASU 2014-09 in the first quarter of 2019 using the full retrospective transition method which will require our fiscal year 2016 and 2017 financial statements to be
revised. As described above, certain contracts under the new standard will recognize revenue as costs are incurred (or other appropriate measure of progress as applicable) as
57

Table of Contents

compared to as units are delivered under ASC 605 – Revenue Recognition, which will result in an increase in revenue from continuing operations of approximately $4.2 million in fiscal
year 2017. The revision will also result in a cumulative adjustment from continuing operations to increase retained earnings by approximately $0.7 million and $1.8 million for the fiscal
years ended April 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively.
The majority of the contracts in our discontinued EES business are product purchase order, bill and ship arrangements that we have historically recognized revenue as the related
products were delivered. We do not anticipate a significant impact to revenue recognition under the new standard.
Due to the significant amount of revenues that occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, we are continuing to assess the impact of adopting the new standard to our fiscal
2018 financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk
It is our policy not to enter into interest rate derivative financial instruments. We do not currently have any significant interest rate exposure.
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Since a significant part of our sales and expenses are denominated in U.S. dollars, we have not experienced significant foreign exchange gains or losses to date. We occasionally
engage in forward contracts in foreign currencies to limit our exposure on non‑U.S. dollar transactions.
58

Table of Contents

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
AeroVironment, Inc.
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets at April 30, 2018 and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
Supplementary Data
Financial Statement Schedule Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Page

60
61
62
63
64
65
66
95
97
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of April 30, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2018, and the related notes and financial
statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in
all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company at April 30, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended April 30, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of April 30, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) and our report dated June 26, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1999.
Los Angeles, California
June 26, 2018
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands except share data)

April 30,

2018

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,080 at April 30, 2018 and $104 at April 30, 2017
Unbilled receivables and retentions (inclusive of related party unbilled receivables of $3,145 at April 30, 2018)
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
Total current assets
Long-term investments
Property and equipment, net
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Long-term assets of discontinued operations
Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages and related accruals
Income taxes payable
Customer advances
Other current liabilities
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent
Capital lease obligations - net of current portion
Other non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Liability for uncertain tax positions
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—10,000,000; none issued or outstanding at April 30, 2018 and April 30, 2017
Common stock, $0.0001 par value:
Authorized shares—100,000,000
Issued and outstanding shares—23,908,736 shares at April 30, 2018 and 23,630,419 at April 30, 2017
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Retained earnings
Total AeroVironment stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$
$

143,517
113,649
56,813
13,076
38,640
5,103
28,349
399,147
40,656
19,219
11,168
2,721
—
472,911

$

21,340
16,851
4,085
2,145
6,892
9,184
60,497
1,536
—
622
67
49

$

$

—

$

2
170,139
(21)
239,997
410,117
23
410,140
472,911

2017

79,904
119,971
68,719
14,120
40,908
5,533
24,930
354,085
42,096
15,962
15,089
2,010
3,258
432,500
15,896
10,947
1,418
2,057
8,444
9,301
48,063
1,719
161
184
116
64

—

$

2
162,150
(127)
219,929
381,954
239
382,193
432,500
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In thousands except share and per share data)

Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Revenue:
Product sales
Contract services (inclusive of related party revenue of $29,597 for the year ended April 30, 2018)
Cost of sales:
Product sales
Contract services
Gross margin:
Product sales
Contract services

$

195,330
75,722
271,052

159,630
69,310
228,940

$

162,032
71,706
233,738

111,990
50,174
162,164

88,963
44,792
133,755

85,089
43,075
128,164

83,340
25,548
108,888
50,826
26,433
31,629

70,667
24,518
95,185
47,642
28,465
19,078

76,943
28,631
105,574
50,463
35,040
20,071

Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Income from continuing operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income, net
2,240
Other (expense) income, net
(49)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes
33,820
Provision (benefit) for income taxes
10,177
Equity method investment activity, net of tax
(1,283)
Net income from continuing operations
22,360
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
(2,508)
Net income
19,852
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
216
$
20,068
Net income attributable to AeroVironment
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment - Basic
Continuing operations
$
0.97
Discontinued operations
(0.11)
$
0.86
Net income per share attributable to AeroVironment - Basic
Net income (loss) per share attributable to AeroVironment - Diluted
Continuing operations
$
0.95
Discontinued operations
(0.11)
$
0.84
Net income per share attributable to AeroVironment - Diluted
Weighted-average shares outstanding:
Basic
23,471,241
Diluted
23,813,772
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

2016

$
$
$
$
$

1,618
172
20,868
4,138
(119)
16,611
(4,154)
12,457
22
12,479

$

0.72
(0.18)
0.54

$

0.72
(0.18)
0.54

$

23,059,045
23,307,738

$

$

1,032
(2,589)
18,514
2,983
(138)
15,393
(6,427)
8,966
—
8,966
0.67
(0.28)
0.39
0.67
(0.28)
0.39
22,936,413
23,153,493
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)
Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $25, $43, and $18 for the fiscal years ended 2018, 2017, and
2016 respectively
Total comprehensive income
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income attributable to AeroVironment
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

19,852

$

12,457

2016

$

8,966

36

-

-

70
19,958
216
20,174

74
12,531
22
12,553

27
8,993

$

—

$

8,993
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands except share data)
Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance at April 30, 2015
Net income
Unrealized gain on investments
Reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive loss
Stock options exercised
Restricted stock awards
Restricted stock awards forfeited
Tax withholding payment related to net share settlement of
equity awards
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to
equity
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation
Purchases of common stock for retirement
Stock-based compensation
Balance at April 30, 2016
Adoption of ASU 2016-09
Net income (loss)
Unrealized gain on investments
Stock options exercised
Restricted stock awards
Restricted stock awards forfeited
Tax withholding payment related to net share settlement of
equity awards
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to
equity
Business acquisition
Stock-based compensation
Balance at April 30, 2017
Net income (loss)
Unrealized gain on investments
Foreign currency translation
Stock options exercised
Restricted stock awards
Restricted stock awards forfeited
Tax withholding payment related to net share settlement of
equity awards
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to
equity
Stock based compensation
Balance at April 30, 2018

23,314,640
—
—
—
84,881
191,548
(46,753)

2
—
—

(1,130)

—

—
—
(183,261)
—
23,359,925
—
—
—
204,130
126,557
(60,017)

(29)

—
2
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
23,630,419
—
—
—
153,211
140,787
(6,834)

—
—
—
2
—
—
—
—
—
—

(8,847)

—

$

—
—
2

201,975
8,966
—
—
—
—
—

(5)

$

—
—
—
—
(201)
—
—
74
—
—
—

—

—

—
—
—
219,929
20,068
—
—
—
—
—

(397)
384
5,297
170,139

—

—
—
(3,756)
—
207,185
265
12,479
—
—
—
—

307
—
3,709
162,150
—
—
—
2,705
—
—

—
—
—
(127)
—
70
36
—
—
—

—

$

—
—
239,997

—

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Total
AeroVironment
Equity

(1,358)
—
27
1,130
—
—
—

—

228
98
—
4,562
154,274
—
—
—
3,865
—
—

—

(176)

—
—
23,908,736

148,293
—
—
—
1,122
—
—

—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Retained
Earnings

—
—
(21) $

NonControlling
Interest

348,912
8,966
27
1,130
1,122
—
—
(29)
228
98
(3,756)
4,562
361,260
265
12,479
74
3,865
—
—
(5)
307
—
3,709
381,954
20,068
70
36
2,705
—
—
(397)
384
5,297
410,117 $

Total

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

348,912
8,966
27
1,130
1,122
—
—

—

(29)

—
—
—
—
—
—
(22)
—
—
—
—

228
98
(3,756)
4,562
361,260
265
12,457
74
3,865
—
—

—

(5)

—
261
—
239
(216)
—
—
—
—
—

307
261
3,709
382,193
19,852
70
36
2,705
—
—

—
—
—
23

(397)

$

384
5,297
410,140
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Operating activities
Net income
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Loss from equity method investments
Impairment of available-for-sale securities
Impairment of long-lived assets
Provision for doubtful accounts
Impairment of intangible assets and goodwill
(Gains) losses on foreign currency transactions
Loss on sale of equity securities
Deferred income taxes
Gain on business acquisition
Stock-based compensation
Tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options
Loss (Gain) on disposition of property and equipment
Amortization of held-to-maturity investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Unbilled receivables and retentions
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities of continuing operations
Investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment
Equity method investments
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Redemptions of held-to-maturity investments
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment
Redemptions of available-for-sale investments
Net cash used in investing activities from continuing operations
Financing activities
Purchase and retirement of common stock
Principal payments of capital lease obligations
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation
Tax withholding payment related to net settlement of equity awards
Exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities from continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Operating activities of discontinued operations
Investing activities of discontinued operations
Financing activities of discontinued operations
Net cash used in discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid, net during the period for:
Income taxes
Non-cash activities
Unrealized gain on investments, net of deferred tax expense of $25, $43, and $18, respectively
Reclassification from share-based liability compensation to equity
Forfeiture of vested stock-based compensation
Acquisitions of property and equipment financed with capital lease obligation
Change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Acquisitions of property and equipment included in accounts payable

$

19,852
(2,508)
22,360

$

5,982
1,283
—
255
977
1,021
(87)
—
3,835
—
4,956
—
—
20
1,424

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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12,457
(4,154)
16,611

2016
$

8,966
(6,427)
15,393

5,054
119
—
46
48
—
284
—
(52)
(584)
3,392
—
—
44
2,382

3,855
138
2,186
—
18
—
63
219
(2,912)
—
4,002
161
(39)
—
3,875

11,211
903
2,268
419
5,736
7,872
70,436

(19,608)
4,667
(19,225)
(1,484)
545
(233)
(7,994)

(20,645)
(1,555)
480
439
(2,851)
3,221
6,047

(9,563)
(3,267)
—
227,663
(221,680)
—
450
(6,397)

(9,017)
—
(430)
121,522
(148,991)
—
400
(36,516)

(6,121)
(295)
—
84,433
(94,954)
—
987
(15,950)

—
(288)
—
(397)
2,705
2,020

—
(390)
—
(5)
3,865
3,470

(3,756)
(472)
39
(29)
1,122
(3,096)

(1,227)
(1,219)
—
(2,446)
63,613
79,904
143,517

(2,505)
(838)
—
(3,343)
(44,383)
124,287
79,904

(5,496)
(628)
—
(6,124)
(19,123)
143,410
124,287

$

$

$

1,813

$

1,804

$

1,576

$
$
$
$
$
$

70
384
—
—
36
379

$
$
$
$
$
$

74
307
—
—
—
724

$
$
$
$
$
$

27
228
86
932
—
1,045
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AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Organization and Significant Accounting Policies

Organization
AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation, is engaged in the design, development, production, support and operation of unmanned aircraft systems (“UAS”) for various
industries and governmental agencies.
Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of AeroVironment, Inc. and its wholly‑owned subsidiaries: AeroVironment Rhode Island, LLC,
Skytower Inc., AeroVironment International PTE. LTD., AeroVironment, Inc. (Afghanistan), as well as the Company’s Turkish joint venture, Altoy Savunma Sanayi ve Havacilik Anonim
Sirketi (“Altoy”) (collectively referred to herein as the “Company”). The Company increased its ownership in Altoy to a controlling interest on February 1, 2017. As a result of the increase
in ownership, the consolidated financial statements include the balance sheet and results of operations of Altoy from February 1, 2017 forward. Prior to this date, the Company's investment
in Altoy was accounted for under the equity method. Refer to Note 19 - Business Acquisitions for further details. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation.
In April 2016, the Company dissolved AV S.r.l. Italy, AILC, Inc. and AeroVironment Massachusetts, LLC the results of which were not material to the consolidated financial
statements. In July 2016, the Company dissolved Charger Bicycles, LLC, the results of which were not material to the consolidated financial statements. In October 2016, the Company
dissolved Skytower, LLC and Regenerative Fuel Cell Systems, LLC, the results of which were not material to the consolidated financial statements. In February 2018, the Company
dissolved AeroVironment GmbH, the results of which were not material to the consolidated financial statements.
On June 1, 2018, the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Webasto Charging Systems, Inc. (“Webasto”) pursuant to which the
Company agreed to sell, and Webasto agreed to acquire, substantially all of the assets of the Company’s EES business segment (the “EES Business”) and to assume certain liabilities related
to the EES Business. As of April 30, 2018, we determined that the EES Business met the criterion for classification as an asset held for sale and represents a strategic shift in in our
operations. Therefore, the assets and liabilities and the results of operations of the EES Business are reported in this Annual Report as discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Investments in Companies Accounted for Using the Equity or Cost Method
Investments in other non‑consolidated entities are accounted for using the equity method or cost basis depending upon the level of ownership and/or the Company’s ability to
exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee. When the equity method is used, investments are recorded at original cost and adjusted periodically to
recognize the Company’s proportionate share of the investees’ net income or losses after the date of investment. When net losses from an investment accounted for under the equity method
exceed its carrying amount, the investment balance is reduced to zero and additional losses are not provided for as the Company is not obligated to provide additional capital. The Company
resumes accounting for the investment under the equity method if the entity subsequently reports net income and the Company’s share of that net income exceeds the share of net losses not
recognized during the period the equity method was suspended.
When an investment accounted for using the equity method issues its own shares, the subsequent reduction in the Company’s proportionate interest in the investee is reflected in
equity as an adjustment to paid‑in‑capital. The
66
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Company evaluates its investments in companies accounted for by the equity or cost method for impairment when there is evidence or indicators that a decrease in value may be other than
temporary.
In December of 2017, the Company and Softbank Corp. (“Softbank”) formed a joint venture, HAPSMobile, Inc. (“HAPSMobile”). As the Company has the ability to exercise
significant influence over the operating and financial policies of HAPSMobile, the Company’s investment is accounted as an equity method investment. The Company has presented its
proportion of HAPSMobile’s net loss in “Equity method investment activity, net of tax” in the consolidated statement of operations. The carrying value of the investment in HAPSMobile
was recorded in “Other assets, long-term.” Refer to Note 8 – Equity Method Investments for further details.
Segments
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM, who is the Chief Executive Officer, makes operating decisions, assesses
performance and makes resource allocation decisions, including the focus of research and development (“R&D”), on a consolidated basis for the Company’s continuing
operations. Accordingly, the Company operates its business as a single reportable segment.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States requires management to make estimates and
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates made by management include, but are not limited to, valuation of: inventory,
available‑for‑sale securities, deferred tax assets and liabilities, useful lives of property, plant and equipment, medical and dental liabilities, warranty liabilities, long-term incentive plan
liabilities and estimates of anticipated contract costs and revenue utilized in the revenue recognition process. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. Equity method losses associated with the Company’s investment in Altoy for the
fiscal year ended 2017 and 2016 have been reclassified from other income (expense), net to equity method investment activity, net of tax on the consolidated statement of operations.
Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. The Company’s cash
equivalents are comprised of money market funds, certificates of deposit of major financial institutions, and U.S. Treasury bills.
Investments
The Company’s investments are accounted for as held‑to‑maturity and available‑for‑sale and reported at amortized cost and fair value, respectively.
Unrealized gains and losses are excluded from earnings and reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of deferred income taxes for available-for-sale
investments.
Gains and losses realized on the disposition of investment securities are determined on the specific identification basis and credited or charged to income. Premium and discount on
investments are amortized and accreted using the interest method and charged or credited to investment income.
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Management determines the appropriate classification of securities at the time of purchase and re‑evaluates such designation as of each balance sheet date.
Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value is judged to be other‑than‑temporary. On a quarterly basis, the Company considers available quantitative and
qualitative evidence in evaluating potential impairment of its investments. If the cost of an investment exceeds its fair value, the Company evaluates, among other factors, general market
conditions, the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than cost, and its intent and ability to hold the investment to maturity. The Company also considers potential adverse
conditions related to the financial health of the issuer based on rating agency actions. Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other‑than‑temporary, an impairment charge is
recorded in earnings and a new cost basis in the investment is established.
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, unbilled receivables, retentions and accounts payable approximate cost due to the short period of time to maturity.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents, municipal bonds, U.S. government securities,
U.S. government-guaranteed agency securities, U.S. Government sponsored agency debt securities, highly rated commercial paper, highly rated corporate bonds, and accounts receivable.
The Company currently invests the majority of its cash in municipal bonds, U.S. government securities, U.S. government-guaranteed agency securities, U.S. Government sponsored agency
debt securities and highly rated corporate bonds. The Company’s revenue and accounts receivable are with a limited number of corporations and governmental entities. In the aggregate,
54%, 63% and 79% of the Company’s revenue came from agencies of the U.S. government for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. These agencies accounted for
49% and 45% of the accounts receivable balances at April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. One such agency, the U.S. Army, accounted for 19%, 21% and 26% of the Company’s
consolidated revenue for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its commercial customers and maintains an
allowance for potential losses.
Accounts Receivable, Unbilled Receivables and Retentions
Accounts receivable represents primarily U.S. government and Foreign government, and to a lesser extent commercial receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts.
Unbilled receivables represent costs in excess of billings on incomplete contracts and, where applicable, accrued profit related to government long‑term contracts on which revenue has been
recognized, but for which the customer has not yet been billed.
Retentions represent amounts withheld by customers until contract completion. At April 30, 2018 and 2017, the retention balances were $1,411,000 and $1,537,000, respectively.
The Company determines the allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical customer experience and other currently available evidence. When a specific account is deemed
uncollectible, the account is written off against the allowance. The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts
receivable balance; such losses have historically been within management’s expectations. An account is deemed past due based on contractual terms rather than on how recently payments
have been received.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (using the weighted average costing method) or net realizable value. Inventory write‑offs and write‑down provisions are provided to
cover risks arising from slow‑moving items or technological obsolescence and for market prices lower than cost. The Company periodically evaluates the quantities on hand relative to
current and historical selling prices and historical and projected sales volume. Based on this evaluation, provisions are made to write inventory down to its net realizable value.
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Long‑Lived Assets
Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment, including amortization of leasehold improvements, are provided using the straight‑line method
over the following estimated useful lives:
Machinery and equipment
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

2-7
2-5
3-7
Lesser of useful life or term of lease

years
years
years

The Company finances the purchase of certain IT equipment and perpetual software licenses with capital lease arrangements. The assets and liabilities under capital leases are
recorded at the lesser of the present value of aggregate future minimum lease payments, including estimated bargain purchase options, or the fair value of the asset under lease. Assets under
capital leases are depreciated using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease.
Maintenance, repairs and minor renewals are charged directly to expense as incurred. Additions and betterments to property and equipment are capitalized at cost. When the
Company disposes of assets, the applicable costs and accumulated depreciation and amortization thereon are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included in selling,
general and administrative (“SG&A”) expense in the period incurred.
The Company reviews the recoverability of its long‑lived assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be
recoverable. The estimated future cash flows are based upon, among other things, assumptions about expected future operating performance, and may differ from actual cash flows. If the
sum of the projected undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value of the assets, the assets will be written down to the estimated fair value in the period in
which the determination is made. There were no events or changes in circumstances that would indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable during the fiscal years
ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
Intangibles Assets — Acquired in Business Combinations
The Company performs valuations of assets acquired and liabilities assumed on each acquisition accounted for as a business combination and allocates the purchase price
of the acquired business to the respective net tangible and intangible assets. Acquired intangible assets include customer relationships and trade names. The Company determines the
appropriate useful life by performing an analysis of expected cash flows based on historical experience of the acquired businesses. Intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful
lives using the straight-line method which approximates the pattern in which the economic benefits are consumed.
The Company monitors conditions related to these assets to determine whether events and circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining amortization period. The Company tests its
intangible assets with finite lives for potential impairment whenever management concludes events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The original estimate of an asset's useful life and the impact of an event or circumstance on either an asset's useful life or carrying value involve significant judgment.
Product Warranty
The Company accrues an estimate of its exposure to warranty claims based upon both current and historical product sales data and warranty costs incurred. Product warranty
reserves are recorded in other current liabilities.
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Accrued Sales Commissions
As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company accrued sales commissions in other current liabilities of $1,293,000 and $4,555,000, respectively.
Self‑Insurance Liability
The Company is self-insured for employee medical claims, subject to individual and aggregate stop loss policies. The Company estimates a liability for claims filed and incurred
but not reported based upon recent claims experience and an analysis of the average period of time between the occurrence of a claim and the time it is reported to and paid by the Company.
As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company estimated and recorded a self-insurance liability in wages and related accruals of approximately $1,003,000 and $1,133,000, respectively.
Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statement and income tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in
taxable or deductible amounts in the future. The provision for income taxes reflects the taxes to be paid for the period and the change during the period in the deferred income tax assets and
liabilities. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amount of future tax benefit that is more likely than not to be realized. For uncertain tax
positions, the Company determines whether it is “more likely than not” that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the
benefit can be recorded in the financial statements. For those tax positions where it is “not more likely than not” that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized. Where
applicable, associated interest and penalties are also recorded.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the “Tax Act”) was signed into law making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are
not limited to, a corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, repeal of the corporate alternative minimum tax, repeal of the
deduction for domestic production activities, and limitation on the deductibility of certain executive compensation.
In accordance with U.S. GAAP as determined by ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company is required to record the effects of tax law changes in the period enacted. As the Company
has an April 30 fiscal year end, its U.S. federal corporate income tax rate will be blended in fiscal 2018, resulting in a statutory federal rate of approximately 30.4% (eight months at 35%
and four months at 21%), and will be 21% for subsequent fiscal years. The Company remeasured its existing deferred tax assets and liabilities at the rate the Company expects to be in effect
when those deferred taxes will be realized (30.4% if in 2018 or 21% thereafter) and recorded a one-time deferred tax expense of approximately $3,400,000 during the year ended April 30,
2018.
The Company followed the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”), which provides additional clarification regarding the application of ASC Topic 740 in
situations where the Company does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the
Tax Act for the reporting period in which the Act was enacted. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period beginning in the reporting period that includes the Act’s enactment date and
ending when the Company has obtained, prepared, and analyzed the information needed in order to complete the accounting requirements but in no circumstances should the measurement
period extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
The $3,400,000 expense for the one-time deferred tax remeasurement is a provisional estimate of the impact of the Tax Act. In addition, the Company has estimated that it will not
have an income tax payable as a result of the one-time deemed repatriation transition tax on unrepatriated foreign earnings. These amounts are considered provisional because they use
estimates for which final tax computations or returns have not been completed and because estimated amounts may be impacted by future regulatory and accounting guidance if and when
issued.
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The Company’s financial statements do not reflect the impact of certain aspects of the Tax Act as the Company did not have the necessary information available, prepared, or
analyzed (including computations), or because sufficient guidance has not been issued in order to determine an actual or provisional amount for the tax effects of the Act. To date, these
aspects include the new compensation related provisions under section 162(m) and the state income tax conformity to the Tax Act.
Customer Advances and Amounts in Excess of Cost Incurred
The Company receives advances, performance‑based payments and progress payments from customers that may exceed costs incurred on certain contracts, including contracts
with agencies of the U.S. government. These advances are classified as advances from customers and will be offset against billings.
Revenue Recognition
The substantial majority of the Company’s revenue is generated pursuant to written contractual arrangements to design, develop, manufacture and/or modify complex products, and
to provide related engineering, technical and other services according to the specifications of the buyers (customers). These contracts may be fixed‑price or cost‑reimbursable. The
Company considers all contracts for treatment in accordance with authoritative guidance for contracts with multiple deliverables.
Revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting if the deliverables have value to the customer on a stand‑alone basis; there is
objective and reliable evidence of the fair value of the undelivered item(s); and, if the arrangement includes a general right of return, delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is
considered probable and substantially in the control of the vendor. The Company occasionally enters into arrangements that consist of installation and repair contracts associated with
hardware sold by the Company. Such arrangements consist of separate contractual arrangements and are divided into separate units of accounting where the delivered item has value to the
customer on a stand‑alone basis and there is objective and reasonable evidence of the fair value of the installation contract. Consideration is allocated among the separate units of accounting
based on their relative fair values.
Product sales revenue is composed of revenue recognized on contracts for the delivery of production hardware and related activities. Contract services revenue is composed of
revenue recognized on contracts for the provision of services, including repairs, training, engineering design, development and prototyping activities.
Revenue from cost‑plus‑fee contracts are recognized on the basis of costs incurred during the period plus the fee earned. Revenue from fixed‑price contracts are recognized on the
percentage‑of‑completion method. Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance. Unbilled receivables represent costs
incurred and related profit on contracts not yet billed to customers, and are invoiced in subsequent periods.
Product sales revenue is recognized on the percentage‑of‑completion method or upon transfer of title to the customer, which is generally upon shipment. Shipping and handling
costs incurred are included in cost of sales.
Revenue and profits on fixed‑price production contracts, where units are produced and delivered in a continuous or sequential process, are recorded as units are delivered based on
their selling prices (the “units‑of‑delivery method”). Revenue and profits on other fixed‑price contracts with significant engineering as well as production requirements are recorded based
on the ratio of total actual incurred costs to date to the total estimated costs for each contract (the “cost‑to‑cost method”). Accounting for revenue and profits on a fixed‑price contract
requires the preparation of estimates of (1) the total contract revenue, (2) the total costs at completion, which is equal to the sum of the actual incurred costs to date on the contract and the
estimated costs to complete the contract’s statement of work and (3) the measurement of progress towards completion. The estimated profit or loss at completion on a contract is equal to the
difference between the total estimated contract revenue and the total estimated cost at completion. Under the units‑of‑delivery method, sales on a fixed‑price type contract are recorded as
the units are delivered during the period based on their contractual selling prices. Under the cost‑to‑cost method, sales on a fixed‑price type contract are recorded at amounts equal to the
ratio of
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actual cumulative costs incurred divided by total estimated costs at completion, multiplied by (i) the total estimated contract revenue, less (ii) the cumulative sales recognized in prior
periods. The profit recorded on a contract in any period using either the units‑of‑delivery method or cost‑to‑cost method is equal to (i) the current estimated total profit margin multiplied by
the cumulative sales recognized, less (ii) the amount of cumulative profit previously recorded for the contract. In the case of a contract for which the total estimated costs exceed the total
estimated revenue, a loss arises, and a provision for the entire loss is recorded in the period that it becomes evident. The unrecoverable costs on a loss contract that are expected to be
incurred in future periods are recorded in the program cost.
Significant management judgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the recognition of revenue in any accounting period. Material differences in the
amount of revenue in any given period may result if these judgments or estimates prove to be incorrect or if management’s estimates change on the basis of development of the business,
market conditions or other factors. Management judgments and estimates have been applied consistently and have been reliable historically. The Company believes that there are two key
factors which impact the reliability of management’s estimates. The first of those key factors is that the terms of the Company’s contracts are typically less than six months. The short‑term
nature of such contracts reduces the risk that material changes in accounting estimates will occur on the basis of market conditions or other factors. The second key factor is that the
Company has hundreds of contracts in any given accounting period, which reduces the risk that any one change in an accounting estimate on one or several contracts would have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or its two reporting segments’ measures of profit. Changes in estimates are recognized using the cumulative catch‑up method of
accounting. This method recognizes, in the current period, the cumulative effect of the changes on current and prior periods.
Stock‑Based Compensation
Stock‑based compensation is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the
vesting period of the respective award. No compensation cost is ultimately recognized for awards for which employees do not render the requisite service and are forfeited.
Long‑Term Incentive Awards
For long‑term incentive awards outstanding as of April 30, 2018, the awards include time-based awards which vest equally over three years and performance-based awards which
vest based on the achievement of a target payout established at the beginning of each performance period. The actual payout at the end of the performance period is calculated based upon
the Company’s achievement of such targets. Payouts are made in cash and restricted stock units. Upon vesting of the restricted stock units, the Company has the discretion, but not an
obligation, to settle the restricted stock units in cash or stock.
The cash component of the award is accounted for as a liability. The equity component is accounted for as a stock‑based liability, as the restricted stock units may be settled in cash
or stock. At each reporting period, the Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance targets. The estimation of whether the performance targets will be achieved requires
judgment, and, to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the Company’s current estimates, the cumulative effect on current and prior periods of those changes will be
recorded in the period estimates are revised.
Research and Development
Internally funded research and development costs (“IRAD”), sponsored by the Company relate to both U.S. government products and services and those for commercial and
foreign customers. IRAD costs for the Company are recoverable and allocable under government contracts in accordance with U.S. government procurement regulations.
Customer‑funded research and development costs are incurred pursuant to contracts (revenue arrangements) to perform research and development activities according to customer
specifications. These costs are direct contract costs and are expensed to cost of sales when the corresponding revenue is recognized, which is generally as the research and development
services are performed. Revenue from customer‑funded research and development was approximately
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$51,848,000, $43,615,000 and $53,546,000 for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The related cost of sales for customer‑funded research and development totaled
approximately $36,415,000, $29,790,000 and $34,786,000 for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
In January 2017, the Company executed a cost sharing Other Transaction Agreement type contract funded by the US Federal Government to perform certain system design,
development and functional testing activities specific to a new prototype UAS on a best-efforts basis. The total estimated costs of the project are approximately $14,200,000, of which the
Company is responsible for funding $6,100,000. The remaining $8,100,000 will be reimbursed to the Company as the activities are performed. The term of the agreement is through
October 2018. The Company has determined that the contract meets the criteria of ASC 912-730-05 Contractors – Federal Government and, therefore, all reimbursements are recorded as
an offset to research and development expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Reimbursements under the contract were $4,188,000 and $233,000 for the fiscal years ended
April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Lease Accounting
The Company accounts for its leases and subsequent amendments as operating leases or capital leases for financial reporting purposes. Certain operating leases contain rent
escalation clauses, which are recorded on a straight‑line basis over the initial term of the lease with the difference between the rent paid and the straight‑line rent recorded as a deferred rent
liability. Lease incentives received from landlords are recorded as deferred rent liabilities and are amortized on a straight‑line basis over the lease term as a reduction to rent expense.
Deferred rent liabilities were approximately $1,536,000 and $1,719,000 as of April 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
Advertising Costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses included in SG&A expenses were approximately $526,000, $227,000 and $232,000 for the years ended April 30,
2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Foreign Currency Transactions
Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are charged or credited to earnings as incurred. For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, foreign currency transaction
gains and losses that are included in other income (expense) in the accompanying statements of operations were $87,000, $(284,000), and $(63,000), respectively.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share are computed using the weighted‑average number of common shares outstanding and excludes any anti‑dilutive effects of options, restricted stock and
restricted stock units. The dilutive effect of potential common shares outstanding is included in diluted earnings per share.
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The reconciliation of diluted to basic shares is as follows:
Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations attributable to AeroVironment
Discontinued operations, net of tax
Net income attributable to AeroVironment
Denominator for basic earnings per share:
Weighted average common shares
Dilutive effect of employee stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units
Denominator for diluted earnings per share

$
$

22,576,000
(2,508,000)
20,068,000
23,471,241
342,531
23,813,772

$
$

16,633,000
(4,154,000)
12,479,000
23,059,045
248,693
23,307,738

2016

$
$

15,393,000
(6,427,000)
8,966,000
22,936,413
217,080
23,153,493

During the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, certain options, shares of restricted stock and restricted stock units were not included in the computation of diluted earnings
per share because their inclusion would have been anti‑dilutive. The number of options, restricted stock and restricted stock units which met this anti‑dilutive criterion was approximately
22,000, 86,000 and 22,000 for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In July 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of
Inventory. This ASU does not apply to inventory that is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) or the retail inventory method. The amendments apply to all other inventory, which includes
inventory that is measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost. This ASU eliminates from U.S. GAAP the requirement to measure inventory at the lower of cost or market.
Market under the previous requirement could be replacement cost, net realizable value, or net realizable value less a normal profit margin. Entities within the scope of this update will now
be required to measure inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably
predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory using LIFO or the retail inventory method. The Company’s adoption of
ASU 2015-11 effective May 1, 2017 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment, which simplifies the test for
goodwill impairment by removing Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. If goodwill impairment is realized, the amount recognized will be the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized cannot exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. ASU 2017-04 must be applied on a
prospective basis and will become effective for public entities in the first quarter of the year ending July 31, 2020, with early adoption available. The Company elected to early adopt the
standard during the three months ended October 28, 2017. The Company’s adoption of ASU 2017-04 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, Business Combinations – Clarifying the definition of a business (Topic 805). This ASU clarifies the definition of a business with
the objective of providing a more robust framework to evaluate whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. The guidance will be
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that fiscal year, with early adoption permitted. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively to business combinations that occur after the effective date.
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In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (Topic 230). This ASU adds and clarifies
guidance on the classification of certain cash receipts and payments in the statement of cash flows. The guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim
periods therein, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). This ASU requires the lessee to recognize the effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018
and interim periods therein, with early adoption permitted. The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements. The Company currently
does not hold a large number of leases that are classified as operating leases under the existing lease standard, with the only significant leases being the Company’s various property leases.
The Company is evaluating the potential impact of this adoption on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The new standard was originally effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2016 and early adoption was not permitted. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)-Deferral of the Effective
Date. This update approved a one-year delay of the effective date to reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, while permitting companies to voluntarily adopt the new standard
as of the original effective date. Since the issuance of ASU 2014- 09, the FASB has issued several amendments to provide additional supplemental guidance on certain aspects of the
original pronouncement. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenue upon the transfer of goods or services to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
expected to be received. In adopting the guidance, companies are permitted to select between two transition methods: (1) a full retrospective transition method with the application of the
new guidance to each prior reporting period presented, or (2) a retrospective transition method that recognizes the cumulative effect on prior periods at the date of adoption together with
additional footnote disclosures.
Contracts for product deliveries of the Company’s tactical missile systems that have historically recognized revenue as the related products were delivered will recognize revenue
under the new standard over time as costs are incurred. In addition, services performed under contracts for both the Company’s tactical missile systems and small UAS that have historically
recognized revenue upon customer acceptance will recognize revenue under the new standard over time using an appropriate measure of progress, which is generally as costs are incurred.
The new standard will not change the total amount of revenue recognized on these contracts, it will only accelerate the timing of when the revenue is recognized, resulting in an increase to
unbilled receivables. The timing of cost of sales recognition for these contracts will also be accelerated, resulting in a decrease in inventories.
The new standard will not have a significant impact to revenue recognition for product deliveries of the Company’s small UAS family of systems that have historically recognized
revenue as the related products were delivered. Under the new standard the Company will recognize revenue for these contracts at a point in time when the products transfer to the customer.
The new standard will not have a significant impact to revenue recognition for the Company’s customer-funded research and development contracts that we have historically
recognized revenue based on percentage of completion. Under the new standard the Company will recognize revenue for these contracts over time as costs are incurred which approximates
percentage of completion.
The Company is adopting ASU 2014-09 in the first quarter of 2019 using the full retrospective transition method which will require its fiscal year 2016 and 2017 financial
statements to be revised. As described above, certain contracts under the new standard will recognize revenue as costs are incurred (or other appropriate measure of progress as applicable)
as compared to as units are delivered under ASC 605 – Revenue Recognition, which will result in an increase in revenue from continuing operations of approximately $4.2 million in fiscal
year 2017. The revision will also result in a cumulative adjustment from continued operations to increase retained earnings by approximately $0.7 million and $1.8 million for the fiscal
years ended April 30, 2016 and 2017, respectively.
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The majority of the Company’s contracts in its discontinued EES business are product purchase order, bill and ship arrangements that have historically recognized revenue as the
related products were delivered. The Company does not anticipate a significant impact to revenue recognition under the new standard.
Due to the significant amount of revenues that occurred during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, the Company is continuing to assess the impact of adopting the new standard to its
fiscal 2018 financial statements.
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2.

Discontinued Operations

On June 1, 2018, the Company entered into the Purchase Agreement with Webasto pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell, and Webasto agreed to acquire, substantially all of the
assets of the EES Business and to assume certain liabilities related to the EES Business. The Company anticipates that the transaction will close within its first quarter of fiscal 2019. As of
April 30, 2018, the Company determined that the EES Business met the criterion for classification as an asset held for sale and represents a strategic shift in in our operations. Therefore, the
assets and liabilities and the results of operations of the EES Business are reported as discontinued operations for all periods presented. The table below presents the statements of
operations data for the EES Business.
Year Ended April 30,
2017

2018

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross margin:
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Other (expense) income, net
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes
Benefit for income taxes
Net loss from discontinued operations

$

$

37,899
30,890
7,009
7,825
3,526
(27)
(4,369)
(1,861)
(2,508)

$

2016

35,933
29,008
6,925
8,895
4,577
7
(6,540)
(2,386)
(4,154)

$

$

30,360
23,831
6,529
9,614
7,251
28
(10,308)
(3,881)
(6,427)

$

The major classes of assets and liabilities included in discontinued operations related to the EES Business are presented in the table below.
April 30,
2018

Carrying amount of assets classified as discontinued operations
Current assets:
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $139 at April 30, 2018 and $187 at April 30, 2017
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Property and equipment, net
Total current assets classified as discontinued operations
Property and equipment, net
Total non-current assets classified as discontinued operations
Total assets classified as discontinued operations
Carrying amount of liabilities classified as discontinued operations
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Wages and related accruals
Customer advances
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities classified as discontinued operations
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$

$

$

$

2017

6,348
18,716
185
3,100
28,349
—
—
28,349

$

5,121
1,946
918
1,199
9,184
9,184

$

$

$

5,642
19,168
120
—
24,930
3,258
3,258
28,188

4,388
2,019
1,260
1,634
9,301
9,301
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3.

Investments
Investments consist of the following:
April 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Short-term investments:
Held-to-maturity securities:
Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total held-to-maturity and short-term investments
Long-term investments:
Held-to-maturity securities:
Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Total held-to-maturity investments
Available-for-sale securities:
Auction rate securities
Total available-for-sale investments
Total long-term investments

$

$

$

$

35,344
31,620
46,685
—
113,649

$

2,046
27,356
9,112
38,514

$

2,142
2,142
40,656

$

$

47,437
14,515
55,519
2,500
119,971

8,942
22,540
8,117
39,599
2,497
2,497
42,096

Held‑To‑Maturity Securities
As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the balance of held‑to‑maturity securities consisted of state and local government municipal securities, U.S. government securities, corporate bonds
and certificates of deposit. Interest earned from these investments is recorded in interest income.
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The amortized cost, gross unrealized losses, and estimated fair value of the held‑to‑maturity investments as of April 30, are as follows (in thousands):
April 30, 2018
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

Amortized
Cost

Municipal securities
U.S. government securities
Corporate bonds
Certificates of deposit
Total held-to-maturity investments

$

$

37,390
58,976
55,797
—
152,163

$

$

9
—
2
—
11

$

$

(36)
(367)
(71)
—
(474)

Fair
Value

$

$

37,363 $
58,609
55,728
—
151,700 $

April 30, 2017
Gross
Gross
Unrealized
Unrealized
Gains
Losses

Amortized
Cost

56,379
37,055
63,636
2,500
159,570

$

30
2
9
1
42

$

$

$

(21)
(41)
(85)
—
(147)

Fair
Value

$

$

56,388
37,016
63,560
2,501
159,465

The amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s held‑to‑maturity securities by contractual maturity at April 30, 2018, are as follows:
Cost

Due within one year
Due after one year through five years
Total

$
$

113,649
38,514
152,163

Fair Value

$
$

113,443
38,257
151,700

Available‑For‑Sale Securities
Auction Rate Securities
As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the entire balance of available‑for‑sale auction rate securities consisted of two investment grade auction rate municipal bonds with maturities
ranging from 1 to 16 years. These investments have characteristics similar to short‑term investments, because at pre‑determined intervals, generally ranging from 30 to 35 days, there is a
new auction process at which the interest rates for these securities are reset to current interest rates. At the end of such period, the Company chooses to roll‑over its holdings or redeem the
investments for cash. A market maker facilitates the redemption of the securities and the underlying issuers are not required to redeem the investment within 365 days. Interest earned from
these investments is recorded in interest income.
During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2008, the Company began experiencing failed auctions on some of its auction rate securities. A failed auction occurs
when a buyer for the securities cannot be obtained and the market maker does not buy the security for its own account. The Company continues to earn interest on the investments that
failed to settle at auction, at the maximum contractual rate until the next auction occurs. In the event the Company needs to access funds invested in these auction rate securities, the
Company may not be able to liquidate these securities at the fair value recorded on April 30, 2018 until a future auction of these securities is successful or a buyer is found outside of the
auction process.
As a result of the failed auctions, the fair values of these securities are estimated utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis as of April 30, 2018 and 2017. The analysis considers,
among other items, the collateralization underlying the security investments, the creditworthiness of the counterparty, the timing of expected future cash flows, and the expectation of the
next time the security is expected to have a successful auction.
Based on the Company’s ability to access its cash and cash equivalents, expected operating cash flows, and other sources of cash, the Company does not anticipate the current lack
of liquidity on these investments will affect its ability to operate the business in the ordinary course. The Company believes the current lack of liquidity of these investments is temporary
and expects that the securities will be redeemed or refinanced at some point in the future. The
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Company will continue to monitor the value of its auction rate securities at each reporting period for a possible impairment if a further decline in fair value occurs. The auction rate
securities have been in an unrealized loss position for more than 12 months. The Company has the ability and the intent to hold these investments until a recovery of fair value, which may
be maturity and as of April 30, 2018, it did not consider these investments to be other‑than‑temporarily impaired.
The amortized cost, gross unrealized losses, and estimated fair value of the available‑for‑sale auction rate securities are as follows (in thousands):
April 30,
2018

Auction rate securities
Amortized cost
Gross unrealized losses
Fair value

$
$

2,250
(108)
2,142

2017

$
$

2,700
(203)
2,497

The amortized cost and fair value of the Company’s auction rate securities by contractual maturity at April 30, 2018 are as follows (in thousands):
Cost

Due after one through five years
Due after 10 years
Total

$
$

250
2,000
2,250

Fair Value

$
$

252
1,890
2,142

Equity Securities
At April 30, 2015, the entire balance of available-for-sale equity securities consisted of 618,042 CybAero AB (“CybAero”) common shares. The shares were classified as
available-for-sale. These shares were initially acquired on August 11, 2014, when the Company converted a convertible bond into CybAero common shares. The convertible bond was in
the amount of 10 million SEK and was converted into 1,062,699 common shares of CybAero at the conversion price of 9.41 SEK per share. When the Company converted the bond on
August 11, 2014, the fair value per share was 37.50 SEK which became the new cost basis going forward, with all subsequent changes in fair value being recorded to other comprehensive
income.
At August 1, 2015, the Company reviewed these shares for impairment based on criteria that included the extent to which the investment’s carrying value exceeds its related market
value, the duration of the market decline, uncertainty as to the recovery period due to sustained losses of the investee and the Company’s intent to hold its investment until recovery. In the
three months ended August 1, 2015, the Company determined it was in its best interests to liquidate the remaining shares held. As a result, during the three months ended August 1, 2015,
the Company recorded an other-than-temporary-impairment loss of $2,186,000 related to the Company’s investment in the CybAero shares which was recorded to other (expense), net in
the consolidated statement of operations. As a result of recording the impairment charge, the investment’s fair value became its new cost basis.
In August 2015, the Company sold its remaining shares in CybAero in a private sale at the price of 12.00 SEK per share, resulting in proceeds of approximately $777,000. During
the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, the Company realized gains on the sale of CybAero shares of $207,000, based on the difference between the original conversion price of 9.41 SEK per
share and the sales price at the time of sale, inclusive of the final sale of all shares.
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4.

Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy contains three levels as follows:
·

Level 1—Inputs to the valuation based upon quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that are accessible as of the measurement date.

·

Level 2—Inputs to the valuation include quoted prices in either markets that are not active, or in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, inputs other than quoted prices
that are observable, and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data.

·

Level 3—Inputs to the valuation that are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis at April 30, 2018, were as follows (in thousands):
Fair Value Measurement Using
Significant
other
Significant
observable
unobservable
inputs
inputs
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

Quoted prices in
active markets for
identical assets
(Level 1)

Description

Auction rate securities
Total

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

2,142
2,142

Total

$
$

2,142
2,142

The following table provides a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balances of items measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the table above that used significant
unobservable inputs (Level 3) (in thousands):
Fair Value
Measurements Using
Significant
Unobservable Inputs
(Level 3)

Description

Balance at May 1, 2017
Transfers to Level 3
Total gains (realized or unrealized)
Included in earnings
Included in other comprehensive income
Purchases, issuances and settlements, net
Balance at April 30, 2018
The amount of total gains or (losses) for the period included in earnings attributable to the change in unrealized gains
or losses relating to assets still held at April 30, 2018

$

$
$

2,497
—
—
95
(450)
2,142
—

The auction rate securities are valued using a discounted cash flow model. The analysis considers, among other items, the collateralization underlying the security investments, the
creditworthiness of the counterparty, the timing of expected future cash flows, and the estimated date upon which the security is expected to have a successful auction. As of April 30, 2018,
the inputs used in the Company’s discounted cash flow analysis included current coupon rates of 2.8%, estimated redemption periods of 1 to 16 years and discount rates of 3.6% to 9.8%.
The discount rates were based
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on market rates for municipal bond securities, as adjusted for a risk premium to reflect the lack of liquidity of these investments.
5.

Inventories, net
Inventories consist of the following:
April 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

6.

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods
Inventories, gross
Reserve for inventory excess and obsolescence
Inventories, net
Intangibles

$

$

12,020
15,995
14,578
42,593
(3,953)
38,640

$

$

12,664
14,618
16,382
43,664
(2,756)
40,908

Intangibles are included in other assets on the balance sheet. The components of intangibles are as follows:
April 30,
2017

Licenses
Customer relationships
Trademarks and tradenames
Other
Intangibles, gross
Less accumulated amortization
Intangibles, net

$

$

818
1,600
60
3
2,481
(658)
1,823

Impairment
Charges
(In thousands)

$

$

(867)
(32)
(899)

April 30,
2018

$

$

818
733
28
3
1,582
(954)
628

The Company tests identifiable intangible assets and goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year unless there are interim indicators that suggest that it is more
likely than not that either the identifiable intangible assets or goodwill may be impaired. Due to the current political situation within Turkey and the increased uncertainty in the relations
between the U.S. and Turkey, the Company significantly lowered its cash flow expectations for its Altoy operations. As a result of the decline in the Company’s cash flow forecast, the
Company performed an interim assessment of impairment of Altoy’s long-lived assets, excluding goodwill during the three months ended October 28, 2017. Based on the analysis, the
Company determined that the fair value of Altoy had declined below its carrying value, excluding goodwill. As a result, the Company performed an additional analysis to determine the
amount of the impairment loss and recorded an impairment loss totaling $899,000, which is included in selling, general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of
operations. The fair value of the Altoy asset group was determined based on a discounted cash flow model reflective of the revised cash flow estimates.
The weighted average amortization period at April 30, 2018 and 2017 was three years and six years, respectively. Amortization expense for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017
and 2016 was $296,000, $139,000 and $80,000, respectively.
The customer relationships, trademarks and tradenames, and other intangible assets were recognized in conjunction with the Company’s acquisition of a controlling interest in its
Altoy joint venture on February 1, 2017. Refer to Note 19 - Business Combinations for further details.
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Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is as follows:
Year ending
April 30,
(In thousands)

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023

$

275
255
98
—
—
628

$
7.

Property and Equipment, net
Property and equipment, net consist of the following:
April 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment and software
Construction in process
Property and equipment, gross
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
Property and equipment, net

$

$

10,541
40,377
2,094
31,895
3,359
88,266
(69,047)
19,219

$

$

9,506
37,287
1,857
26,682
4,467
79,799
(63,837)
15,962

Depreciation expense for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $5,676,000, $4,939,000 and $3,799,000, respectively. At April 30, 2018 and 2017, property and
equipment includes computer equipment and software under capital leases with a cost basis of $1,836,000 and $1,836,000 and accumulated depreciation of $1,687,000 and $1,433,000,
respectively. Depreciation of computer equipment and software under capital leases was $201,000 and $375,000 for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017 respectively.
8.

Investments in Companies Accounted for Using the Equity Method

In December of 2017, the Company and Softbank formed a joint venture, HAPSMobile. HAPSMobile is a Japanese corporation that is 5% owned by the Company and 95% owned
by SoftBank and is governed by a Joint Venture Agreement (the “JVA”). The Company purchased its 5% stake in HAPSMobile for 210,000,000 yen ($1,860,000) effective as of December
27, 2017 and 150,000,000 yen ($1,407,000) on April 17, 2018. Under the JVA, the Company committed to make an additional capital contribution of 209,500,000 yen (approximately
$1,900,000) in or around January 2019 to maintain its 5% ownership stake. Additionally under the JVA, the Company may purchase additional shares of HAPSMobile, at the same per share
price for the purchase of its original 5% stake, to increase its ownership percentage of HAPSMobile up to 19% prior to the first flight test of the prototype aircraft produced under a design
and development agreement between HAPSMobile and the Company.
As the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of HAPSMobile, the Company’s investment is accounted as an equity
method investment. At April 30, 2018, the Company recorded 5% of the net loss of HAPSMobile, or $1,283,000, in “Equity method investment activity, net of tax” in the
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consolidated statements of income. At April 30, 2018, the carrying value of the investment in HAPSMobile was $2,020,000 and was recorded in “Other assets, long-term.”
In March of 2014, the Company purchased 49% of the outstanding common stock of Altoy, a Turkish corporation founded in February 2014. During the years ended April 30,
2017 and 2016, the Company recorded 49% of the net loss of Altoy, or $119,000 and $138,000, respectively, in “Equity method investment activity, net of tax” in the consolidated
statements of income. At April 30, 2016, the carrying value of the investment in Altoy was $386,000 and was recorded in “Other assets, long‑term.”
On February 1, 2017, the Company acquired an additional 36% interest in Altoy, increasing the Company’s total ownership interest to 85%, for total cash consideration of
$625,000. As a result of the Company obtaining a controlling interest in Altoy, Altoy has been consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of the date of the
acquisition. Refer to Note 19 - Business Acquisitions.
9.

Warranty Reserves
Warranty reserve activity is summarized as follows:
April 30,
2018

2017
(In thousands)

Beginning balance
Warranty expense
Changes in estimates related to pre-existing warranties
Warranty costs settled
Ending balance

$

$

1,947
1,884
—
(1,741)
2,090

$

$

3,094
187
1,651
(2,985)
1,947

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, the Company revised its estimates based on the results of additional engineering studies and recorded incremental warranty reserve
charges totaling $1,651,000 related to the estimated costs to repair a component of certain small UAS that were delivered in prior periods. At April 30, 2018 and 2017, there were zero and
$441,000 remaining estimated warranty costs related to the repair of the impacted small UAS, respectively. As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, a total of $2,198,000 and $1,762,000 of costs
related to this warranty have been incurred, respectively.
10.

Employee Savings Plan

The Company has an employee 401(k) savings plan covering all eligible employees. The Company expensed approximately $2,953,000, $2,603,000 and $2,546,000 in
contributions to the plan for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
11.

Severance Charges

During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, the Company recorded severance costs totaling $1,262,000. Of this total, approximately $850,000 was due to two officers who left the
Company during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017. The remaining severance costs were due to certain strategic headcount reductions consisting entirely of severance payments. Of the
total, approximately $555,000 was recorded to cost of sales and $707,000 was recorded to SG&A. Of the total, approximately $127,000 was in accrued wages and related accruals at April
30, 2017.
During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, the Company made certain strategic headcount reductions with a total cost of approximately $702,000, consisting entirely of severance
payments. The Company recorded this charge during its fourth fiscal quarter ended April 30, 2016. Of the total, approximately $300,000 was recorded to cost of sales and $402,000 was
recorded to SG&A. Of the total, approximately $642,000 was in accrued wages and related accruals at April 30, 2016. All amounts were paid out prior to April 30, 2017.
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12.

Stock‑Based Compensation

For the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded stock‑based compensation expense of approximately $4,956,000, $3,392,000 and $4,002,000,
respectively.
On January 14, 2007, the stockholders of the Company approved the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan, effective January 21, 2007, for officers, directors, key employees
and consultants. On September 29, 2011, the stockholders of the Company approved an amendment and restatement of the 2006 Plan, or Restated 2006 Plan. Under the Restated 2006 Plan,
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation right awards, performance share awards, performance stock unit awards, dividend equivalents
awards, stock payment awards, deferred stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, other stock‑based awards, performance bonus awards or performance‑based awards may be granted at
the discretion of the compensation committee, which consists of outside directors. A maximum of 4,884,157 shares of stock may be issued pursuant to awards under the Restated 2006 Plan.
The maximum number of shares of common stock with respect to one or more awards that may be granted to any one participant during any twelve month period is 2,000,000. A maximum
of $5,000,000 may be paid in cash to any one participant as a performance‑based award during any twelve month period. The exercise price for any incentive stock option shall not be less
than 100% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Vesting of awards is established at the time of grant.
The Company had an equity incentive plan, or 2002 Plan, for officers, directors and key employees. Under the 2002 Plan, incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options
were granted, as determined by the administrator at the time of grant. Stock purchase rights were also granted under the 2002 Plan. Options under the 2002 Plan were granted at their fair
market value (as determined by the board of directors). The options became exercisable at various times over a five-year period from the grant date. The 2002 Plan was terminated on the
effective date of the 2006 Plan. Awards outstanding under the 2002 Plan remain outstanding and exercisable; no additional awards may be made under the 2002 Plan.
The Company had a 1992 nonqualified stock option plan, or 1992 Plan, for certain officers and key employees. Options under the 1992 Plan were granted at their fair market value
(as determined by the board of directors) at the date of grant and became exercisable at various times over a five-year period from the grant date. The 1992 Plan expired in August 2002.
The fair value of stock options granted was estimated at the grant date using the Black‑Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions for the years
ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016:
2018

Expected term (in years)
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected dividend
Weighted average fair value at grant date

$

—
—%
—%
—
—

Year Ended April 30,
2017

$

—
—%
—%
—
—

$

2016

6.00
36.14 %
1.88 %
—
10.18

No options were granted during the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017.
The expected term of stock options represents the weighted average period the Company expects the stock options to remain outstanding, based on the Company’s historical
exercise and post‑vesting cancellation experience and the remaining contractual life of its outstanding options.
The expected volatility is based on historical volatility for the Company’s stock.
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The risk free interest rate is based on the implied yield on a U.S. Treasury zero‑coupon bond with a remaining term that approximates the expected term of the option.
future.

The expected dividend yield of zero reflects that the Company has not paid any cash dividends since inception and does not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable
Information related to the stock option plans at April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, and for the years then ended is as follows:
Restated 2006 Plan
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Shares
Price

Outstanding at April 30, 2015
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Outstanding at April 30, 2016
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Outstanding at April 30, 2017
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled
Outstanding at April 30, 2018
Options exercisable at April 30, 2018

652,117
128,000
(43,000)
(58,318)
678,799
—
(167,310)
(64,865)
446,624
—
(107,598)
—
339,026
256,012

$

23.96
26.83
21.81
25.98
24.46
—
22.32
26.76
24.93
—
23.80
—
25.29
24.81

2002 Plan

Shares

44,993
—
(31,161)
(8)
13,824
—
(9,601)
(4,223)
—
—
—
—
—
—

1992 Plan
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

7.57
—
5.70
2.13
11.79
—
11.79
11.79
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

78,604
—
(10,000)
—
68,604
—
(25,189)
—
43,415
—
(25,113)
—
18,302
18,302

$

0.59
—
0.59
—
0.59
—
0.59
—
0.59
—
0.59
—
0.59
0.59

The total intrinsic value of all options exercised during the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was approximately $2,407,000, $1,747,000, and $1,198,000, respectively.
The intrinsic value of all options outstanding at April 30, 2018 and 2017 was $10,890,000 and $2,840,000, respectively. The intrinsic value of all exercisable options at April 30, 2018 and
2017 was $8,587,000 and $2,454,000, respectively.
A summary of the status of the Company’s non‑vested stock options as of April 30, 2018 and the year then ended is as follows:
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Non-vested Options

Options

Non-vested at April 30, 2017
Granted
Expired
Canceled
Vested
Non-vested at April 30, 2018

140,118
—
—
—
(57,104)
83,014
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Fair Value

$

$

10.76
—
—
—
10.45
10.97
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As of April 30, 2018, there was approximately $7,045,000 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non‑vested share‑based compensation awards granted under the
equity plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over an approximately two‑year period or a weighted average period of approximately 1.9 years.
The weighted average fair value of options issued for the year ended April 30, 2016 was $10.18. No options were granted during the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017.
The total fair value of shares vesting during the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $3,328,000, $2,942,000 and $2,495,000, respectively.
Proceeds from all option exercises under all stock option plans for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 were approximately $2,576,000, $3,863,000 and $1,121,000,
respectively. The tax benefit realized from stock‑based compensation during the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was approximately $0, $0, and $98,000, respectively.
The following tabulation summarizes certain information concerning outstanding and exercisable options at April 30, 2018:

As of
April 30,
2018

Range of Exercise Prices

$

$

0.59
19.17
26.25
27.00
28.00
0.59

-

19.16
26.24
26.99
27.99
32.19
32.19

72,302
58,500
80,000
50,000
96,526
357,328

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life In
Years

Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

4.23
4.86
7.15
5.56
4.59
5.27

$

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

As of
April 30,
2018

13.78
20.54
26.70
27.27
29.90
24.02

72,302
48,500
32,000
40,000
81,512
274,314

$

13.78
20.71
26.70
27.27
29.65
23.20

$

The remaining weighted average contractual life of exercisable options at April 30, 2018 was 4.88 years.
Information related to the Company’s restricted stock awards at April 30, 2018 and for the year then ended is as follows:
Restated 2006 Plan
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Shares
Fair Value

Unvested stock at April 30, 2017
Stock granted
Stock vested
Stock canceled
Unvested stock at April 30, 2018
13.

339,145
131,332
(133,886)
(4,016)
332,575

$

$

Long‑Term Incentive Awards

During the three months ended July 29, 2017, the Company granted awards under its amended and restated 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Restated 2006 Plan”) to key
employees (“Fiscal 2018 LTIP”). Awards under the Fiscal 2018 LTIP consist of: (i) time-based restricted stock awards which vest in equal tranches in July 2018, July 2019 and
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26.27
37.71
25.25
26.10
31.20
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July 2020, and (ii) performance-based restricted stock units (“PRSUs”) which vest based on the Company’s achievement of revenue and operating income targets for the three-year period
ending April 30, 2020. At the award date, target achievement levels for each of the financial performance metrics were established for the PRSUs, at which levels the PRSUs would vest at
100% for each such metric. Threshold achievement levels for which the PRSUs would vest at 50% for each such metric and maximum achievement levels for which such awards would
vest at 200% for each such metric were also established. The actual payout for the PRSUs at the end of the performance period will be calculated based upon the Company’s achievement of
the established revenue and operating income targets for the performance period. Settlement of the PRSUs will be made in fully vested shares of common stock. During the fiscal year
ended April 30, 2018, the Company recorded $269,000 of compensation expense related to the Fiscal 2018 LTIP. At April 30, 2018, the maximum compensation expense that may be
recorded for the performance-based portion of the Fiscal 2018 LTIP is $2,660,000.
During the three months ended July 29, 2017, the Company also granted awards under the Restated 2006 Plan to key employees (“Fiscal 2017 LTIP”). Awards under the Fiscal
2017 LTIP consist of: (i) time-based restricted stock awards which vest in equal tranches in July 2017, July 2018 and July 2019, and (ii) PRSUs which vest based on the Company’s
achievement of revenue and operating income targets for the three-year period ending April 30, 2019. At the award date, target achievement levels for each of the financial performance
metrics were established for the PRSUs, at which levels the PRSUs would vest at 100% for each such metric. Threshold achievement levels for which the PRSUs would vest at 50% for
each such metric and maximum achievement levels for which such awards would vest at 200% for each such metric were also established. The actual payout for the PRSUs at the end of the
performance period will be calculated based upon the Company’s achievement of the established revenue and operating income targets for the performance period. Settlement of the PRSUs
will be made in fully-vested shares of common stock. During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, the Company recorded $159,000 of compensation expense related to the Fiscal 2017
LTIP. At April 30, 2018, the maximum compensation expense that may be recorded for the performance-based portion of the Fiscal 2017 LTIP is $2,440,000.
During the year ended April 30, 2016, the Company granted a three-year performance award under the Restated 2006 Plan to key employees (“Fiscal 2016 LTIP”). The
performance period for each three-year award is the three-year period ending April 30, 2018. A target payout was established at the award date. The actual payout at the end of the
performance period will be calculated based upon the Company’s achievement of revenue and gross margin for the performance period. Payouts will be made in cash and restricted stock
units. Upon vesting of the restricted stock units, the Company has the discretion to settle the restricted stock units in cash or stock. No compensation cost has been recognized for this award
as the Company did not achieve the performance conditions.
At each reporting period, the Company reassesses the probability of achieving the performance targets. The estimation of whether the performance targets will be achieved requires
judgment, and, to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the Company’s current estimates, the cumulative effect on current and prior periods of those changes will be
recorded in the period estimates are revised.
14.

Income Taxes
The components of income before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
2018

Domestic
Foreign
Income from continuing operations before income taxes

$

Equity method investment activity
Total income from continuing operations before income taxes

$

88

Year Ended April 30,
2017

2016

33,854 $
(34)
33,820

20,954 $
(86)
20,868

18,433
81
18,514

(1,283)
32,537 $

(119)
20,749 $

(138)
18,376
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The Company expects any foreign earnings to be reinvested in such foreign jurisdictions and, therefore, no deferred tax liabilities for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings
are recorded. The foreign subsidiaries do not have any undistributed earnings.
A reconciliation of income tax expense computed using the U.S. federal statutory rates to actual income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:
2018

U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit
R&D and other tax credits
Valuation allowance
Foreign rate differential
Uncertain tax position adjustment
Return to provision adjustments
Permanent items
Tax Act
Other
Effective income tax rate

Year Ended April 30,
2017

30.4 %
(2.0)
(6.7)
4.7
0.1
—
(0.1)
(6.9)
10.0
0.6
30.1 %

2016

34.0 %
(1.9)
(11.7)
4.1
—
—
(0.3)
(3.6)
—
(0.8)
19.8 %

35.0 %
(5.3)
(19.2)
7.3
—
—
2.1
(3.1)
—
(0.7)
16.1 %

The components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):
2018

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
$

Total income tax expense (benefit)
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6,363
925
—
7,288
3,272
(331)
(52)
2,889
10,177

Year Ended April 30,
2017

$

$

3,745
215
—
3,960
(66)
279
(35)
178
4,138

2016

$

$

5,388
406
—
5,794
(2,814)
3
—
(2,811)
2,983
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
April 30,
2018

Deferred income tax assets:
Accrued expenses
Allowances, reserves, and other
Unrealized loss on securities
Net operating loss and credit carry-forwards
Intangibles basis
Total deferred income tax assets
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Other
Fixed asset basis
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets

$

2017

5,771
2,100
25
12,361
94
20,351
—
(682)
(682)
(8,568)
11,101

$

$

7,074
1,801
74
11,854
43
20,846
(29)
(428)
(457)
(5,416)
14,973

$

At April 30, 2018 and 2017 the Company recorded a valuation allowance of $8,568,000 and $5,416,000, respectively, against state R&D credits as the Company is currently
generating more tax credits than it will utilize in future years and against foreign net operating losses that are not more likely than not to be utilized. The valuation allowance increased by
$3,152,000 and $905,000 for April 30, 2018 and April 30, 2017, respectively.
At April 30, 2018 the Company had state credit carryforwards of $20,760,000 that do not expire and federal tax credit carryforwards of $5,098,000 that expire in 2035.
At April 30, 2018, the Company had multiple state net operating loss carryforwards and had foreign losses of approximately $10,000 and $1,125,000, respectively. The state net
operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2023. $1,051,000 of the foreign loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2019 with the remainder having an indefinite carryforward.
At April 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company had approximately $11,170,000 and $9,856,000, respectively, of unrecognized tax benefits all of which would impact the Company’s
effective tax rate if recognized. The Company estimates that $411,000 of its unrecognized tax benefits will decrease in the next twelve months due to statute of limitation expiration.
The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s gross unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended April 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):
April 30,
2018

Balance as of May 1
Increases related to prior year tax positions
Decreases related to prior year tax positions
Increases related to current year tax positions
Decreases related to lapsing of statute of limitations
Balance as of April 30,

$

$

90

9,856
228
—
1,347
(261)
11,170

2017

$

$

9,905
3
(26)
901
(927)
9,856
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The Company records interest and penalties on uncertain tax positions to income tax expense. As of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company had accrued approximately $16,000
and $16,000, respectively, of interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions. The Company is currently under audit by various state jurisdictions but does not anticipate any material
adjustments from these examinations. The tax years 2015 to 2017 remain open to examination by the IRS for federal income taxes. The tax years 2011 to 2017 remain open for major state
taxing jurisdictions.
During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018, the Company recorded a reversal of a $261,000 reserve, including the related interest, for uncertain tax positions due to the lapse of
prior year statue.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Act was signed into law making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. Changes include, but are not limited to, a corporate tax rate
decrease from 35% to 21% effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, repeal of the corporate alternative minimum tax, repeal of the deduction for domestic production
activities, and limitation on the deductibility of certain executive compensation.
In accordance with GAAP as determined by ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Company is required to record the effects of tax law changes in the period enacted. As the Company has
a April 30 fiscal year end, its U.S. federal corporate income tax rate will be blended in fiscal 2018, resulting in a statutory federal rate of approximately 30.4% (8 months at 35% and 4
months at 21%), and will be 21% for subsequent fiscal years. The Company remeasured its existing deferred tax assets and liabilities at the rate the Company expects to be in effect when
those deferred taxes will be realized (30.4% if in 2018 or 21% thereafter) and recorded a one-time deferred tax expense of approximately $3,400,000 for fiscal year April 30, 2018.
The Company followed the guidance in SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”), which provides additional clarification regarding the application of ASC Topic 740 in
situations where the Company does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the
Tax Act for the reporting period in which the Act was enacted. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period beginning in the reporting period that includes the Act’s enactment date and
ending when the Company has obtained, prepared, and analyzed the information needed in order to complete the accounting requirements but in no circumstances should the measurement
period extend beyond one year from the enactment date.
The $3,400,000 expense for the one-time deferred tax remeasurement is a provisional estimate of the impact of the Tax Act. In addition, the Company has estimated that it will not
have an income tax payable as a result of the one-time deemed repatriation transition tax on unrepatriated foreign earnings. These amounts are considered provisional because they use
estimates for which final tax computations or returns have not been completed and because estimated amounts may be impacted by future regulatory and accounting guidance if and when
issued.
The Company’s financial statements do not reflect the impact of certain aspects of the Tax Act as the Company did not have the necessary information available, prepared, or
analyzed (including computations), or because sufficient guidance has not been issued in order to determine an actual or provisional amount for the tax effects of the Tax Act. To date, these
aspects include the new state income tax conformity to the Tax Act which the Company is continuing to evaluate the provisions and as a result, has not included an estimate of the tax
expense or benefit related to these items in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2018.
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15.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows (in thousands):
Available-for-Sale
Securities

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss balance as of April 30, 2017
Changes in foreign currency translation adjustments, net of $0 taxes
Unrealized gains, net of $25 of taxes
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss balance as of April 30, 2018

16.

$

(127) $
—
70
(57) $

$

Total Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Foreign Currency
Translation Adjustments

— $
36
—
36 $

Total Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

(127) $
36
70
(21) $

(127)
36
70
(21)

Changes in Accounting Estimates

During the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the Company revised its estimates at completion of various fixed-price contracts which resulted in cumulative catch up
adjustments during the year in which the change in estimate occurred. The change in estimate was a result of the Company changing the total costs required to complete the contracts due to
having more accurate cost information as work progressed in subsequent periods on the various contracts. The changes in estimates resulted in cumulative catch-up adjustments to income
from continuing operations for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016 that were not material.
Refer also to Note 9 – Warranty Reserves for further details of change in warranty estimates during the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017.
17.

Related Party Transactions

Pursuant to a consulting agreement, the Company paid a board member approximately $48,000, $80,000 and $96,000 for fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, for consulting services independent of his board service.
Concurrent with the formation of HAPSMobile, the Company executed a Design and Development Agreement (the “DDA”) with HAPSMobile. Under the DDA, the Company
will use its best efforts, up to a maximum net value of $75,789,000, to design and build prototype solar powered high altitude aircraft and ground control stations for HAPSMobile and
conduct low altitude and high altitude flight tests of the prototype aircraft.
The Company recorded revenue under the DDA and preliminary design agreements between the Company and SoftBank of $29,597,000 for the year ended April 30, 2018. At
April 30, 2018, the Company had unbilled related party receivables from HAPSMobile of $3,145,000 recorded in “Unbilled receivables and retentions” on the consolidated balance sheet.
During the year ended April 30, 2018, the Company purchased a 5% stake in accordance with the JVA. Refer to Note 8 – Equity Method Investments for further details.
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18.

Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments

The Company’s operations are conducted in leased facilities. The Company finances the purchase of certain IT equipment and perpetual software licenses under capital lease
arrangements. Following is a summary of non‑cancelable operating and capital lease commitments:

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
Thereafter

$

$
Less: amounts representing interest
Present value of capital lease obligations
Less: Current portion
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations

April 30, 2018
(In thousands)
Operating leases
Capital leases

4,940 $
4,774
3,872
3,421
2,278
1,914
21,199

$

161
—
—
—
—
—
161
—
161
(161)
—

Rental expense under operating leases was approximately $4,011,000, $3,849,000 and $4,077,000 for the years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Not included in the table above is an additional capital contribution of 209,500,000 yen (approximately $1,900,000) in or around January 2019 required under the Company’s
HAPSMobile Inc. Joint Venture Agreement – refer to footnote 8 – Investments in Companies Accounted for Using the Equity Method.
Contingencies
The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise out of the ordinary course of its business. Although adverse decisions or settlements may occur, the Company,
in consultation with legal counsel, believes that the final disposition of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows of the Company.
At April 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company had outstanding letters of credit totaling $6,389,000 and $1,935,000, respectively.
Contract Cost Audits
Payments to the Company on government cost reimbursable contracts are based on provisional, or estimated indirect rates, which are subject to an annual audit by the Defense
Contract Audit Agency (“DCAA”). The cost audits result in the negotiation and determination of the final indirect cost rates that the Company may use for the period(s) audited. The final
rates, if different from the provisional rates, may create an additional receivable or liability for the Company.
For example, during the course of its audits, the DCAA may question the Company’s incurred costs, and if the DCAA believes the Company has accounted for such costs in a
manner inconsistent with the requirements under Federal Acquisition Regulations, the DCAA auditor may recommend to the Company’s administrative contracting officer to disallow such
costs. Historically, the Company has not experienced material disallowed costs as a result of government audits. However, the Company can provide no assurance that the DCAA or other
government audits will not result in material disallowances for incurred costs in the future.
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The Company’s revenue recognition policy calls for revenue recognized on all cost reimbursable government contracts to be recorded at actual rates unless collectability is not
reasonably assured. During the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017, the Company settled rates for its incurred cost claims with the DCAA for fiscal years 2011 through 2014 without payment
of any consideration. At April 30, 2018, the Company had $77,000 reserved for incurred cost claim audits. At April 30, 2017, the Company had no reserves for incurred cost claim audits.
19.

Business Acquisitions

On February 1, 2017, the Company completed the acquisition of 36% of the common shares of Altoy for cash consideration of $625,000, which increased its interest from 49% to
85% and provided the Company with control over Altoy. As a result, Altoy became a consolidated subsidiary of the Company on the date of the acquisition. Altoy aims to market and
distribute small UAS in Turkey. The Company previously accounted for its 49% interest in Altoy as an equity method investment. As a result of the acquisition, the Company is expected to
expand the sales of its small UAS and related services in Turkey.
The following table summarizes the consideration transferred to acquire Altoy and the amounts of identified assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, as well
as the fair value of the noncontrolling interest in Altoy at the acquisition date (in thousands):
Customer relationships
Goodwill
Trademark and trade names
Deferred tax liability
Other assets and liabilities assumed
Total net identified assets acquired

$

$

Fair value of consideration transferred:
Cash
Fair value of the Company's investment in Altoy prior to the acquisition
Fair value of the noncontrolling interest in Altoy
Total

$

$

1,600
122
60
(332)
286
1,736

625
851
260
1,736

As a result of the Company obtaining control over Altoy, the Company’s previously held 49% interest was remeasured to fair value, resulting in a gain of $584,000 which has been
recognized in “other income (loss), net” on the consolidated statement of income.
The fair value of the noncontrolling interest of $260,000 and the fair value of the previously held equity interest of $851,000 in Altoy, immediately prior to the acquisition, were
estimated by applying an income approach. These fair value measurements of the noncontrolling interest and the previously held equity interest are based on significant inputs not
observable in the market, and thus represent Level 3 measurements.
The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of Altoy and expected future customers in the Turkey market. Goodwill is not tax deductible for tax purposes. All of the goodwill
was assigned to the Company’s UAS segment.
The Company tests identifiable intangible assets and goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of each fiscal year unless there are interim indicators that suggest that it is more
likely than not that either the identifiable intangible assets or goodwill may be impaired. Due to the current political situation within Turkey and the increased uncertainty in the relations
between the U.S. and Turkey, the Company significantly lowered its cash flow expectations for its Altoy operations. As a result of the decline in the Company’s cash flow forecast, the
Company performed an interim assessment of impairment of Altoy’s long-lived assets, excluding goodwill during the three months ended October 28,
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2017. Based on the analysis, the Company determined that the fair value of Altoy had declined below its carrying value, excluding goodwill. As a result, the Company performed additional
analysis to determine the amount of the impairment loss and recorded an impairment loss totaling $899,000 during the three months ended October 28, 2017, which is included in selling,
general and administrative expense on the consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the Altoy asset group was determined based on a discounted cash flow model reflective of
the revised cash flow estimates.
Supplemental Pro Forma Information (unaudited)
Altoy contributed revenues of $0 and a net loss of $122,000 to the Company for the period from February 1, 2017 to April 30, 2017. The following unaudited pro forma summary
presents consolidated information of the Company as if the business combination had occurred on May 1, 2015 (in thousands):
Fiscal year ended April 30,
2017

Revenue
Net income from continuing operations
Net income attributable to AeroVironment

$
$
$

229,287
15,808
15,888

2016

$
$
$

233,941
15,595
15,666

The Company did not have any material, nonrecurring pro forma adjustments directly attributable to the business combination included in the reported pro forma revenue and
earnings.
These pro forma amounts have been calculated after applying the Company’s accounting policies and adjusting the results of Altoy to reflect the additional amortization that would
have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied from May 1, 2015, with the consequential tax effects.
The Company incurred approximately $74,000 of acquisition-related costs. These expenses are included in selling, general and administrative expense on the Company’s
consolidated income statement for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2017 and are reflected in pro forma net income for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2016, in the table above.
The unaudited pro forma supplemental information is based on estimates and assumptions which the Company believes are reasonable and are not necessarily indicative of the
results that have been realized had the acquisitions been consolidated in the tables above as of May 1, 2015.
20.

Geographic Information
Sales to non‑U.S. customers accounted for 46%, 37% and 29% of revenue for each of the fiscal years ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

21.

Subsequent Events

In May 2018 the Company entered into a settlement agreement to dismiss its claims against MicaSense Inc. and former AeroVironment employees, Gabriel Torres, Justin
McAllister, and Jeff McBride. The terms and amount of the settlement agreement are confidential. The settlement has not been recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements as the amount was not realized or realizable as of April 30, 2018.
22.

Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following tables present selected unaudited consolidated financial data for each of the eight quarters in the two‑year period ended April 30, 2018. In the Company’s opinion,
this unaudited information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited information and includes all adjustments (consisting of only normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair
statement of the financial information for the period presented. The Company’s fiscal year ends on
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April 30. Due to the fixed year end date of April 30, the first and fourth quarters each consist of approximately 13 weeks. The second and third quarters each consist of exactly 13 weeks.
The first three quarters end on a Saturday.
Three Months Ended
October 28, 2017
January 27, 2018
(In thousands except per share data)

July 29, 2017

April 30, 2018

Year ended April 30, 2018
Revenue
Gross margin
Net (loss) income from attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations
Net (loss) income per share attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations—basic(5)
Net (loss) income per share attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations—diluted(5)

$
$
$
$
$

36,250
10,095
(3,364)
(0.14)
(0.14)

$
$
$
$
$

63,988
$
28,693
$
6,689 (1) $
0.29
$
0.28
$

53,433
17,920
(960)(2)
(0.05)
(0.05)

$
$
$
$
$

117,381
52,180
20,211
0.86
0.85

Three Months Ended
October 29,
January 28,
2016
2017
(In thousands except per share data)

July 30,
2016

April 30,
2017

Year ended April 30, 2017
Revenue
Gross margin
Net (loss) income from attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations
Net (loss) income per share attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations—basic(5)
Net (loss) income per share attributable to AeroVironment from continuing operations—
diluted(5)

$
$
$
$

30,496
5,905
(8,381)(3)
(0.37)

$
$
$
$

40,829
15,041
(2,603)
(0.11)

$
$
$
$

41,895
16,797
(852)
(0.03)

$
$
$
$

115,720
57,442
28,469 (4)
1.23

$

(0.37)

$

(0.11)

$

(0.03)

$

1.21

(1) Includes an impairment loss of $1.0 million related to the Company’s intangible assets and goodwill acquired in the acquisition of a controlling interest in the Company’s Turkish Joint
Venture, Altoy, recorded to selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations.
(2) Includes a one-time expense of $3.1 million resulting from the remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities related to the Tax Cut and Jobs Act.
(3) Includes the reversal of a $1.0 million reserve, including the related interest, for uncertain tax positions due to the settlement of prior fiscal year tax audits.
(4) Includes a gain of $0.6 million related to the acquisition of a controlling interest in our Turkish Joint Venture, Altoy, which was recorded to other income (expense), net in the
consolidated statement of operations.
(5) Earnings per share is computed independently for each of the quarters presented. The sum of the quarterly earnings per share may not equal the total earnings per share computed for
the year due to rounding.
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SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Charged to
Charged to
Costs and
Other
Expenses
Accounts
(In thousands)

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Description

Allowance for doubtful accounts for the year ended April 30:
2016
2017
2018
Warranty reserve for the year ended April 30:
2016
2017
2018
Reserve for inventory excess and obsolescence for the year ended April 30:
2016
2017
2018
Reserve for self-insured medical claims for the year ended April 30:
2016
2017
2018
97

Balance at
End of
Period

Deductions

$
$
$

224
56
104

$
$
$

158
56
976

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

(326)
(8)
—

$
$
$

56
104
1,080

$
$
$

1,687
3,094
1,947

$
$
$

3,589
1,838
1,884

$
$
$

(424)
—
—

$
$
$

(1,758)
(2,985)
(1,741)

$
$
$

3,094
1,947
2,090

$
$
$

1,826
2,542
2,756

$
$
$

2,762
1,115
2,758

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

(2,046)
(901)
(1,561)

$
$
$

2,542
2,756
3,953

$
$
$

1,053
979
1,133

$
$
$

7,668
7,037
9,100

$
$
$

—
—
—

$
$
$

(7,742)
(6,883)
(9,230)

$
$
$

979
1,133
1,003
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost‑benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. As required by Rule 13a‑15(b) under the
Exchange Act, we have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures. Based on the foregoing, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were operating at a reasonable level.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in
Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15d‑15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and principal financial officers and
effected by our board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
·

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

·

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

·

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our principal executive and financial officers, we assessed our internal control over financial reporting
as of April 30, 2018, based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (COSO). Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over
financial reporting as of April 30, 2018 based on the specified criteria.
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The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2018 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as
stated in their report which is included herein.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Exchange Act
Rules 13a‑15 or 15d‑15 that occurred during the quarter ended April 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, AeroVironment, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2018, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as
of April 30, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended April
30, 2018, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a) and our report dated June 26, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting including in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with
the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods
are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Los Angeles, California
June 26, 2018
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance.
Certain information required by Item 401 and Item 405 of Regulation S‑K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed no later than 120 days after April 30, 2018, and that information is incorporated by reference herein.
Codes of Ethics
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, or Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct is posted on our website, http://investor.avinc.com. We intend to disclose on
our website any amendments to, or waivers of, the Code of Conduct covering our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and/or Controller promptly following the date of such
amendments or waivers. A copy of the Code of Conduct may be obtained upon request, without charge, by contacting our Secretary at (626) 357‑9983 or by writing to us at
AeroVironment, Inc., Attn: Secretary, 800 Royal Oaks Drive, Suite 210, Monrovia, California 91016. The information contained on or connected to our website is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report and should not be considered part of this or any reported filed with the SEC.
No family relationships exist among any of our executive officers or directors.
There have been no material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to our board of directors.
The information required by Item 407(d)(4) and (5) of Regulation S‑K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and that
information is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
The information required by Item 402 and Item 407(e)(4) and (5) of Regulation S‑K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, and that information is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
The information required by Item 201(d) and Item 403 of Regulation S‑K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and that
information is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
The information required by Item 404 and Item 407(a) of Regulation S‑K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and that
information is incorporated by reference herein.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-K will be included in the definitive proxy statement for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and that information is
incorporated by reference herein.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a)

The following are filed as part of this Annual Report:
1. Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statements are included in Item 8:
·

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

·

Consolidated Balance Sheets at April 30, 2018 and 2017

·

Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016

·

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016

·

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016

·

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended April 30, 2018, 2017 and 2016

·

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following Schedule is included in Item 8:
·

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted since the required information is not present, or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the
information required is included in the consolidated financial statements or the Notes thereto.
3. Exhibits
See Item 15(b) of this report below.
(b)

Exhibits
Exhibit
Number

3.1(1)
3.3 (2)
4.1(3)
10.1#(4)
10.2#(3)
10.3#(3)
10.4#(3)
10.5#(3)
10.6#(3)
10.7#(3)

Exhibit

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of AeroVironment, Inc.
Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of AeroVironment, Inc.
Form of AeroVironment, Inc.’s Common Stock Certificate
Form of Director and Executive Officer Indemnification Agreement
AeroVironment, Inc. Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
AeroVironment, Inc. Directors’ Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
Form of Directors’ Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. Directors’ Nonqualified Stock Option Plan
AeroVironment, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan
Form of AeroVironment, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan Stock Option Agreement
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Exhibit
Number

10.8#(3)
10.9#(5)
10.10#(6)
10.11#(3)
10.12#(3)
10.13#(7)
10.14#(2)
10.15#(6)
10.16(8)
10.17(6)
10.18(9)
10.19(9)
10.20(10)
10.21(10)
10.22(10)
10.23(11)
10.24
10.25#(3)
10.26†(12)
10.27†(13)
10.28†(14)
10.29(15)

Exhibit

AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective September 29, 2011
AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective September 30, 2016
Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Form of Performance Based Bonus Award pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Form of Long‑Term Compensation Award Grant Notice and Long‑Term Compensation Award Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive
Plan
Form of Restricted Stock Award Grant Notice and Restricted Stock Award Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan
Form of Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice and Performance Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement pursuant to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006
Equity Incentive Plan
Standard Industrial/Commercial Single‑Tenant Lease, dated February 12, 2007, between AeroVironment, Inc. and OMP Industrial Moreland, LLC, for the property
located at 85 Moreland Road, Simi Valley, California, including the addendum thereto
First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated October 10, 2011 and Second Amendment to Lease Agreement dated June 2, 2017 by and between AeroVironment, Inc.
and Simi Valley-NCR, LLC for the property located at 85 Moreland Road, Simi Valley, California
Standard Industrial/Commercial Single‑Tenant Lease, dated March 3, 2008, between AeroVironment, Inc. and Hillside Associates III, LLC, for the property located
at 900 Enchanted Way, Simi Valley, California, including the addendum thereto
Standard Industrial/Commercial Single‑Tenant Lease, dated April 21, 2008, between AeroVironment, Inc. and Hillside Associates II, LLC, for the property located at
994 Flower Glen Street, Simi Valley, California, including the addendum thereto
First Amendment to Lease Agreement (900 Enchanted Way, Simi Valley, CA 93065) dated as of December 1, 2013, by and between the Company and Hillside
III LLC, and related agreements
First Amendment to Lease Agreement (994 Flower Glen Street, Simi Valley, CA 93065) dated as of December 1, 2013, by and between the Company and Hillside
II LLC, and related agreements
Lease Agreement (996 Flower Glen Street, Simi Valley, CA 93065) dated as of December 1, 2013, by and between the Company and Hillside II LLC, and related
agreements
Standard Multi-Tenant Office Lease — Gross, dated September 24, 2015, between AeroVironment, Inc. and Monrovia Technology Campus LLC for property at 800
Royal Oaks Dr. Monrovia, California, including addendums thereto
Lease dated March 28, 2018 between AeroVironment, Inc. and Princeton Avenue Holdings, LLC for property located at 14501 Princeton Avenue, Moorpark,
California, including addendums thereto
Retiree Medical Plan
Award Contract, dated March 1, 2011, between AeroVironment, Inc. and United States Army Contracting Command
Contract modification P00015 dated September 5, 2013 under the base contract with the US Army Contracting Command—Redstone Arsenal (Missile) dated
August 30, 2012
Contract modification P00074 dated September 27, 2016 under the base contract with the US Army Contracting Command — Redstone Arsenal (Missile) dated
August 30, 2012
Consulting Agreement, dated February 5, 2015, between Jikun Kim and AeroVironment, Inc.
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Exhibit
Number

10.30#(16)
10.31#(17)
10.32(17)
10.33#(18)
10.34(18)
10.35(19)
10.36(4)
10.37#(6)
10.38(4)
10.39(4)
10.40
10.41#(20)
10.42†(20)
10.43†(20)
10.44†(20)
21.1
23.1
24.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Exhibit

Offer Letter, dated June 15, 2015 from AeroVironment, Inc. to Raymond D. Cook
Form of Severance Protection Agreement dated as of December 10, 2015, by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and each non-CEO executive officer
Form of Director Letter Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and each non-employee director
Separation Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Cathleen Cline dated as of April 28, 2016
Consulting Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Cathleen Cline dated as of April 28, 2016
Severance Agreement and General Release by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Raymond Cook dated as of December 19, 2016
Severance Protection Agreement dated as of May 2, 2016, by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Wahid Nawabi
Amended and Restated Severance Protection Agreement dated as of June 26, 2017, by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Teresa Covington
Consulting Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Charles R. Holland executed as of March 7, 2016
Task Order #FY16-001 to Consulting Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Charles R. Holland executed as of March 7, 2016
Amendment No. 1 dated November 28, 2016, Amendment No. 2 dated June 7, 2017, and Amendment No. 3 dated April 23, 2018 to Standard Consulting Agreement
and corresponding Task Orders by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Charles R. Holland
Amended and Restated Severance Protection Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and Melissa Brown dated as of March 5, 2018
Joint Venture Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and SoftBank Corp. dated as of December 1, 2017
Design and Development Agreement by and between AeroVironment, Inc. and HAPSMobile, Inc. dated as of December 27, 2017
Intellectual Property License Agreement by and among AeroVironment, Inc., SoftBank Corp. and HAPSMobile, Inc. dated as of December 27, 2017.
Subsidiaries of AeroVironment, Inc.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm
Power of Attorney (incorporated by reference to the signature page of this Annual Report)
Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a‑14(a) or Rule 15d‑14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a‑14(a) or Rule 15d‑14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

(1)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q filed March 9, 2007 (File No. 001‑33261).

(2)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed July 1, 2015 (File No. 001-33261).

(3)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S‑1 (File No. 333‑137658).
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(4)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10 K filed on June 29, 2016 (File No. 001 33261).

(5)

Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to the Company’s Form 8‑K filed on October 5, 2011 (File No. 001‑33261).

(6)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed June 28, 2017 (File No. 001-33261).

(7)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8‑K filed July 28, 2010 (File No. 001‑33261).

(8)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits on the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K filed June 29, 2007 (File No. 001‑33261).

(9)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K filed June 26, 2008 (File No. 001‑33261).

(10)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q filed March 5, 2014 (File No. 001‑33261).

(11)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed December 9, 2015 (File No. 001-33261).

(12)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10‑K filed on June 21, 2011 (File No. 001‑33261).

(13)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q filed November 27, 2013 (File No. 001‑33261).

(14)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q filed December 7, 2016 (File No. 001 33261).

(15)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8‑K filed February 5, 2015 (File No. 001‑33261).

(16)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 7, 2015 (File No. 001-33261).

(17)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed March 9, 2016 (File No. 001-33261).

(18)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 4, 2016 (File No. 001-33261).

(19)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 20, 2016 (File No. 001-33261).

(20)

Incorporated by reference herein to the exhibits to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed March 7, 2018 (File No. 001-33261).

†

Confidential treatment has been granted for portions of this exhibit.
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#
(c)

Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
Date: June 26, 2018

/s/ Wahid Nawabi
By:Wahid Nawabi
Its: Chief Executive Officer and President
(Principal Executive Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each of the persons whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Wahid Nawabi and Teresa Covington,
each of them acting individually, as his attorney‑in‑fact, each with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10‑K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys‑ in‑fact,
and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises as fully to all intents and purposes as
he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming our signatures as they may be signed by our said attorney‑in‑fact and any and all amendments to this Annual Report on
Form 10‑K.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.
Name

/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Wahid Nawabi

Title

Date

President, Chief
Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

June 26, 2018

/s/ Teresa P. Covington
Teresa P. Covington

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

June 26, 2018

/s/ Timothy E. Conver
Timothy E. Conver

Chairman

June 26, 2018

/s/ Edward R. Muller
Edward R. Muller

Director

June 26, 2018

/s/ Arnold L. Fishman
Arnold L. Fishman

Director

June 26, 2018

/s/ Stephen F. Page
Stephen F. Page

Director

June 26, 2018

/s/ Charles R. Holland
Charles R. Holland

Director

June 26, 2018

/s/ Catharine Merigold
Catharine Merigold

Director

June 26, 2018

/s/ Charles Thomas Burbage
Charles Thomas Burbage

Director

June 26, 2018
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Exhibit 10.24
Basic Lease Information
14501 Princeton Avenue, Moorpark, CA
The following is a summary of lease information that is referred to in the Lease (as defined below). To the extent there is any conflict between the provisions of this summary and any more specific
provision of the Lease, such more specific provision shall control.
LEASE EFFECTIVE DATE:
LANDLORD:
ADDRESS OF LANDLORD:

March 28, 2018
PRINCETON AVENUE HOLDINGS, LLC,
a California limited liability company
c/o Nearon Enterprises
101 Ygnacio Valley Road
Suite 450
Walnut Creek, CA 94596
With a copy to:
CBRE
8521 Fallbrook Avenue, Suite 150
West Hills, CA 91304
Attn: Property Manager

TENANT:
ADDRESS OF TENANT:

AEROVIRONMENT, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
At the Premises
With a copy to:
AeroVironment, Inc.
900 Innovators Way
Simi Valley, CA 93065
Attn: General Counsel

GUARANTOR:

None

PREMISES:

Suite 200, as depicted on Exhibit A-2 attached hereto, containing approximately 94,280 square feet of floor area.

BUILDING:

14501 Princeton Avenue, Moorpark, CA 93021

TERM:
COMMENCEMENT DATE:
EXPIRATION DATE:

Approximately sixty three (63) months, commencing on the Commencement Date, subject to extension in accordance with the Extension
Option for one (1) thirty six (36) month period.
Upon the Substantial Completion of Landlord’s Work.
The last day of the calendar month in which the day that is sixty three (63) months after the Commencement Date occurs.
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BASE RENT:

(i)
For the period commencing on the Commencement Date (subject to
Paragraph 5(d)) through the day immediately preceding the first day of the
calendar month in which the first (1st) annual anniversary of the Commencement
Date occurs (the “1-Year Anniversary”);

$70,710.00 (per month);
$848,520.00 (per year);

(ii)
For the period commencing on the 1‑Year Anniversary through the day
immediately preceding the first day of the calendar month in which the second
(2nd) annual anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the “2‑Year
Anniversary”);

$72,477.75 (per month);
$869,733.00 (per year);

(iii)
For the period commencing on the 2‑Year Anniversary through the day
immediately preceding the first day of the calendar month in which the third (3rd)
annual anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the “3‑Year
Anniversary”);

$74,289.69 (per month);
$891,476.33 (per year);

(iv)
For the period commencing on the 3‑Year Anniversary through the day
immediately preceding the first day of the calendar month in which the fourth
(4th) annual anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the “4‑Year
Anniversary”);

$76,164.94 (per month);
$913,763.23 (per year);

(v)
For the period commencing on the 4‑Year Anniversary through the day
immediately preceding the first day of the calendar month in which the fifth (5th)
annual anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs (the “5‑Year
Anniversary”);

$78,050.61 (per month);
$936,607.31 (per year);

(vi)
For the period commencing on the 5‑Year Anniversary through the day
immediately preceding the last day of the sixty third (63rd) calendar month of the
Term

$80,001.87 (per month);
$90,022.44 (per year);

PERMITTED USE:

Designing, engineering, testing and manufacturing of unmanned aircraft systems, and other related administrative activities as well as
any and all other allowable industrial and/or office uses, subject to Paragraph 6 of the Lease.

TENANT’S PERCENTAGE SHARE:

65.48% (based on a fraction, the numerator of which is the square footage of the Premises (approximately 94,280 square feet), and the
denominator of which is the square footage of the Building (approximately 143,973 square feet)).
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SECURITY DEPOSIT:
UNRESERVED PARKING SPACES
LANDLORD’S BROKER:
TENANT’S BROKER:
ATTACHMENTS:

None.
A number equal to Tenant’s Percentage Share of parking stalls located in the Common Areas adjacent to the Premises in a location to be
agreed by Landlord and Tenant.
Lee & Associates LA North Ventura, Inc.
Cresa.
Exhibit A-1
Exhibit A-2
Exhibit B
Exhibit C
Exhibit D
Exhibit D-1
Exhibit D-2
Exhibit E
Rider No. 1

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

Site Plan
Premises Plan
Operating Expenses and Taxes
Rules And Regulations
Work Letter
Base Landlord Work Space Plan
Full Scope Space Plan
Commencement Letter
Early Termination/Extension Option
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1.

LEASE EFFECTIVE DATE AND PARTIES.

This Lease (this “Lease”) is dated as of the Lease Effective Date provided in the Basic Lease Information, which shall be the date upon which this Lease is fully executed by each of Landlord
and Tenant. PRIOR TO THE DATE THIS LEASE IS EXECUTED BY LANDLORD AND TENANT, THE TERMS OF THIS LEASE SHALL NOT BE BINDING ON LANDLORD OR TENANT
AND, UNTIL SIGNED BY LANDLORD, THIS DOCUMENT SHALL BE CONSTRUED ONLY AS AN OFFER BY TENANT TO LEASE THE PREMISES. UNTIL SIGNED BY LANDLORD,
LANDLORD SHALL HAVE NO OBLIGATION OF ANY KIND TO ANY OF THE PARTIES INVOLVED IN MAKING THIS OFFER TO LEASE THE PREMISES.
This Lease is made and entered into as of the Lease Effective Date provided in the Basic Lease Information by and between Princeton Avenue Holdings, LLC, a California limited liability company
(“Landlord”), and AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant”).
2.

PREMISES, COMMON AREAS AND PARKING.

(a)
Landlord does hereby lease to Tenant, and Tenant does hereby lease from Landlord, for the Term (as defined below) and subject to the covenants and conditions hereinafter set forth, to all of which
Landlord and Tenant agree, those certain premises (“Premises”) identified in the Basic Lease Information and outlined on Exhibit A-2 attached to this Lease and hereby made a part hereof, and located in the
Building identified in the Basic Lease Information. The Premises, the Building, the Common Areas (defined below), the land upon which the same are located, along with all other buildings and improvements
thereon or thereunder, are herein collectively referred to as the “Project” and are depicted on the Site Plan attached as Exhibit A-1 to this Lease and hereby made a part hereof. Tenant shall have the right to use,
in common with others (to the extent not otherwise restricted by this Lease), all areas and facilities inside or outside the Building and/or within the exterior boundary line of the Project that are provided and
designated by Landlord from time to time for the general non-exclusive use of Landlord, Tenant and other occupants of the Project, and their respective employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, contractors
and invitees, including but not limited to the existing parking areas (to the extent not otherwise restricted by this Lease), loading and unloading areas, trash areas, roadways, sidewalks, walkways, ramps,
driveways and landscaped areas (the “Common Areas”). Landlord may add to, remove and/or eliminate Common Areas from time to time in its sole discretion, provided Tenant’s use of and access to the
Premises is not materially adversely affected and Tenant’s parking rights hereunder are not materially diminished. The exterior walls of the Building and any space in the Premises and the ceiling plenum used
for shafts, stacks, pipes, conduits, ducts, electric or other utilities, or other Building facilities, and the use thereof and access thereto through the Premises for the purposes of operation, maintenance and repairs,
are reserved to Landlord.
(b)
The rentable square footage of the Premises and of the Building has been determined in accordance with BOMA’s Standard Method of Measuring Floor Area in Office Buildings (ANSI/BOMA
Z.65.1–1996), as modified by Landlord for uniform use in the Building. Tenant’s Percentage Share has been determined by taking the quotient arrived at by dividing the number of rentable square feet of the
Premises provided in the Basic Lease Information by the number of the rentable square feet of the Building determined in accordance with the BOMA Standard, and multiplying said quotient by 100. Tenant
acknowledges that the rentable square footage under the BOMA Standard includes a common area “load factor” added to the usable square footage of the Premises. The square footage figures contained in this
Lease shall be final and binding on the parties.
(c)
So long as no uncured Event of Default (as defined in Paragraph 17 below) has been declared hereunder and subject to the Project Rules (as defined in Paragraph 8), Tenant shall be entitled to the nonexclusive use of a number of automobile parking spaces equal to Tenant’s Percentage Share located in those portions of the Common Areas designated from time to time by Landlord for parking (the "Parking
Facility"). Tenant shall not use more parking spaces than said number. Said parking spaces may be used for parking (provided, overnight parking is expressly precluded) of Tenant’s trucks, trailers and full-size
passenger automobiles. Tenant shall not permit or allow any vehicles that belong to or are controlled by Tenant or Tenant's employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, contractors or invitees to be loaded,
unloaded, or parked in areas other than those designated by Landlord for such activities. If Tenant permits or allows any of the prohibited activities described in this Lease or in any Project Rules then in effect,
Landlord shall have the right, without notice, in addition to such other rights and remedies that it may have, to remove or tow away the vehicle involved and charge the cost to Tenant, which cost shall be
immediately payable by Tenant upon demand by Landlord. Neither Landlord nor any of Landlord’s employees, agents or
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representatives shall have any liability or responsibility to Tenant or any other party parking in the Parking Facility for any loss or damage that may be occasioned by or may arise out of such parking, including,
without limitation, loss of property or damage to person or property from any cause whatsoever, other than to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. Tenant, in
consideration of the parking privileges hereby conferred on Tenant, waives any and all liabilities against Landlord and any of Landlord’s employees, agents and representative, by reason of occurrences in the
Parking Facility and the driveway access and entrances thereto, other than to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of Landlord’s employees, agents or
representatives. From time to time, Tenant may perform testing activities for unmanned aircraft vehicles and components thereof in the parking lot, but shall not use parking spaces in excess of the amount
allocated to Tenant in this Section 2(c). Tenant shall provide Landlord and other tenants with 2 business days’ prior written notice prior to any testing being performed in the parking lot and will minimize
impacts to other tenants due to testing activity, and any such activity shall be subject to reasonable rules and restrictions as may be required by Landlord, which rules and restrictions shall be mutually agreed
upon by Landlord and Tenant prior any such testing.
(d)

Landlord shall have the right, in Landlord’s sole discretion, from time to time, to:

(i)
Make changes to the Common Areas, including, without limitation, changes in the location, size, shape and appearance thereof, including but not limited to the driveways entrances,
parking spaces, parking areas loading and unloading areas, ingress, egress, direction of traffic, landscaped areas and walkways;
(ii)

Close temporarily any of the Common Areas for maintenance purposes so long as reasonable access to the Premises remains available;

(iii)
Designate other land and improvements outside the boundaries of the Project to be a part of the Common Areas, provided that such other land and improvements have a reasonable
and functional relationship to the Project;
(iv)

Add additional buildings and improvements to the Common Areas;

(v)

Use the Common Areas while engaged in making additional improvements, repairs or alterations to the Project, or any portion thereof; and

(vi)

Perform such other acts and make such other changes in, to or with respect to the Common Areas and Project as Landlord may, in the exercise of sound business judgment deem to be

appropriate.
3.

TERM.

(a)

The term of this Lease (“Term”) shall be for the period identified in the Basic Lease Information. The Term shall commence on the Commencement Date, and shall end on the Expiration Date.

(b)
Landlord and Tenant each shall, promptly after the Commencement Date has been determined, execute and deliver to the other a written statement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E (the
“Commencement Letter”), setting forth (i) the Commencement Date and the Expiration Date; and (ii) the other matters referenced in such Commencement Letter. The enforceability of this Lease shall not be
affected and the term of this Lease shall commence on the Commencement Date and end on the Expiration Date, whether or not the Commencement Letter is executed.
4.

DELIVERY OF POSSESSION.

(a)
Upon Substantial Completion of the Landlord’s Work as set forth in Exhibit D hereto, Landlord shall deliver possession of the Premises to Tenant, and Tenant shall accept the same, in its “AS IS”
condition, subject to all recorded matters and governmental regulations, and without any warranties of any kind, including without limitation, any warranty of condition, or compliance with law, or that the
Premises or any Building Systems (as defined in Paragraph 11(a) below) are suitable for Tenant’s use; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, Landlord shall warrant the Landlord’s Work for a
period of six (6) months after the Commencement Date, and Landlord warrants that, upon delivery of possession of the Premises, that the Premises and restrooms are in compliance with the Federal Americans
with Disabilities Act and applicable municipal code requirements.
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Tenant agrees that, except for the Landlord’s Work set forth in Exhibit D and as otherwise set forth in this Section 4(a), Landlord has no obligation and has made no promise to alter, remodel, improve, or repair
the Premises or any part thereof or to repair, bring into compliance with Applicable Laws, or improve any condition existing in the Premises as of the Commencement Date. Tenant agrees that neither Landlord
nor any of Landlord’s employees or agents has made any representation or warranty as to the present or future suitability of the Premises for the conduct of Tenant’s business therein. Any improvements or
personal property located in the Premises are delivered without any representation or warranty from Landlord, either express or implied, of any kind, including merchantability or suitability for a particular
purpose. Tenant acknowledges that the Premises has not undergone inspection by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp), as defined in California Civil Code Section 55.52, and, except as set forth above in this
Section 4(a), Landlord is not providing any representations or warranties regarding whether the Premises, the Common Area or any other portion of the Project meets all applicable construction-related
accessibility standards. Landlord hereby notifies Tenant pursuant to California Civil Code Section 1938 that: “A Certified Access Specialist (CASp) can inspect the subject premises and determine whether the
subject premises comply with all of the applicable construction-related accessibility standards under state law. Although state law does not require a CASp inspection of the subject premises, the commercial
property owner or lessor may not prohibit the lessee or tenant from obtaining a CASp inspection of the subject premises for the occupancy or potential occupancy of the lessee or tenant, if requested by the
lessee or tenant. The parties shall mutually agree on the arrangements for the time and manner of the CASp inspection, the payment of the fee for the CASp inspection, and the cost of making any repairs
necessary to correct violations of construction-related accessibility standards within the premises.” Landlord and Tenant hereby agree that notwithstanding anything in this Lease or California Civil Code
Section 1938 to the contrary, (i) Tenant may, at its option and at its sole cost, cause a CASp to inspect the Premises and determine whether the Premises complies with all of the applicable construction-related
accessibility standards under state law, (ii) the parties shall mutually coordinate and reasonably approve of the timing of any such CASp inspection so that Landlord may, at its option, have a representative
present during such inspection, and (iii) if Tenant elects to perform a CASp inspection: (A) Tenant shall ensure that such inspection performed shall be limited solely to the Premises and not the Common Areas,
(B) such inspection shall be performed at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, (C) if the CASp inspection finds the Premises (or any other property covered by the inspection) to be non-compliant, then Tenant shall
remedy any violations found to exist at its sole cost and expense and in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Lease by no later than the date that is sixty (60) days after the results of the CASp
inspection are received regardless of whether or not Tenant terminates this Lease pursuant to any termination right set forth herein, if any, and (D) Tenant shall be responsible for obtaining and providing to
Landlord a copy of the CASp compliance certificate confirming the correction of any such violations noted in the CASp inspection report.
(b)
In the event of the inability of Landlord to deliver possession of the Premises at the time for the commencement of the Term for any reason whatsoever, neither Landlord nor its agents shall be liable
for any damage caused thereby, nor shall this Lease thereby become void or voidable, nor shall the Term be in any way extended, but in such event Tenant shall not be liable for any rent until such time as
Landlord can deliver possession. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver to Tenant access to the warehouse portion of the Premises on or before April 30, 2018. Notwithstanding anything
to the contrary in this Lease, if Landlord does not deliver access to the warehouse portion of the Premises by April 30, 2018, and such delay is not attributable to force majeure or Tenant Delay (as defined in
Exhibit D, Section 4), then Tenant shall have the option to terminate this Lease by providing thirty (30) days prior written notice thereof to Landlord; provided that if Landlord delivers access to of the
warehouse portion of the Premises prior to expiration of such thirty (30) day notice period, then such termination election shall be deemed rescinded and null, void and of no force or effect.
5.

RENT.

(a)

Tenant shall pay to Landlord the following amounts as rent for the Premises:

(i)
During the Term, commencing on the Commencement Date, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as base monthly rent, the respective amounts of monthly rent specified in the Basic Lease
Information (the “Base Rent”). If the Commencement Date should occur on a day other than the first day of a calendar month, or if the Expiration Date should occur on a day other than the last day of a
calendar month, then the Base Rent for such fractional month shall be prorated upon a daily basis based upon a thirty (30) day month. Base Rent is due and payable monthly, in advance, on the first day of each
calendar month, except that Tenant shall pay to Landlord an amount equal to Seventy One Thousand Three Hundred Fifteen and 25/100 Dollars ($71,315.25), as prepaid Base Rent to be applied (until
exhausted) against the first obligation of Tenant to pay Base Rent under this Lease. If the
3
AEROVIRONMENT
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE

Commencement Date occurs on a day other than the first day of a calendar month, Base Rent for the period from the Commencement Date through the end of said calendar month shall be due and payable on
the Commencement Date, and the Base Rent payable upon execution of this Lease shall be credited against the Base Rent due for the First Month as of the first day of the First Month.
(ii)
During each calendar year or part thereof, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional monthly rent, Tenant’s Percentage Share (as provided in the Basic Lease Information) of all
Operating Expenses (as defined in Exhibit B hereto) paid or incurred by Landlord in such calendar year or part thereof. Payments on account of Tenant’s Percentage Share of Operating Expenses, determined in
accordance with Paragraph 7(a), are due and payable monthly together with the payment of Base Rent.
(iii)
During each calendar year or part thereof, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional monthly rent, Tenant’s Percentage Share of all Property Taxes (as defined in Exhibit B hereto)
paid or incurred by Landlord in such calendar year or part thereof; provided, however, that Tenant shall not be required to pay any Property Taxes incurred or paid by Landlord during the Term that relate to a
period prior to the Commencement Date. Payments on account of Tenant’s Percentage Share of Property Taxes, determined in accordance with Paragraph 7(a), are due and payable monthly together with the
payment of Base Rent.
(iv)
Throughout the Term, Tenant shall pay, as additional rent, all other amounts of money and charges required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease, whether or not such amounts of
money or charges are designated “additional rent.” As used in this Lease, “rent” shall mean and include all Base Rent, additional monthly rent as described in Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) above, and any other
additional amount payable by Tenant in accordance with this Lease.
(b)
Rent shall be paid to Landlord in lawful money of the United States of America at the following address: Nearon Property Management, 101 Ygnacio Valley Road, Suite 450, Walnut Creek, California
94596, Attn: Property Manager, or at such other place as Landlord may designate in writing in advance, free from all claims, demands, or set-offs against Landlord of any kind or character whatsoever.
(c)
Adjustments in Base Rent specified in the Basic Lease Information shall be determined on a Lease Year basis. As used herein, the term “Lease Year” shall mean a twelve (12) calendar month period;
provided, however that the first Lease Year of the Term shall, except as may otherwise be expressly provided in this Lease, commence on the Commencement Date and run through the day immediately
preceding the first day of the month in which the one year anniversary of the Commencement Date occurs, with each successive Lease Year specified in the Basic Lease Information to run for a period of the
next succeeding twelve (12) months, other than and except for the final Lease Year specified in the Base Lease Information which shall commence as hereinabove provided and which shall run through the
Expiration Date notwithstanding the actual number of days included in said period.
(d)
Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 5(a) above, subject to the terms of this Paragraph 5(d), and conditioned on no Event of Default (as defined in Paragraph 17 below) having been declared
under this lease because of a monetary default by Tenant, Base Rent shall be entirely abated for each of the first (1st), second (2nd) and third (3rd) complete calendar months of the Term (the foregoing months
being the “Rent Abatement Period”). For the avoidance of doubt, the collective amount of Base Rent that shall be abated under the first sentence of this Paragraph 5(d) shall be Two Hundred Thirteen Thousand
Nine Hundred Forty Five and 75/100 Dollars ($213,945.75) (the “Abated Rent”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Event of Default shall at any time be declared under this Lease because of a monetary
default by Tenant, then (i) the foregoing rent abatement shall be deemed revoked, prospectively, as to any period remaining in the Rent Abatement Period, (ii) if Landlord elects to terminate this Lease as a result
of such Event of Default then the unamortized portion of the Abated Rent (i.e., for purposes of such calculation, Abated Rent shall be amortized on a straight-line basis over the initial Term of the Lease and
Tenant shall be credited with having paid the monthly amortized portion of Abated Rent on a monthly basis so that all such Abated Rent shall be credited as paid in full on the expiration of the initial Term of
this Lease) shall become immediately due and payable upon demand by Landlord, and without impairing any other rights and remedies of Landlord resulting from said Event of Default and (ii) notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in the Basic Lease Information, the Base Rent payable by Tenant during the Rent Abatement Period shall be deemed to be Seventy One Thousand Three Hundred Fifteen and
25/100 Dollars ($71,315.25 ) per month.
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6.

USE.

(a)
The Premises shall be used for the purposes identified in the Basic Lease Information (except as limited by Paragraph 6(b) below), and, subject to the terms of this Lease, uses incidental thereto, and
shall be used for no other purpose without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent, provided the same is consistent with the character of the Project, shall not be unreasonably withheld, but shall
otherwise be in the sole discretion of Landlord. Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, in the case of public unrest, a general state of emergency or other circumstances rendering such action
advisable in Landlord’s opinion, Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building during the continuance of the same by such action as Landlord may deem appropriate, including closing doors and
such action shall not relieve Tenant of, or result in any abatement of, any obligations of Tenant under this Lease.
(b)
Tenant shall not use the Premises or permit anything to be done in or about the Premises or the Building or any other portion of the Project which will in any way conflict with any present or future law,
statute, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, requirement, license, permit, certificate, judgment, decree, order or direction of any present or future governmental or quasi-governmental authority, agency,
department, board, panel or court (singularly and collectively “Applicable Laws”). Landlord makes no representation or warranty that the Permitted Use as set forth in the Basic Lease Information is in
compliance with Applicable Laws which govern the Premises or Project, including without limitation any zoning regulations. Tenant shall, at its expense, promptly comply with all Applicable Laws (including,
without limitation, the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act (as it affects Tenant’s operations within the Premises), and with the requirements of any board of fire insurance underwriters or other similar
bodies now or hereafter constituted, relating to or affecting the condition, use or occupancy of the Premises. It is the intent of the parties to allocate to Tenant the cost of compliance of any and all Applicable
Laws, regardless of the existing condition of the Premises, the cost of compliance or the foreseeability of the enactment or application of the Applicable Laws to the Premises. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
Tenant shall not be required to make structural changes to the Premises unless they arise or are required because of or in connection with Tenant’s specific use of the Premises, or the type of business conducted
by Tenant in the Premises, or Tenant’s Alterations, or Tenant’s acts or omissions.
(c)
Supplementing the provisions of Paragraph 6(b) above, Tenant shall not use or permit the generation, possession, storage, use, transportation, or disposal of any Hazardous Substances in, on or from the
Premises, other than the use of any ordinary and customary materials in minimal quantities reasonably required to be used by Tenant in the normal course of Tenant’s business as permitted under the terms of
Paragraph 6(a) above, and so long as such use does not expose the Premises, the Building or any other part of the Project or neighboring properties to any meaningful risk of contamination or damage or expose
Landlord to any liability therefor. The term “Hazardous Substances” as used in this Lease shall mean any product, substance, chemical, material or waste whose presence, nature, quantity and/or intensity of
existence, use, manufacture, disposal, transportation, spill, release or effect, either by itself or in combination with other materials expected to be on the Premises, is either: (i) potentially injurious to the public
health, safety or welfare, the environment or the Premises, or (ii) regulated or monitored by any federal, state or local governmental or quasi-governmental authority, agency, department, board, panel or court
under any Applicable Laws. In addition to, and without limiting, the obligation of Tenant to indemnify Landlord pursuant to this Lease, Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly take all actions
required by any federal, state or local governmental agency or political subdivision, or that Landlord deems necessary for Landlord to make full economic use of the Premises or any portion of the Building,
which requirements or necessity arises from the handling by Tenant or any employee, contractor, agent, or invitee of Hazardous Substances upon, about, above or beneath the Premises or any portion of the
Building, including, without limitation, taking all actions necessary to restore the Premises or any portion of the Building to the condition existing prior to the introduction of Hazardous Substances,
notwithstanding any less stringent standards or remediation allowable under Applicable Laws. Tenant shall nevertheless obtain Landlord’s written approval prior to undertaking any actions required by this
Section, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld so long as such actions would not potentially have a material adverse long-term or short-term effect on the Premises or any portion of the
Building. Landlord shall have the right at all reasonable times to inspect the Premises and to conduct tests and investigations to determine whether Tenant is in compliance with the foregoing provisions, the
costs of all such inspections, tests and investigations to be borne by Landlord unless a noncompliance is discovered, in which event in addition to all other remedies hereunder and at law, Tenant shall reimburse
Landlord for the costs of all such inspections, tests and investigations.
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7.

OPERATING EXPENSES.
The additional monthly rent payable pursuant to Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof shall be calculated and paid in accordance with the following procedures:

(a)
On or before the first day of each calendar year during the Term, or as soon thereafter as practicable, Landlord shall give Tenant written notice of Landlord’s reasonable estimate of the amounts payable
by Tenant under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof for the ensuing calendar year. On or before the first day of each month during such ensuing calendar year, Tenant shall pay to Landlord one-twelfth (1/12th) of
such estimated amounts. If such notice is not given for any calendar year, Tenant shall continue to pay on the basis of the prior year’s estimate until the month after such notice is given, and subsequent
payments by Tenant shall be based on Landlord’s current estimate, adjusted, as determined by Landlord, so that the subsequent monthly installments payable by Tenant hereunder through the end of the calendar
year reimburse Landlord for all amounts payable by Tenant under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof. If at any time it appears to Landlord that the amounts payable under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof for
the current calendar year will vary from Landlord’s estimate, Landlord may, by giving written notice to Tenant, revise Landlord’s estimate for such year, and subsequent payments by Tenant for such year shall
be based on such revised estimate.
(b)
As soon after such date as practicable, Landlord shall give Tenant a written statement of the amounts payable under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof for such calendar year certified by Landlord. If
such statement shows an amount owing by Tenant that is less than the estimated payments for such calendar year previously made by Tenant, provided no Event of Default shall then exist under this Lease or if
this Lease has previously been terminated or the Term expired, no Event of Default shall have existed under this Lease as of said termination or expiration date, Landlord shall, at its option, either refund or
credit the excess to Tenant within thirty (30) days of the date of such statement. If such statement shows an amount owing by Tenant that is more than the estimated payments for such calendar year previously
made by Tenant, Tenant shall pay the deficiency to Landlord within thirty (30) days after delivery of such statement and payment of such deficiency shall be a condition precedent to Tenant’s rights to inspect
Landlord’s books pursuant to Paragraph 7(d) below. Failure by Landlord to give any notice or statement to Tenant under this Paragraph 7 shall not waive Landlord’s right to receive, or Tenant’s obligation to
pay, the amounts payable by Tenant under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof.
(c)
If the Term ends on a day other than the last day of a calendar year, the amounts payable by Tenant under Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof applicable to the calendar year in which such Term ends
shall be prorated according to the ratio which the number of days in such calendar year to and including the end of the Term bears to three hundred sixty (360). Termination of this Lease shall not affect the
obligation of Tenant pursuant to Paragraph 7(b) hereof to be performed after such termination.
(d)
So long as no uncured Event of Default has occurred hereunder, and not more often than once per calendar year, Tenant shall have the right, at its sole cost and expense, to inspect the books of
Landlord directly relating to Operating Expenses and Property Taxes, after giving a minimum of fifteen (15) day’s prior written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall conduct its inspection of Landlord’s books
during the business hours of Landlord at Landlord’s office specified on the Basic Lease Information, for the purpose of verifying the information in such statement. Tenant shall have no right to copy any of
Landlord’s books or remove such books from the location maintained by Landlord. Tenant shall use a certified public accountant with reasonable experience in reviewing such commercial real property
operating expenses and property taxes to conduct its inspection of Landlord’s books and in no event shall Tenant have the right to pay such accountant on a contingency fee basis. If Tenant shall have availed
itself of its right to inspect the books and records, and whether or not Tenant disputes the accuracy of the information set forth in such books and records, Tenant shall nevertheless pay the amount set forth in
Landlord’s statement and continue to pay the amounts required by the provisions of Paragraph 7(b), pending resolution of said dispute. Any default in the payment of such charges by Tenant shall be deemed an
Event of Default (as hereinafter defined) under this Lease. If Tenant’s inspection of Landlord’s books reveals that the aggregate amount of Operating Expenses paid or incurred by Landlord in the calendar year
being reviewed, plus the aggregate amount of Property Taxes paid or incurred by Landlord in the calendar year being reviewed (collectively, the "Reviewed Expenses") are overstated, then Landlord shall within
thirty (30) days after the completion of the inspection elect to either reimburse or credit Tenant for any and all overcharges; or if the Reviewed Expenses for any calendar year are not overstated, then Tenant
shall within thirty (30) days after the completion of the inspection pay to Landlord the amount (if any) by which Tenant has underpaid Tenant’s Share of Operating Expenses and/or Property Taxes for the
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calendar year being reviewed. If Tenant’s inspection of Landlord’s books discloses a liability for a refund in excess of the greater of (i) five percent (5%) of Tenant’s Percentage Share of the Operating Expenses
and Property Taxes previously reported, and (ii) Five Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($5,000.00), the reasonable cost of such inspection (not to exceed $5,000) shall be borne by Landlord; otherwise the cost of
such inspection shall be paid by Tenant. If Tenant fails to notify Landlord of Tenant’s election to inspect Landlord’s books within ninety (90) days of Tenant’s receipt of Landlord’s statement, Landlord’s
statement shall be deemed final and binding on Tenant and Tenant shall have no further right to inspect Landlord's books with respect to the Operating Expenses and Property Taxes for the calendar year for
which the Landlord's statement pertains.
8.

RULES AND REGULATIONS.

Tenant shall faithfully observe and comply with the Rules and Regulations attached to this Lease as Exhibit C and made a part hereof, and such other reasonable rules and regulations as Landlord may
from time to time adopt for the safety, care and cleanliness of the Project, the facilities thereof, or the preservation of good order therein (collectively, the “Project Rules”). Landlord reserves the right from time
to time in its sole discretion to make all reasonable additions and modifications to the Project Rules. Any additions and modifications to the Project Rules shall be binding on Tenant when delivered to
Tenant. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for violation of any such Project Rules, or for the breach of any covenant or condition in any lease, by any other tenant in the Building. In the event of any conflict
between this Lease and the Project Rules, the terms of this Lease shall govern. A waiver by Landlord of any rule or regulation for any other tenant shall not constitute nor be deemed a waiver of the rule or
regulation for this Tenant. Landlord shall enforce the Project Rules against all tenants in a uniform and non-discriminatory manner.
9.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING.

(a)
Tenant shall not assign, mortgage or hypothecate this Lease, or any interest therein, or permit the use of the Premises by any person or persons other than the Tenant, or sublet the Premises, or any part
thereof, without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent, subject to Landlord’s right of termination in accordance with Paragraph 9(b) below, shall not be unreasonably withheld. For purposes of
this Paragraph 9, an assignment shall not include an assignment for security purposes, which shall only be permitted with the prior consent of Landlord in its sole and absolute discretion. Consent to any such
assignment or sublease shall not operate, as a waiver of the necessity for consent to any subsequent assignment or sublease, and the terms of such consent shall be binding upon any person holding by, under or
through Tenant.
(b)
If Tenant desires to assign its interest in this Lease or to sublease all or any part of the Premises, Tenant shall notify Landlord in writing at least thirty (30) days in advance of the proposed
transaction. This notice shall be accompanied by: (i) a statement setting forth the name and business of the proposed assignee or subtenant; (ii) a copy of the proposed form of assignment or sublease (and any
collateral agreements) setting forth all of the material terms and the financial details of the sublease or assignment; and (iii) financial statements and any other information concerning the proposed assignment
or sublease which Landlord may reasonably request. If Tenant proposes to assign this Lease or sublet any portion of the Premises, Landlord shall have the right, in its sole and absolute discretion, to terminate
this Lease in the event of a proposed assignment, or to terminate the effectiveness of this Lease with respect to any portion of the Premises proposed by Tenant for sublease, on written notice to Tenant within
thirty (30) days after receipt of Tenant’s notice and the information described above or the receipt of any additional information requested by Landlord. If Landlord elects to terminate this Lease, in the event of
a proposed assignment, or to terminate the effectiveness of this Lease with respect to any portion of the Premises proposed by Tenant for sublease, this Lease, or the effectiveness of this Lease with respect to
any portion of the Premises proposed by Tenant for sublease, shall terminate as of the effective date of the proposed assignment or commencement of the term of the proposed sublease as set forth in Tenant’s
notice, and Landlord shall have the right (but no obligation) to enter into a direct lease with the proposed assignee or subtenant. Tenant may withdraw its request for Landlord’s consent at any time prior to, or
within seven (7) days after, Landlord delivers a written notice of termination, whereupon Landlord’s election to terminate shall be null and void.
(c)
If Landlord elects not to terminate this Lease, in the event of a proposed assignment, or elects not to terminate the effectiveness of this Lease with respect to any portion of the Premises proposed by
Tenant for sublease, pursuant to Paragraph 9(b) above, Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold its consent to an assignment or subletting.
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(d)
Each permitted assignee, transferee or subtenant, other than Landlord, shall assume and be deemed to have assumed this Lease and shall be and remain liable jointly and severally with Tenant for the
payment of the rent and for the due performance or satisfaction of all of the provision, covenants, conditions and agreements herein contained on Tenant’s part to be performed or satisfied. Regardless of
Landlord’s consent, no subletting or assignment shall release or alter Tenant’s obligation or primary liability to pay the rent and perform all other obligations under this Lease. No permitted assignment or
sublease shall be binding on Landlord unless such assignee, subtenant or Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a counterpart of such assignment or sublease which contains a covenant of assumption by the assignee
or subtenant, but the failure or refusal of the assignee or subtenant to execute such instrument of assumption shall not release or discharge the assignee or subtenant from its liability as set forth above.
(e)
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 9, the assignment or subletting by Tenant of all or any portion of this Lease or the Premises to (i) a parent or subsidiary of Tenant, or (ii) any
person or entity which controls, is controlled by or under common control with Tenant, or (iii) any entity which purchases all or substantially all of the assets of Tenant, or (iv) any entity into which Tenant is
merged or consolidated (all such persons or entities described in (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) being sometimes hereinafter referred to as "Affiliates" or a “Permitted Transferee” and any such assignment or subletting
being a “Permitted Transfer”) shall not be subject to Landlord's prior consent or right to terminate in Subsection 9(b) above or to receive any share of consideration pursuant to Subsection 9(f) below, provided
that:
(1)

any such Affiliate was not formed as a subterfuge to avoid the obligations of this Section 21;

(2)

Tenant gives Landlord notice of any such assignment or sublease to an Affiliate at least ten (10) days prior to the effective date of such assignment or sublease;

(3)
the successor of Tenant and Tenant have as of the effective date of any such assignment or sublease a tangible net worth and net income, in the aggregate, computed in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles (but excluding goodwill as an asset), which is sufficient to meet the Tenant's obligations under this Lease;
(4)
any such assignment or sublease shall be subject and subordinate to all of the terms and provisions of this Lease, and such assignee or sublessee shall assume, in a written document reasonably
satisfactory to Landlord and delivered to Landlord upon or prior to the effective date of such assignment or sublease, all the obligations of Tenant under this Lease with respect to the Premises which is
the subject of such Permitted Transfer (other than the amount of Base Rent or Operating Expenses payable by Tenant with respect to a sublease); and
(5)

Tenant shall remain fully liable for all obligations to be performed by Tenant under this Lease.

(f)
Any notice by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Paragraph 9 of a proposed assignment or sublease shall be accompanied by a payment of One Thousand Dollars ($1,000) as a non-refundable fee for
the processing of Tenant’s request for Landlord’s consent. In addition to said fee, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord for reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred by Landlord in connection with such review and the
preparation of documents in connection therewith. Tenant shall pay to Landlord monthly on or before the first (1st) of each month fifty percent (50%) of the rent or other consideration received from such
assignee(s) or subtenant(s) over and above the concurrent underlying rent payable by Tenant to Landlord for that portion of the Premises being assigned or sublet, and after deduction for the amortized portion
of the reasonable expenses actually paid by Tenant to unrelated third parties for brokerage commissions, legal fees, tenant improvements to the Premises, or design fees incurred as a direct consequence of the
assignment or sublease. Tenant shall furnish Landlord with a true signed copy of such assignment(s) or sublease(s) and any supplementary agreements or amendments thereto, within five (5) days after their
respective execution.
10.

LIABILITY OF LANDLORD.

It is expressly understood and agreed that the obligations of Landlord under this Lease shall be binding upon Landlord and its successors and assigns and any future owner of the Building only with
respect to events occurring during its and their respective ownership of the Building. In the event of any conveyance of title to the Project (or any portion thereof in which the Building is located), then the
grantor or transferor shall be relieved of all liability with respect to Landlord’s obligations to be performed under this Lease after the date of such conveyance.
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In addition, Tenant agrees to look solely to Landlord’s interest in the Building and the rent and other income therefrom and any casualty or condemnation proceeds actually received with respect to the Building
for recovery of any judgment against Landlord arising in connection with this Lease, it being agreed that neither Landlord nor any successor or assign of Landlord nor any future owner of the Building, nor any
partner, shareholder, or officer of any of the foregoing shall ever be personally liable for any such judgment.
11.

MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS.

(a)
Subject to reimbursement pursuant to Paragraph 7 hereof, (i) Landlord shall maintain and repair the Common Areas, the roof, structural and exterior elements of the Building and the mechanical,
electrical, telecommunication, vertical transportation, plumbing, and other equipment, facilities and systems located within or serving the Premises or the Project (collectively, the “Building Systems”), and keep
such areas, elements and systems in good order and condition, consistent with the standards of other comparable buildings in the vicinity of the Building; and (ii) Landlord shall repair and maintain the heating,
ventilating and air conditioning system (the “HVAC”) exclusively servicing the Premises, including contracting with a service company for the service and maintenance thereof. In the event that the HVAC
requires replacement during the Term of this Lease, as determined by Landlord in its reasonable discretion, the cost of such replacement HVAC shall be borne solely by Tenant; provided, however, the cost of
replacement HVAC will be amortized over its useful life in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and Tenant shall only be liable for that portion of the cost that is payable during the Term of
this Lease, as may be extended. Subject to Subsection 14(e) below, any damage in or to any such areas, elements or systems caused by Tenant or any agent, officer, employee, contractor, licensee or invitee of
Tenant shall be repaired by Landlord at Tenant’s expense and Tenant shall pay to Landlord, upon billing by Landlord, as additional rent, the cost of such repairs incurred by Landlord.
(b)
Tenant shall, at all times during the Term of this Lease and at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, maintain and repair the Premises and every part thereof and all equipment (including, without limitation,
any kitchen equipment), and any fixtures and improvements therein, and keep all of the foregoing clean and in good working order and operating condition, ordinary wear and tear and damage thereto by fire or
other casualty excepted. All repairs and replacements made by or on behalf of Tenant shall be made and performed at Tenant’s cost and expense and at such time and in such manner as Landlord may
reasonably designate, by contractors or mechanics reasonably approved by Landlord and so that the same shall be at least equal in quality, value, character and utility to the original work or installation being
repaired or replaced, normal wear and tear excepted. Tenant hereby waives all rights under California Civil Code Section 1941 and all rights to make repairs at the expense of Landlord or in lieu thereof to
vacate the Premises as provided by California Civil Code Section 1942 or any other law, statute or ordinance now or hereafter in effect.
(c)
Tenant’s installation of telephone lines, cables, and other electronic telecommunications services and equipment shall be subject to the terms and conditions of Paragraph 13 of this Lease. Upon the
expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall remove, at its sole cost and expense, all of Tenant’s telecommunications lines and cabling designated by Landlord for removal.
(d)
Tenant shall not alter, modify, add to or disturb any telecommunications wiring or cabling in the Building other than located exclusively in the Premises, without Landlord’s prior written consent. By
its acceptance of possession of the Premises, Tenant shall be deemed to have agreed that the existing number and type of lines designated for service to or presently serving the Premises, as the case may be, is
adequate for Tenant’s occupancy. Any and all telecommunications equipment and cabling serving Tenant and the Premises and connecting to or from the intermediate distribution frame (“IDF”) shall be located
solely in the Premises, and Tenant shall only be permitted to access the IDF with the prior written consent of Landlord and for purposes of confirming interconnection with the Building’s riser
facilities. Landlord reserves the right to limit the number of local exchange carriers and competitive alternative telecommunications providers (collectively “TSPs”) having access to the Building’s riser system
and infrastructure, to install a cable distribution/riser management system to which Tenant and all TSPs shall connect, and to charge TSPs for the use of Landlord’s telecommunications riser system and
infrastructure; provided, however, in all cases, Landlord will provide Building and riser access to at least one TSP for dial tone telecommunications service to tenants of the Building.
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12.

SERVICES.

(a)
Tenant shall make arrangements directly with the applicable utility companies for, and shall pay directly for, all water, gas, heat, light, power, telephone, broadband or cable, security, alarm and other
utilities and services supplied to the Premises or to Tenant, together with any taxes thereon. If any such services are not separately metered to the Premises, Tenant shall pay a reasonable proportion to be
determined by Landlord of all charges jointly metered with other premises in the Building.
(b)
Tenant shall not make connection to utilities except by or through existing outlets and shall not install or use machinery or equipment in or about the Premises that uses water, lighting or power, or
otherwise suffer or permit any act, that causes extra burden upon the utilities or any Building services over that consumed or used by a general industrial tenant in the Building. Landlord may require Tenant to
reimburse Landlord for any excess expenses or costs that may arise out of a breach of this subparagraph by Tenant. Landlord may, in its sole discretion, install at Tenant’s expense supplemental equipment
and/or separate metering applicable to Tenant’s excess usage or loading.
(c)
Tenant acknowledges that Landlord does not provide an attendant, or access control or screening services at the Project, and that access to the Building during other than business hours may be
restricted by “card-key” access through identification cards initially given by Landlord to Tenant. Tenant shall be solely responsible for the distribution and collection of Building access cards to current and
former employees, and shall not distribute such cards to contractors, vendors and other invitees. Responsibility for developing access control and employee and visitor screening procedures and policies with
respect to the Premises is delegated solely to Tenant.
(d)
Tenant shall, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, provide janitorial services to the Premises. All janitorial services shall be of a standard that is substantially equivalent to the services provided in similar
industrial buildings in the City of Moorpark.
(e)
Subject to Landlord’s provision of janitorial services and waste removal for the Common Areas, Tenant shall provide for any necessary additional garbage, waste and refuse removal from the Premises
at its sole cost and expense.
(f)
There shall be no abatement of rent and Landlord shall not be liable in any respect whatsoever for the inadequacy, stoppage, interruption or discontinuance of any utility or service due to riot, strike,
labor dispute, breakdown, accident, repair, in cooperation with governmental request or directions, or any other cause whatsoever, unless caused solely by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord
or its employees or agents. Any interruption or discontinuance of service shall not be deemed an eviction or disturbance of Tenant’s use and possession of the Premises, or any part thereof, nor shall it render
Landlord liable to Tenant for any injury, loss or damage by abatement of rent or otherwise, nor shall it relieve Tenant from performance of Tenant’s obligations under this Lease. Landlord reserves the right,
without liability to Tenant, to limit, restrict or exclude access to the Building or portions of the Project under circumstances that would not otherwise constitute a casualty subject to Paragraph 15, and to
otherwise reduce or disrupt services to the Building due to causes beyond the control of Landlord, including, without limitation, evacuation or damage to any surrounding areas or nearby structures (even when
there is no physical damage to the Building), the presence of biological or other airborne agents in the Building, or instances of public excitement or unrest. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for interference
with Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the Premises as a consequence of such lack of access or services, and any such event shall be treated in the same manner as a utility interruption under this
Paragraph 12(d). Notwithstanding anything in the foregoing to the contrary, if there is an interruption of utility services that results in Tenant’s inability to reasonably use the Premises (and Tenant does not use
the Premises) for more than three (3) consecutive business days, and such interruption results from the gross negligence or misconduct of Landlord or its contractors, then, commencing at the expiration of such
three (3) business day period, then the Base Rent and additional rent shall be abated with respect to the affected portion of Tenant’s Premises from the date of such interruption until the earlier of (i) such
services have been restored, and (ii) Tenant commences use of the Premises; provided that, if such interruption is within Landlord’s reasonable control to restore, Landlord shall promptly commence and
diligently pursue such restoration.
13.

ALTERATIONS.

(a)
Except for non-structural and/or cosmetic changes which do not affect building systems and are not visible from the exterior of the Building (such as paint and carpet) and which do not exceed Fifty
Thousand Dollars
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($50,000.00) per project (“Minor Alterations”) (and which may be made without Landlord’s consent), Tenant shall make no alterations, improvements or additions in or to the Premises or any part thereof
(individually and collectively, “Alterations”) without giving Landlord prior notice of the proposed Alterations and obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent thereto, which consent, except as hereinafter
provided, shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed; provided, however, Landlord may withhold its consent in its sole discretion if any proposed Alterations would adversely affect any of the structural
elements of the Building, the Building’s electrical, plumbing, heating, telecommunications, mechanical or life safety systems, or involve any permanently affixed signage visible from or to be attached to the
exterior of the Premises. Any and all work by Tenant shall be performed only by contractors approved by Landlord and, where the prior consent of Landlord is required, upon the approval by Landlord of fully
detailed and dimensioned plans and specifications pertaining to the work in question, to be prepared and submitted by Tenant at its sole cost and expense. Landlord’s approval or consent to any such work shall
not impose any liability upon Landlord, and no action taken by Landlord in connection with such approval, including, without limitation, attending construction meetings of Tenant’s contractors, shall render
Tenant the agent of Landlord for purposes of constructing any Alterations. In addition, Tenant acknowledges and agrees that no Alterations have been expressly or impliedly required as a condition to the
execution of this Lease for the use of the Premises permitted under this Lease or in lieu of payment of rent.
(b)
Tenant shall at its sole cost and expense obtain all necessary approvals and permits pertaining to any Alterations. Tenant shall be responsible for any additional alterations and improvements required
by law to be made by Landlord to or in the Building as a result of any alterations, additions or improvements to the Premises made by or for Tenant. All alterations, additions, fixtures (other than trade fixtures)
and improvements, including, but not limited to carpeting, other floor coverings, built-in shelving, bookcases, paneling and built-in security systems (excluding any leased system) made in or upon the Premises
either by or for Tenant and affixed to or forming a part of the Premises, shall immediately upon installation become Landlord’s property free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. On or before the expiration
or sooner termination of this Lease, Tenant shall remove all Alterations in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 28 below. At the time Tenant requests Landlord’s approval of the installation or
construction of any Alterations, Landlord shall inform Tenant which Alterations, if any, Landlord shall require to be removed upon the expiration or any sooner termination of this Lease. In the event Landlord
fails to so inform Tenant which Alterations, if any, that Landlord shall require to be removed, then Landlord shall be deemed to have required that all such Alterations be removed upon the expiration or any
sooner termination of this Lease.
(c)
Tenant shall keep the Premises and the Building and the rest of the Project free from any mechanics’ liens, vendors liens or any other liens arising out of any work performed, materials furnished or
obligations incurred by Tenant, and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Landlord from and against any such lien or claim or action thereon, together with costs of suit and reasonable attorneys’ fees
incurred by Landlord in connection with any such claim or action. Before commencing any work or alteration, addition or improvement to the Premises which requires Landlord’s consent, Tenant shall give
Landlord at least ten (10) business days’ written notice of the proposed commencement of work (to afford Landlord an opportunity to post appropriate notices of non-responsibility). In the event that there shall
be recorded against the Premises or the Building or any other portion of the Project, or the property of which the Premises is a part any claim or lien arising out of any such work performed, materials furnished
or obligations incurred by Tenant and such claim or lien shall not be removed, bonded over or discharged by Tenant within ten (10) days of written notice from Landlord, Landlord shall have the right but not
the obligation to pay and discharge said lien by bond or otherwise without regard to whether such lien shall be lawful or correct. Any reasonable costs, including attorney’s fees incurred by Landlord, shall be
paid by Tenant within ten (10) days after demand by Landlord.
(d)
Except in the case of Minor Alterations or other alterations which do not require Landlord’s supervision (which include, but are not limited to, non-structural and/or cosmetic changes which do not
affect building systems), Tenant shall pay to Landlord a project administration fee equal to three percent (3%) of the cost of such Alterations to compensate Landlord for the administrative costs incurred and the
Building services provided by Landlord in the supervision and coordination of the work.
(e)
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Lease, and subject to the following terms and conditions of this Paragraph 13(e), Tenant shall have the right to complete any or all of Tenant
Improvements (as defined below), and obtain reimbursement for the costs and expenses incurred by Tenant in the design, permitting and construction of the Tenant Improvements (the “TI Reimbursement”).
Tenant may also elect to apply all or a
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portion of the TI Reimbursement amount (as set forth in subsection (ii) below) to Tenant’s reimbursement obligations for the Supplemental Landlord Work under Exhibit D, Section 1(b).
(i) “Tenant Improvements” shall include any or all of the following improvements made on or about the Premises at the direction of Tenant.
(ii) The TI Reimbursement shall in no event exceed an amount equal to One Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($150,000.00).
(iii) For the avoidance of doubt, if any of the Tenant Improvements would be considered Alterations under this Lease, then Tenant shall comply with the terms of this Lease related to Alterations,
including, without limitation, obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent thereto (as set forth in Paragraph 13(a) above).
(iv) Landlord will disburse the TI Reimbursement for actual Tenant Improvements within thirty (30) days of Tenant’s completion of such Tenant Improvements, and delivery of the following
material/documents, and provided Tenant is not then in default under any provision of this Lease and has opened for business in the Premises: (i) a contractors lien waiver and release form from its general
contractor certifying that all Tenant Improvements have been paid for in the form of a AIA G706A; (ii) two (2) full sets of as built drawings showing all of the Tenant Improvements in the Premises; (iii)
subcontractor’s and materialmen’s full and complete lien releases for all work performed or materials delivered to the Premises including conditional and unconditional lien releases from all persons arguably
with mechanic’s lien rights; (iv) unconditional lien releases upon final payment; (v) Landlord’s certification that Tenant Improvements complies with the requirements of the Lease and all laws; and (vi) such
other further documentation as reasonably required by Landlord.
(v) All TI Reimbursement Requests must be received by Landlord on or before the end of the sixth (6th) month after the Commencement Date (the “TI Reimbursement Deadline”), and Tenant
hereby waives its right to any TI Reimbursement for which Landlord has not received a TI Reimbursement Request by the TI Reimbursement Deadline.
(vi) Notwithstanding anything in this Lease to the contrary, if any Event of Default (as defined below) has occurred, then, in addition to all other rights and remedies granted to Landlord pursuant
to this Lease, Landlord shall not be obligated to disburse any amount of the TI Reimbursement to Tenant.
14.

INSURANCE, INDEMNIFICATION AND EXCULPATION.

(a)
Tenant shall, at Tenant’s expense, obtain and keep in force during the Term of this Lease a policy of Commercial General Liability insurance utilizing an Insurance Services Office standard form with
Broad Form General Liability Endorsement (CL00011188), or equivalent, in an amount not less than Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) combined single limit per occurrence/aggregate of bodily injury and
property damage, and shall insure Tenant against liability arising out of the use, occupancy or maintenance of the Premises. Landlord, Landlord’s property manager, and any lender(s) whose names have been
provided to Tenant in writing shall be named as additional insureds, as respects the negligence of the Tenant. The policy shall not contain any intra-insured exclusions as between insured persons or
organizations, but shall include coverage for liability assumed under this Lease as an “insured contract” for the performance of Tenant’s indemnity obligations under this Lease. Compliance with the above
requirements shall not, however, limit the liability of Tenant nor relieve Tenant of any obligation hereunder. All insurance to be carried by Tenant shall be primary to and not contributory with any similar
insurance carried by Landlord, whose insurance shall be considered excess insurance only.
(b)
(i)
Tenant at its cost shall either by separate policy or by endorsement to a policy already carried by Tenant, maintain property insurance coverage on all of Tenant’s personal property
and Alterations in, on, or about the Premises. Such insurance shall be full replacement cost coverage. Landlord shall be named as a loss payee under said policy with respect to any permanently affixed
Alterations. The proceeds from any such insurance shall be used by Tenant for the replacement and/or restoration of Tenant’s personal property and Alterations.
(ii)
Tenant shall obtain and maintain loss of income and extra expense insurance in amounts as will reimburse Tenant for direct or indirect loss of earnings attributable to all perils
commonly insured against by
12
AEROVIRONMENT
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE

prudent lessees in the business of Tenant or attributable to prevention of access to the Premises as a result of such perils.
(iii)
Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability insurance covering injury, disease or death of employees in the course of employment. The Workers’ Compensation will meet the
state requirement for coverage and the employers’ liability will have limits not less than $1,000,000. Such policy shall contain an endorsement where the insurer waives its right to subrogation.
(iv)

Business Auto Liability covering owned, non-owned and hired vehicles with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 per accident

(c)
Insurance required hereunder shall be in companies duly licensed to transact business in the state where the Premises are located, and maintaining during the policy term a “General Policyholders
Rating” of at least A, VIII, as set forth in the most current issue of “Best’s Insurance Guide.” Tenant shall cause to be delivered to Landlord, no later than the Commencement Date, and from time to time upon
Landlord’s request certificates evidencing the existence and amounts of, the insurance required to be maintained by Tenant hereunder. No deductible (including any self-insured retention) under any policy of
insurance carried by Tenant shall exceed Twenty Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00). No such policy shall be cancelable except after fifteen (15) days prior written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall within
thirty (30) days after the renewal of such policies, furnish Landlord with evidence of renewals evidencing renewal thereof, or Landlord may order such insurance and charge the cost thereof to Tenant, which
amount shall be payable by Tenant to Landlord upon demand.
(d)

Landlord shall at all times during the Term maintain:
(i)
all-risk property insurance coverage, including equipment breakdown, on the Landlord’s property (including, but not limited to, the Building, improvements, machinery and
equipment and any personal property in the Common Areas) for the full replacement cost thereof and with commercially reasonable deductibles. Landlord shall not be obligated to insure
any furniture, equipment, trade fixtures, machinery, goods, or supplies which Tenant may keep or maintain in the Premises or any Alteration, addition or improvement which Tenant may
make upon the Premises. In addition, Landlord may secure and maintain rental income insurance.
(ii) Commercial general liability insurance with limits not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence and aggregate. Such insurance shall be in addition to, and not in lieu of, insurance required
to be maintained by Tenant. The policy shall (i) name Tenant as additional insured thereunder; and (ii) specifically provide that the insurance afforded by such policy for the benefit of the
additional insured shall be primary, and any insurance carried by the additional insured shall be excess and non-contributing. Such insurance can be included within an umbrella coverage
maintained by Landlord covering additional properties.
(iii) Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability insurance covering injury, disease or death of employees in the course of employment. The Workers’ Compensation will meet the
state requirement for coverage and the employers’ liability will have limits not less than $1,000,000. Such policy shall contain an endorsement where the insurer waives its right to
subrogation. Landlord may elect to self-insure for this coverage, if allowed in the state of operation.

(e)
Without affecting any other rights or remedies of the parties, Tenant and Landlord each hereby agree to cause the insurance companies issuing their respective first party insurance to waive any
subrogation rights that such insurers may have against Landlord and Tenant, respectively, as long as the insurance is not invalidated by such waiver. If such waivers of subrogation are contained in their
respective insurance policies, Landlord and Tenant each waive, release and relieve the other, and waive their entire right to recover damages (whether in contract or in tort) against the other, for loss of or
damage to the waiving party’s property arising out of or incident to the perils required to be insured against under this Paragraph 14.
(f)
Except for instances of Landlord’s negligence or willful misconduct, Tenant shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless the Premises, Landlord, Landlord’s master or ground lessor, any lenders,
Landlord’s partners and members, and each of their officers, directors, shareholders, managers, employees, agents and representatives from and against any and all claims, loss of rents and/or damages, costs,
liens, judgments, penalties,
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permits, attorney’s and consultant’s fees, expenses and/or liabilities arising out of, involving, or in dealing with, (i) the occupancy of the Premises by Tenant, (ii) the conduct of Tenant’s business, (iii) any act,
omission or neglect of Tenant, its agents, contractors, employees or invitees, and/or (iv) any default or breach by Tenant in the performance in a timely manner of any obligation on Tenant’s part to be performed
under this Lease. The foregoing shall include, but not be limited to, the defense or pursuit of any claim or any action or proceeding involved therein, and whether or not (in the case of claims made against
Landlord) litigated and/or reduced to judgment, and whether well founded or not. In case any action or proceeding is brought against Landlord by reason of any of the foregoing matters, Tenant upon notice
from Landlord shall defend the same at Tenant’s expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Landlord and Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in such defense. Landlord need not have first paid any such
claim in order to be so indemnified. The foregoing indemnification obligations shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease to and until the last date permitted by law for the bringing of any
claim with respect to which indemnification may be claimed under this Paragraph 14.
(g)
Except for instances of Tenant’s negligence or willful misconduct, Landlord shall indemnify, protect, defend and hold harmless Tenant, Tenant’s lenders, Tenant’s partners and members, and each of
their officers, directors, shareholders, managers, employees, agents and representatives from and against any and all claims, loss of rents and/or damages, costs, liens, judgments, penalties, permits, attorney’s
and consultant’s fees, expenses and/or liabilities arising out of (i) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, its employees, agents or contractors and/or (ii) any default or breach by the Landlord in
the performance in a timely manner of any obligation on Landlord’s part to be performed under this Lease. In case any action or proceeding is brought against Tenant by reason of any of the foregoing matters,
Landlord upon notice from Tenant shall defend the same at Landlord’s expense by counsel reasonably satisfactory to Tenant and Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord in such defense. Tenant need not have first
paid any such claim in order to be so indemnified. The foregoing indemnification obligations shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease to and until the last date permitted by law for the
bringing of any claim with respect to which indemnification may be claimed under this Paragraph 14.
(h)
Tenant hereby releases Landlord from, and Landlord shall not be liable for, and any all claims for injury or damage to the person or goods, wares, merchandise or other property of Tenant, Tenant’s
employees, contractors, invitees, customers, or any other person in or about the Premises, Building or Project, from any cause, and whether said injury or damage results from conditions arising on the Premises
or on other portions of the Building or Project (including, without limitation the parking facilities), or from other sources or places, and regardless of whether the cause of such damage or injury or the means of
repairing the same is accessible or not, unless caused by the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord or any of its employees, contractors or agents. Landlord shall not be liable for any damages
arising from any act, omission or neglect of any other lessee of Landlord. Notwithstanding Landlord’s active or passive negligence or breach of this Lease, Landlord shall under no circumstances be liable for
injury to Tenant’s business or for any loss of income or profit therefrom.
15.

DESTRUCTION.

(a)
In the event of a partial destruction of the Premises during the Term from any cause, Landlord shall forthwith repair the same (except as otherwise provided in this Paragraph 15 as to a casualty
occurring during the last twelve (12) months of the Term), provided such repairs can be made within one hundred twenty (120) days under the laws and regulations of State, county, federal or municipal
authorities, but such partial destruction shall not annul or void this Lease, except that Tenant shall be entitled to a proportional abatement in rent while such repairs are being made, such proportionate abatement
to be based upon the amount of square footage in the Premises damaged and the length of time said area is not either actually being used by Tenant for business purposes or is not in a condition habitable for
general industrial use. If such repairs cannot be made within one hundred twenty (120) days of such casualty, or if the casualty occurs during the last twelve (12) months of the Term and would result in any rent
abatement for a period greater than thirty (30) days, Landlord may, at its option, elect to make such repairs within a reasonable time, this Lease continuing in full force and effect and the rent to be
proportionately abated as provided hereinabove. In the event that Landlord does not so elect to make such repairs which cannot be made in one hundred twenty (120) days or which results from a casualty
occurring during the last twelve (12) months of the term, within a reasonable time following the casualty (but in no event not less than sixty (60) days), this Lease may be terminated at the option of either
party. In respect to any partial destruction which Landlord is obligated to repair or may elect to repair under the terms of this Paragraph 15, Tenant waives the provisions of California Civil Code
Sections 1932(2) and 1933(4). In the event that any portion of the Building other than the Premises is destroyed to the extent of ten percent (10%) or more of the replacement cost of the
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Building, Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease, whether the Premises be injured or not; provided, however, that if Landlord’s lender makes insurance proceeds available to Landlord in an amount
sufficient to complete restoration of the Building, then Landlord may not terminate this Lease unless the Building is destroyed to the extent of thirty percent (30%) or more of the replacement cost of the
Building. A total destruction of the Building shall terminate this Lease.
(b)
If the Premises are to be repaired or restored by Landlord under this Paragraph 15, Landlord shall repair or restore, at Landlord’s cost, the Premises itself and any and all permanently affixed
improvements in the Premises constructed or provided by Landlord as of the commencement of the Term, together with any permanently affixed Alterations approved by Landlord (unless at the time of
construction Landlord informs Tenant that Tenant will be required to remove the same at the end of the Term). In no event shall Landlord repair, replace or restore any of Tenant’s property.
16.

ENTRY.

Landlord, Landlord’s agents, employees, contractors and designated representatives, and the holders of any mortgages, deeds of trust or ground leases on the Premises shall have the right to enter the
Premises at any time in the case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times upon at least one business day’s prior notice, for the purpose of inspecting the condition of the Premises, performing any
services required of Landlord by this Lease, showing the same to prospective purchasers, lenders or, during the last twelve months of the Term, lessees, making such alterations, repairs and improvements to the
Premises or to the Project as Landlord may deem reasonable or desirable, and for verifying compliance by Tenant with this Lease. Any such entry shall be without any rebate of rent to Tenant for any loss of
occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises, or damage, injury or inconvenience thereby occasioned. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in any such entry into the Premises Landlord shall use commercially
reasonable good faith efforts not to unreasonably disturb Tenant’s business activities conducted within the Premises.
17.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT.

(a)
The occurrence of any one or more of the following events (each, an “Event of Default”) shall constitute a breach of this Lease by Tenant: (i) if Tenant shall default in its obligation to pay any rent or
other payment(s) due hereunder and such failure continues for more than five (5) days after written notice from Landlord; or (ii) if Tenant shall fail to perform or observe any other term hereof (except as
otherwise provided in this Paragraph 17) or of the Project Rules described in Paragraph 8 hereof to be performed or observed by Tenant, such failure shall continue for more than twenty (20) days after notice
thereof from Landlord, and Tenant shall not within such period commence with due diligence and dispatch the curing of such default, or, having so commenced, thereafter shall fail or neglect to prosecute or
complete with due diligence the curing of such default; or (iii) any assignment or subletting in violation of the terms of this Lease; or (iv) the failure of Tenant to maintain insurance coverages required by this
Lease and/or to provide evidence of such coverages within five (5) business days after request therefor from Landlord; or (v) Tenant’s failure to timely execute and deliver, when requested, an estoppel
certificate in accordance with the terms of this Lease; or (vi) the taking of any action leading to, or the actual dissolution or liquidation of Tenant, if Tenant is other than an individual; or (vii) if within sixty (60)
days after the commencement of any proceeding against Tenant seeking any reorganization, arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution or similar relief under any present or future statute,
law or regulation, such proceeding shall not have been dismissed or if this Lease or any estate of Tenant hereunder shall be levied upon under any attachment or execution and such attachment or execution is
not vacated within thirty (30) days after notice to Tenant.
(b)
Any notice required to be given by Landlord under this Lease shall, in each case, be in lieu of, and not in addition to, any notice required to be given under California Code of Civil Procedure Sections
1161 through 1162, or any other applicable unlawful detainer statutes, to the extent the substance thereof is given in compliance therewith and the notice is served as provided in this Lease, and any time periods
provided under such statutes shall run concurrently with the time periods contained in any notice provided under this Lease.
18.

TERMINATION UPON DEFAULT.

In any notice given pursuant to any one or more Events of Default, Landlord in its sole discretion may elect to declare a forfeiture of this Lease as provided in Section 1161 of the California Code of
Civil Procedure, and provided that Landlord’s notice states such an election, Tenant’s right to possession shall terminate and this Lease shall terminate, unless on or before the date specified in such notice all
arrears of rent and all other sums payable by
15
AEROVIRONMENT
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE

Tenant under this Lease, and all costs and expenses incurred by or on behalf of Landlord hereunder, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with such default, shall have been paid by Tenant
and all other breaches of this Lease by Tenant at the time existing shall have been fully remedied to the satisfaction of Landlord. Upon such termination, Landlord may recover from Tenant (a) the worth at the
time of award of the unpaid rent which had been earned at the time of termination; (b) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent which would have been earned after termination
until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rent loss that Tenant proves could reasonably have been avoided; (c) the worth at the time of award of the amount by which the unpaid rent for the balance of
the Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rent loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided; and (d) any other amount necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment
proximately caused by Tenant’s failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom. The “worth at the time of award” of the amount
referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above is computed by allowing interest at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco plus four percent (4%) per annum at date of termination, but in no
event in excess of the maximum rate of interest permitted by law. The worth at the time of award of the amount referred to in clause (c) above is computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the
Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of award plus one percent (1%). For the purpose of determining unpaid rent under clause (c) above, the monthly rent reserved in this Lease shall be deemed
to be the sum of the Base Rent and the amounts last payable by Tenant as reimbursement of expenses pursuant to Paragraphs 5(a)(ii) and (iii) hereof for the calendar year in which Landlord terminated this
Lease as provided herein. Tenant waives any rights of redemption or relief from forfeiture under California Code of Civil Procedure Sections 1174 and 1179, or under any other applicable present or future law,
if Tenant is evicted or Landlord takes possession of the Premises by reason of any Event of Default.
19.

CONTINUATION AFTER DEFAULT.

Even though Tenant has breached this Lease and/or abandoned the Premises, this Lease shall continue in effect for so long as Landlord does not terminate Tenant’s right to possession as provided in
Paragraph 18 hereof, and Landlord may enforce all its rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover rent as it becomes due under this Lease. In such event, Landlord may exercise all of
the rights and remedies of a landlord under Section 1951.4 of the California Civil Code (which provides that a landlord may continue a lease in effect after a tenant’s breach and abandonment and recover rent as
it becomes due, if the tenant has the right to sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations), or any successor statute. Acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to relet the Premises or the
appointment of a receiver upon initiative of Landlord to protect Landlord’s interest under this Lease shall not constitute a termination of Tenant’s right to possession.
20.

OTHER RELIEF.

The remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to any other remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity, by statute or otherwise. Landlord’s failure to take advantage of any default or
breach of covenant on the part of Tenant shall not be, or be construed as a waiver thereof, nor shall any custom or practice which may grow up between the parties in the course of administering this instrument
be construed to waive or to lessen the right of Landlord to insist upon the performance by Tenant of any term, covenant or condition hereof, or to exercise any rights given Landlord on account of any such
default. A waiver of a particular breach or default shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the same or any other subsequent breach or default. The acceptance of rent hereunder shall not be, nor be construed to
be, a waiver of any breach of any term, covenant or condition of this Lease.
In no event shall either party be liable to the other for any punitive or consequential damages, except in the case of a holdover pursuant to Section 29 below and nothing herein shall be construed to
limit a party’s indemnification obligations under this Lease.
21.

ATTORNEYS’ FEES.

If as a result of any breach or default on the part of Tenant under this Lease Landlord uses the services of an attorney in order to secure compliance with this Lease, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord
upon demand as additional rent for reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses incurred by Landlord, whether or not formal legal proceedings are instituted. Should either party bring an action against the other
party, by reason of or alleging the failure of the other party to comply with any or all of its obligations hereunder, or to seek enforcement of any of the terms of this Lease, whether for declaratory or other relief,
then the party which prevails in such action (including those incurred in connection with any matters on appeal) shall be entitled to its reasonable attorneys’ fees, expert witness fees and disbursements, and all
other reasonable costs and expenses related to such action, in addition to all
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other recovery or relief. The “party which prevails in such action” (a) as used in the context of proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court, means the prevailing party in an adversary proceeding or contested matter,
or any other action taken by the non‑bankruptcy party which is reasonably necessary to protect its rights under this Agreement, and (b) as used in the context of proceedings in any court other than the
Bankruptcy Court, shall mean the party that prevails in obtaining a remedy or relief which most nearly reflects the remedy or relief which the party sought, so that, for example, the party which prevails may be
a party which is ordered to pay $100 where the obligation to pay $80 was undisputed and the other party claimed that it was entitled to $1,000.
22.

NOTICES.

All approvals, consents and other notices given by Landlord or Tenant under this Lease shall be properly given only if made in writing and either deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid,
certified with return receipt requested, or delivered by hand (which may be through a messenger or recognized delivery, courier or air express service) and addressed to Landlord at the address of Landlord
specified in the Basic Lease Information or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in a written notice to Tenant, and addressed to Tenant at the address of Tenant specified in the Basic
Lease Information and, after the Commencement Date, at the Premises, together with a copy to such other address as Tenant may from time to time designate in a written notice to Landlord. Such approvals,
consents and other notices shall be effective on the date of receipt (evidenced by the certified mail receipt), if mailed, or on the date of hand delivery, if hand delivered. If any such approval, consent or other
notice is not received or cannot be delivered due to a change in the address of the receiving party of which notice was not previously given to the sending party or due to a refusal to accept by the receiving
party, such request, approval, consent, notice or other communication shall be effective on the date delivery is attempted. Tenant hereby appoints as its agent to receive the service of all default notices and
notice of commencement of unlawful detainer proceedings the person in charge of or apparently in charge of or occupying the Premises at the time, and, if there is no such person, then such service may be
made by attaching the same on the door of the Premises and such service shall be effective for all purposes under this Lease. Landlord shall provide a copy of any such notices at the address indicated on the
23.

EMINENT DOMAIN.

If all or any part of the Premises shall be taken as a result of the exercise of the power of eminent domain or agreement in lieu thereof, this Lease shall terminate as to the part so taken as of the date of
taking, and, in the case of a partial taking of a substantial portion of the Premises, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease as to the balance of the Premises by giving written notice to Tenant within
sixty (60) days after such date. Common Areas taken shall be excluded from the Common Areas usable by Tenant and no reduction of base rent shall occur with respect thereto or by reason thereof. In the
event of any taking, Landlord shall be entitled to any and all compensation, damages, income, rent, awards, or interest therein which may be paid or made in connection therewith, and, except as hereinafter
expressly provided, Tenant waives and relinquishes to Landlord any and all claims for the value of any unexpired Term of this Lease or otherwise. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to
make a separate claim against any such condemning authority for compensation specifically and separately awarded Tenant for Tenant’s personal property and moving costs. In the event of a partial taking of
the Premises which does not result in a termination of this Lease, the Base Rent thereafter to be paid shall be equitably reduced. If all or any part of the Building shall be taken as a result of the exercise of the
power of eminent domain, and, in the case of a partial taking, Landlord determines that the remainder of the Building is not suitable for the continued operation as a multi-tenant industrial building, Landlord
shall have the right to terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Tenant within sixty (60) days of the date when the possession is required. If all or any material part of the Premises shall be taken as a
result of the exercise of the power of eminent domain, and, in the case of a partial taking, Tenant determines in tis good faith, reasonable business judgment that the remainder of the Premises is not suitable for
the Permitted Use, Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Lease by giving written notice to Landlord within sixty (60) days of the date when the possession is required. Without obligation to Tenant,
Landlord may agree to transfer to any condemnor all or any portion of the Project sought by such condemnor, free from this Lease and the rights of Tenant hereunder, without first requiring that any action or
proceeding be instituted or, if instituted, pursued to a judgment. Landlord and Tenant hereby waive the provisions of California Code of Civil Procedure Sections 1265.110 through 1265.160 to the extent that
such provisions are inconsistent with the terms of this Lease.
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24.

LATE CHARGE/RETURNED CHECKS.

Rent or other payments due under this Lease which remain unpaid when due shall bear interest from and after the date said amount was due at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San
Francisco on the date said amount was due, plus four percent (4%) per annum, but in no event in excess of the maximum rate of interest permitted by law. Tenant acknowledges that late payment by Tenant to
Landlord of such rent or other payments will cause Landlord to incur costs not contemplated by this Lease, the exact amount of such costs being extremely difficult and impracticable to fix. Therefore, if on
more than one (1) occasion during any twelve (12) month period during the Term, any installment of rent or other payment due from Tenant is not received by Landlord by the fifth (5th) day of the month when
due, Tenant shall pay to Landlord an additional sum of four percent (4%) of the overdue amount as a late charge. Said late charge shall be due as of the sixth (6th) day of the month in question. If any check for
payment by Tenant to Landlord of Base Rent or other sums due hereunder is returned to Landlord by Tenant’s bank for any reason, a returned check charge (“NSF charge”) will be added in the amount of Fifty
Dollars ($50.00), in addition to any sums due hereunder including late charges, to compensate Landlord for the costs associated with processing such dishonored check. The parties agree that the foregoing late
charges and NSF charge represent a fair and reasonable estimate of the costs Landlord will incur because of said late or dishonored payment. Acceptance of said charges by Landlord shall not constitute a
waiver of Tenant’s default for the overdue amount, nor prevent Landlord from exercising the other rights and remedies granted Landlord under this Lease.
25.

SECURITY DEPOSIT.
Intentionally omitted.

26.

SIGNAGE.

Tenant shall not place or permit to be placed any lights, decorations, banners, signs, window or door lettering, advertising media, or any other item that can be viewed from the exterior of the Premises
without obtaining Landlord’s prior written consent, which may be withheld in Landlord’s sole discretion, and shall be subject to any applicable laws and regulations of the City of Moorpark, Landlord’s signage
program at the Project (if any), and any other covenants, conditions and/or restrictions affecting the Project and/or the Building. If any such items are installed without Landlord’s consent, or are not timely
removed, Landlord shall have the right (but not the obligation) to remove any or all of such items and/or repair any such damage or injury, all at Tenant’s sole cost and expense.
27.

ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE.

Within ten (10) days after notice from Landlord, Tenant shall execute and deliver to Landlord a certificate stating (a) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been
modifications, that this Lease is in full force and effect, as modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification), (b) the date, if any, to which rental and other sums payable hereunder have been paid,
(c) that no notice has been received by Tenant of any default which has not been cured, except as to defaults specified in said certificate and (d) such other matters as may be reasonably requested by
Landlord. In the event Tenant does not respond to Landlord’s request in a timely manner, Landlord may send Tenant a second notice that states that Tenant’s failure to provide the estoppel certificate to
Landlord within three (3) business days after Tenant receives Landlord’s second notice shall be an Event of Default under this Lease and that such failure will be deemed an acknowledgment by Tenant that
statements included in the estoppel certificate are true and correct without exception. Tenant’s failure to timely deliver an estoppel certificate in accordance with this Paragraph 27 shall be deemed an Event of
Default in accordance with Paragraph 17 of this Lease.
28.

SURRENDER.

On or before the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease, Tenant shall remove all of Tenant’s property and all alterations, additions, fixtures and improvements therein or thereto except those
which Landlord has confirmed in writing should be left in place; and fully repair any damage to the Premises, the Building or other portions of the Project caused by the removal of any of the items provided
herein. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, Tenant shall not be required to remove any clean room laboratories which existed on the Premises upon Landlord’s initial delivery of possession
thereof to Tenant, and shall not be financially responsible for Landlord’s removal of any such laboratories after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. Subject to the foregoing, Tenant shall surrender
the Premises at the expiration or earlier termination of the tenancy herein
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created broom clean, and in the same condition as received, reasonable use and wear thereof and damage by the act of God, casualty or by the elements excepted. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease
by Tenant, or a mutual cancellation thereof, shall not work a merger and shall at the option of Landlord, terminate all of any existing subleases or subtenancies, or may, at the option of Landlord, operate as an
assignment to it of any or all such subleases or subtenancies. Tenant’s obligations under this Paragraph 28 shall survive the termination of this Lease.
29.

HOLDING OVER.

If, without objection by Landlord, Tenant holds possession of the Premises after expiration of the Term of this Lease, Tenant shall become a tenant from month to month upon the terms herein specified
but at a Base Rent equal to one hundred fifty percent (150%) of the Base Rent in effect at the expiration of the Term of this Lease, payable in advance on or before the first day of each month. Such month-tomonth tenancy may be terminated by either Landlord or Tenant by giving thirty (30) days’ written notice of termination to the other at any time. If Tenant fails to surrender the Premises upon the expiration or
termination of this Lease except as hereinabove provided, Tenant hereby indemnifies and agrees to hold Landlord harmless from all costs, loss, expense or liability, including without limitation, costs, real estate
brokers claims and attorneys’ fees, arising out of or in connection with any delay by Tenant in surrendering and vacating the Premises, including, without limitation, any claims made by any succeeding tenant
based on any delay and any liabilities arising out of or in connection with these claims. Nothing in this Paragraph 29 shall be deemed to permit Tenant to retain possession of the Premises after the expiration or
sooner termination of the Term.
30.

SUBORDINATION.

Provided Landlord obtains from any applicable lender a commercially reasonable subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreement which provides that Tenant’s occupancy of the Premises
will not be disturbed so long as no Event of Default is continuing, this Lease shall be subordinate to any ground lease, master lease, mortgage, deed of trust, or any other hypothecation for security now or later
placed upon the Building or the Project and to any advances made on the security of it or Landlord’s interest in it, and to all renewals, modifications, consolidations, replacements, and extensions of
it. However, if any mortgagee, trustee, master lease or ground lessor elects to have this Lease prior to the lien of its mortgage or deed of trust or prior to its master lease or ground lease, and gives notice of that
to Tenant, this Lease shall be deemed prior to the mortgage, deed of trust, master lease or ground lease, whether this Lease is dated prior or subsequent to the date of the mortgage, deed of trust, master lease or
ground lease, or the date of recording of it. In the event any mortgage or deed of trust to which this Lease is subordinate is foreclosed or a deed in lieu of foreclosure is given to the mortgagee or beneficiary,
Tenant shall attorn to the purchaser at the foreclosure sale or to the grantee under the deed in lieu of foreclosure. In the event of termination of any master lease or ground lease to which this Lease is
subordinate, Tenant shall attorn to the master lessor or ground lessor. Tenant agrees to execute any documents, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Tenant, required to effectuate the subordination, to
make this Lease prior to the lien of any mortgage or deed of trust, master lease or ground lease, or to evidence the attornment provided such documents affirm Tenant’s tenancy of the Premises will not be
disturbed so long as Tenant is not in default.
31.

INABILITY TO PERFORM.

Neither Landlord nor Tenant shall be in default hereunder nor shall Landlord be liable to Tenant or Tenant be liable to Landlord for any loss or damages if such party is unable to fulfill any of its
obligations, or is delayed in doing so, if the inability or delay is caused by reason of accidents, strike, labor troubles, acts of God, or any other cause, whether similar or dissimilar, which is beyond the
reasonable control of Landlord or Tenant. The foregoing sentence shall not be deemed to apply to Tenant’s obligation to pay rent hereunder.
32.

MISCELLANEOUS.

(a)
The words “Landlord” and “Tenant” as used herein shall include the plural as well as the singular. Words used in masculine gender include the feminine and neuter. If there be more than one Tenant,
the obligations hereunder imposed on Tenant shall be joint and several. Subject to the provisions hereof relating to assignment and subletting, this Lease is intended to and does bind the heirs, executors,
administrators, successors and assigns of any and all of the parties hereto. Each provision of this Lease to be observed or performed by Tenant shall be deemed both a covenant and a condition. Time is of the
essence of this Lease.
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(b)
If Tenant is a corporation or limited liability company, Tenant and each person executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that (a) Tenant is duly incorporated or
formed, as the case may be and validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation or formation, (b) Tenant is qualified to do business in California, (c) Tenant has the full right, power and authority to
enter into this Lease and to perform all of Tenant’s obligations hereunder, and (d) each person signing this Lease on behalf of the corporation or company is duly and validly authorized to do so. If Landlord is
a corporation or limited liability company, Landlord and each person executing this Lease on behalf of Landlord represents and warrants to Tenant that (a) Landlord is duly incorporated or formed, as the case
may be and validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation or formation, (b) Landlord is qualified to do business in California, (c) Landlord has the full right, power and authority to enter into this
Lease and to perform all of Landlord’s obligations hereunder, and (d) each person signing this Lease on behalf of the corporation or company is duly and validly authorized to do so.
(c)
There are no oral agreements between Landlord and Tenant affecting this Lease, and this Lease supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, brochures, agreements and
understandings, if any, between Landlord and Tenant or displayed by Landlord to Tenant with respect to the subject matter of this Lease or the Building or any other portion of the Project. No party has been
induced to enter into this Lease by, nor is any party relying on, any representation or warranty outside those expressly set forth in this Lease. Notwithstanding the preparation of this Lease by Landlord or its
agent, all of the provisions of this Lease have been freely negotiated by the parties hereto, and each of the parties has had the opportunity to be represented by counsel in connection with the negotiation and
execution of this Lease. Accordingly, the parties agree that there shall be no presumption or implication against either party with respect to the meaning or interpretation of this Lease, and any presumption
against the drafter implied by law is hereby waived. Any amendment or modification of this Lease is ineffective to modify, waive, or terminate this Lease, in whole or in part, unless such agreement is in
writing, signed by the parties to this Lease.
(d)
Any provision of this Lease which shall be held invalid, void or illegal shall in no way affect, impair or invalidate any of the other provisions hereof and such other provisions shall remain in full force
and effect.
(e)
The obstruction of Tenant’s view, air, or light by any structure erected in the vicinity of the Building, whether by Landlord or third parties, shall in no way affect this Lease or impose any liability upon
Landlord.
(f)
To the extent permitted by law, Tenant hereby waives trial by jury in any action, proceeding or counterclaim brought by either of the parties hereto on any matters whatsoever arising out of or in any
way connected with this Lease.
(g)

This Lease shall be governed by the laws of the State of California applicable to transactions to be performed wholly therein.

(h)
Tenant acknowledges that the financial capability of Tenant to perform its obligations under this Lease is material to Landlord and that Landlord would not enter into this Lease but for its belief, based
on its review of the financial statements of Tenant and any person guarantying the obligations of Tenant under this Lease delivered to Landlord prior to the Lease Effective Date, that Tenant is capable of
performing such financial obligations. If Tenant ceases filing Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Annual Reports on Form 10-K with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission during the Term, Landlord
may request, and Tenant shall provide Landlord within ten (10) business days of Landlord’s request, Tenant’s and any such guarantor’s current financial statements, and such other information discussing the
financial worth of Tenant and any such guarantor reasonably requested by Landlord, which statements and information Landlord shall use solely for purposes of this Lease and in connection with the ownership,
management, financing and disposition of the Building. Tenant hereby represents, warrants and certifies to Landlord that all financial statements delivered to Landlord by Tenant or such guarantor: (a) are true
and correct in all material respects at the time delivered to Landlord, (b) are prepared in accordance with a recognized standard of accounting consistently applied that fairly presents the financial condition and
results of the operations of Tenant or such guarantor, as applicable, and (c) with respect to any financial statements delivered to Landlord prior to the effective date of this Lease, are true and correct as of the
effective date of this Lease.
(i)
Tenant represents, warrants and covenants that Tenant is in compliance with the requirements of Executive Order No. 13224, 66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (September 25, 2001) (the “Order”), and other similar
requirements contained in the rules and regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset Control, Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”), and in enabling legislation or other Executive Orders in respect thereof (the
Order and such other rules, regulations, legislation or orders are collectively called the “Orders”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant
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represents, warrants and covenants that Tenant: (i) is listed on the Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List maintained by OFAC pursuant to the Order and/or on any other list of terrorists or
terrorist organizations maintained pursuant to any of the rules and regulations of OFAC pursuant to any other applicable Orders (such lists being collectively referred to as the “Lists”); (ii) is a person who has
been determined by competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions contained in the Orders; or (iii) is owned or controlled by, nor acts for or on behalf of, any person on the Lists or any other persons who
have been determined by competent authority to be subject to the prohibitions contained in the Orders. Tenant agrees to execute such certificates as may be reasonably requested by Landlord from time to time
to enable Landlord to comply with the Orders and/or any anti-money laundering laws as relates to this Lease.
33.

BROKER.

Tenant represents and warrants to Landlord that Tenant has had no dealings with any broker, finder, or similar person who is or might be entitled to a commission or other fee in connection with the
execution of this Lease, except for Landlord’s Broker and Tenant’s Broker. Landlord shall pay the commission due Landlord’s Broker and Tenant’s Broker pursuant to a separate agreement between Landlord
and Landlord’s Broker. Landlord and Tenant shall each indemnify, defend, protect and hold the other harmless from and against any and all claims and damages and for any and all costs and expenses
(including reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs) resulting from claims that may be asserted against the other party by any broker, agent or finder not disclosed herein.
34.

ROOF EQUIPMENT.

Subject to Landlord’s approval of the plans and specifications related thereto, Landlord shall permit Tenant to install, operate, maintain and remove at Tenant’s sole expense one or more satellite dishes,
cellular antennae related equipment (each, “Rooftop Equipment”) on the roof of the Building, all in locations mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenant. Any such Rooftop Equipment installed pursuant to
this Section shall be so installed in an aesthetically pleasing manner and Tenant shall exercise all reasonable steps to shield or screen such items from public view so as to minimize any risks that the items create
or constitute a nuisance. Landlord and Tenant agree that the Rooftop Equipment shall constitute an Alteration; provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Lease, (i) removal of the
Rooftop Equipment at the end of the Lease Term shall be governed by the terms of this Section 34; (ii) Landlord shall not be required to maintain property insurance covering loss of the Rooftop Equipment;
and (iii) Tenant shall not be required to pay any supervisory or other construction fee to Landlord or Landlord’s property manager in connection with installation or removal of the Rooftop Equipment. Landlord
makes no warranties or representations to Tenant as to the permissibility of Rooftop Equipment on the Building under Applicable Laws. In no event shall installation of Rooftop Equipment require any roof
penetrations or void any roof warranty. Upon the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, at Tenant’s sole cost and expense, Tenant shall remove or cause to be removed the Rooftop Equipment and repair
or cause to be repaired any damage caused by such removal.
Without limiting the terms of any other indemnity set forth in this Lease, Tenant hereby agrees to indemnify and hold Landlord, its agents, employees, contractors and representatives, harmless from
and against any and all cost, claims, damages (including, but not limited to, any damage to the Building, the roof or Landlord's property), causes of action and liability which may arise by reason of any
occurrence attributable to or arising out of Tenant's installation, maintenance, repair, operation or removal of any Rooftop Equipment, including without limitation, any claim or cause of action for injury to or
death of any person or damage to any property arising therefrom and Tenant agrees to defend any claim or demand against Landlord, its agents or employees arising out of any such occurrence. Tenant shall,
upon thirty (30) days prior written notice from Landlord, reimburse Landlord for all costs and expenses incurred by Landlord as a result of Tenant's operation of any Rooftop Equipment, including damages to
the Building and the furnishing of electric power for the operation of the same.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Lease as of the date first above written.
TENANT:

LANDLORD:

AEROVIRONMENT, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

PRINCETON AVENUE HOLDINGS, LLC,
a California limited liability company

By:
Name:
Its:

By:

/s/ Kirk J. Flittie
Kirk J. Flittie
VP & GM, UAS

Its:

By:

Nearon Enterprises,
a California corporation
Designated Manager

/s/ Anthony Perino
Anthony Perino, President
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EXHIBIT A-2
PREMISES PLAN

A-2-1

A-2-2

EXHIBIT B
OPERATING EXPENSES AND TAXES
A.
As used in this Lease, “Operating Expenses” shall mean, without duplication, all costs and expenses paid or incurred by Landlord in connection with the ownership, management, operation,
maintenance and repair of the Building and/or the Project (individually and collectively, as used in this Exhibit, the “Building”), and in providing services in accordance with this Lease, including the
following: salaries, wages, other compensation, taxes and benefits (including payroll, social security, workers’ compensation, unemployment, disability and similar taxes and payments) for all personnel
engaged in the management, operation, maintenance or repair of the Building; uniforms provided to such personnel; premiums and other charges for all property, earthquake, rental value, liability and other
insurance carried by Landlord, together with the amount of any deductible under such policy; water and sewer charges or fees; license, permit and inspection fees; electricity, water, heating, ventilation, air
conditioning, gas, fuel, steam and other utilities; sales, use and excise taxes on goods and services purchased by Landlord; telephone, delivery, postage, stationery supplies and other expenses; management fees
(not to exceed 2.5% of then applicable Base Rent) and expenses; repairs to and maintenance of the Building (including the contribution to and replenishment of reserves maintained by Landlord for the payment
of such expenses), including Building Systems and accessories thereto and repair and replacement of worn out or broken equipment, facilities, parts and installations; window cleaning, security, guard,
extermination, water treatment, garbage and waste disposal, rubbish removal, plumbing and other services; inspection or service contracts for electrical, mechanical and other Building equipment and systems;
supplies, tools, materials and equipment; accounting, legal and other professional fees and expenses (excluding legal fees, accounting, and other professional fees and expenses incurred by Landlord relating to
disputes with specific tenants or the negotiation, interpretation or enforcement of specific leases); painting of any of the public or Common Areas of the Project, including, without limitation, the Building
exterior and any interior portions thereof, and the cost of maintaining the sidewalks, landscaping and other common areas of the Project; the cost of parking area repair, restoration and maintenance, including,
without limitation, resurfacing, restriping and cleaning; the cost, amortized over the useful life as reasonably determined by Landlord, according to generally accepted accounting principles, of all furniture,
fixtures, draperies, carpeting and personal property furnished by Landlord in the Common Areas or in the Building office (if any); all costs and expenses resulting from compliance with any laws, ordinances,
rules, regulations or orders applicable to the Building; all costs and expenses of contesting by appropriate legal proceedings brought in good faith on any matter concerning the amount or validity of any
Property Taxes; the cost, reasonably amortized as determined by Landlord, according to generally accepted accounting principles, of all capital improvements made to the Building to reduce any item of
Operating Expenses, or that constitute a replacement of a Building System, or that are required by any law, ordinance, rule, regulation or order; charges and assessments on the Project pursuant to any applicable
covenants, conditions and restrictions encumbering the Project; and such other usual costs and expenses which are paid by other landlords for the on-site operation, servicing, maintenance and repair of
comparable industrial buildings in the Ventura County, California area. Any capital expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with the foregoing shall be amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful life
of the relevant item in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, and as generally practiced in the real estate industry (“GAAP”).
Notwithstanding anything contained in the Lease or the foregoing list of Operating Expenses, no expenses incurred for the following shall be included in Operating Expenses for any expense year: Property
Taxes; depreciation on the Building (except as described above) costs of tenants’ improvements (including permit, license and inspection fees); real estate brokers’ commissions, interest, payments of loan
principal and expenses related to a financing or refinancing of the Building; the cost of services provided to tenants materially in excess of services customarily provided to Tenant, whether or not Landlord is
entitled to reimbursement therefor; Landlord’s legal costs and expenses in connection with any lease dispute, or litigation with any tenant, or Landlord’s costs in maintaining Landlord’s corporate or limited
liability company status; expenses for which Landlord is reimbursed or indemnified (either by an insurer, condemnor, tenant or otherwise); expenses incurred in leasing or procuring tenants (including, without
limitation, lease commissions, legal expenses, and expenses of renovating space for tenants); interest on, and amortization of, mortgages or deeds of trust; any rents under any ground, overriding and/or
underlying leases; costs of selling, financing and/or mortgaging any of Landlord’s interest in the Building or Project including, without limitation, mortgage or recording taxes, points, commissions, legal fees
and commitment fees; any sums paid to a person, firm, corporation or other entity related to Landlord which are in excess of the market amount; compensation, bonuses, salaries, administrative wages and
benefits of officers, directors, and executive personnel,
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property manager and leasing agents of Landlord or personnel of Landlord above the level of Building manager; legal and other professional fees, court costs, and other expenses incurred in preparing,
negotiating and executing leases, amendments, terminations and extensions or in resolving any disputes with tenants or other occupants or enforcing lease obligations; auditing fees other than auditing fees in
connection with the preparation of statements required to reconcile Operating Expenses; cost of any work or service performed for any specific tenant (including Tenant) at such tenant's cost; and/or charges for
electricity, HVAC, any other utilities or for janitorial or cleaning for which Landlord is entitled to reimbursement from any specific tenant other than through Operating Expenses; services or benefits provided
to some tenants but not to Tenant; the costs of developing the site or correcting defects and/or latent defects in the original construction of the Building or in the Building equipment and/or costs to correct any
damage caused by subsurface or soil conditions; cost of any repair made by Landlord to remedy damage caused by, or resulting from the gross negligence or willful or intentional acts of Landlord, its agents,
servants, contractors, or employees; costs to remove asbestos or Hazardous Materials (as defined by all applicable environmental laws) from the Building except for routine removal of Hazardous Materials
commonly present in a Building comparable to that of the Building, such as but not limited to office and cleaning supplies and motor oil deposits; the cost of any additions to the Building; costs to retrofit or
reinforce the Building or the Premises to comply with existing (as of the Effective Date) laws, rules, codes or regulation related to earthquake safety, floor control and/or handicapped access; fines or penalties
incurred by Landlord due to Landlord's violation of any applicable governmental Law, requirement or order; any late fees, penalties, interest charges or similar fees incurred by Landlord; except to the extent
permitted in the preceding paragraph, lease payments for rented equipment, the cost of which equipment would constitute a capital expenditure if the equipment were purchased; the cost of complying with the
Americans With Disabilities Act in effect (and as interpreted) as of the Effective Date, whether such costs are classified as capital items or expenses under generally accepted accounting principles; charitable or
political contributions; gift and corporate taxes of Landlord; and capital expenditures as determined in accordance with GAAP, including, but not limited to, costs incurred by Landlord for improvements or
replacements (including structural additions), repairs, equipment and tools which are of a “capital” nature and/or which are considered “capital” improvements or replacements under GAAP, except as otherwise
provided in paragraph A above.
B.
Actual Operating Expenses for each calendar year shall be adjusted, if necessary, to equal Landlord’s reasonable estimate of Operating Expenses for a full calendar year with the total area of
the Building occupied during such full calendar year; provided, however, Landlord shall not in any year collect in excess of one hundred percent (100%) of the actual Operating Expenses paid or incurred by
Landlord in any calendar year.
C.
Landlord reserves the right to, in good faith, establish classifications for the equitable allocation of Operating Expenses that are incurred for the direct benefit of specific types of tenants or
users in the Building (“Cost Pools”). Landlord’s reasonable determination of such allocations in a manner consistent with the terms and conditions of this section shall be final and binding on Tenant. Tenant
acknowledges that the allocation of Operating Expenses among Cost Pools does not affect all Operating Expenses, and is limited to specific items that are incurred or provided to tenants of Cost Pools which
Landlord determines, in good faith, it would be inequitable to share, in whole or in part, among tenants of other Cost Pools in the Building.
D.
As used in this Lease, “Property Taxes” shall mean all taxes, assessments, excises, levies, fees and charges (and any tax, assessment, excise, levy, fee or charge levied wholly or partly in lieu
thereof or as a substitute therefor or as an addition thereto) of every kind and description, general or special, ordinary or extraordinary, foreseen or unforeseen, secured or unsecured, that are levied, assessed,
charged, confirmed or imposed by any public or government authority on or against, or otherwise with respect to, the Building or any part thereof or any personal property used in connection with the Building,
or any charge or fee imposed by any federal, state or local government, district or agency for fire protection, public transportation, housing, trash removal, sidewalk, street maintenance or other public
service(s). Property Taxes shall not include net income (measured by the income of Landlord from all sources or from sources other than solely rent), franchise, documentary transfer, inheritance or capital
stock taxes of Landlord, unless levied or assessed against Landlord in whole or in part in lieu of, as a substitute for, or as an addition to any Property Taxes.
E.
In addition to all rent and other charges to be paid by Tenant under the Lease, Tenant shall reimburse Landlord upon demand for all taxes, assessments, excises, levies, fees and charges
including all payments related to the cost of providing facilities or services, whether or not now customary or within the contemplation of Landlord and Tenant, that are payable by Landlord and levied,
assessed, charged, confirmed or imposed by any public or government authority upon, or measured by, or reasonably attributable to (i) the cost or
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value of Tenant’s equipment, furniture, fixtures and other personal property located in the Premises or the cost or value of any leasehold improvements made in or to the Premises by or for Tenant, regardless of
whether title to such improvements is vested in Tenant or Landlord, (ii) any rent payable under this Lease, including any gross income tax or excise tax levied by any public or government authority with respect
to the receipt of any such rent, (iii) the possession, leasing, operation, management, maintenance, alteration, repair, use or occupancy by Tenant of the Premises, or (iv) this transaction or any document to which
Tenant is a party creating or transferring an interest or an estate in the Premises. All taxes, assessments, excises, levies, fees and charges payable by Tenant under this Exhibit shall be deemed to be, and shall be
paid as, additional rent.
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EXHIBIT C
RULES AND REGULATIONS OF
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE, MOORPARK, CA
ROOF
Neither Tenant nor any agent, employee, contractor, invitee or licensee of Tenant shall go upon the roof of the Building, except as permitted by Landlord in accordance with the Lease.
SIGNS
No sign, placard, picture, name, advertisement or notice visible from the exterior of the Premises shall be inscribed, painted, affixed or otherwise displayed by Tenant on any part of the Building or the
Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord. Landlord will adopt and furnish to tenants general guidelines relating to signs inside the Building. Tenant agrees to conform to such guidelines. All
approved signs or lettering shall be printed, painted, affixed or inscribed at the expense of Tenant by a person approved by Landlord.
KEYS
Landlord will furnish Tenant without charge with two (2) keys to each door lock provided in the Premises by Landlord. Landlord may make a reasonable charge for any additional keys. Tenant, upon
the termination of this Lease, shall deliver to Landlord all keys to doors in the Building.
NO NUISANCES
Tenant shall not use or keep in the premises or the building any kerosene, gasoline or inflammable or combustible fluid or material other than limited quantities thereof reasonably necessary for the
operation or maintenance of tenant’s equipment. Tenant shall not use any method of heating or air conditioning other than that supplied by landlord. Tenant shall not use or keep or permit to be used or kept any
foul or noxious gas or substance in the premises, or permit or suffer the premises to be occupied or used in a manner offensive or objectionable to Landlord or other occupants of the Building by reason of noise,
odors or vibrations, or interfere in any way with other tenants or those having business in the Building, nor shall any animals be brought or kept in the premises or the Building (other than service animals).
ACCESS TO BUILDING
In the case of invasion, mob, riot, public excitement or other circumstances rendering such action advisable in Landlord’s opinion, Landlord reserves the right to prevent access to the Building during
the continuance of the same by such action as Landlord may deem appropriate, including closing doors. Tenant assumes all risks from theft or vandalism and agrees to keep the Premises locked as may be
required.
USE OF NAME OF BUILDING
Tenant shall not use the name of the Building for any purpose other than as an address of the business to be conducted by Tenant in the Premises. Landlord shall have the right to change the name,
address or title of the Project or the Building.
BATHROOMS
The toilet rooms, toilets, urinals, wash bowls and other apparatus shall not be used for any purpose other than that for which they were constructed, no foreign substance of any kind whatsoever shall be
thrown therein, and the expense of any breakage, stoppage or damage resulting from the violation of this rule shall be paid by Tenant if caused by Tenant or its agents, employees, contractors, invitees or
licensees.
TRASH REMOVAL
Tenant shall not make, suffer or permit litter, except in appropriate receptacles for that purpose. Tenant shall store all its trash and garbage within the Premises. No material shall be placed in the trash
boxes or receptacles
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if such material is of such nature that it may not be disposed of in the ordinary and customary manner of removing and disposing of industrial building trash and garbage in the city or county in which the
Building is located without being in violation of any law or ordinance governing such disposal. Tenant shall crush and flatten all boxes, cartons and containers. Tenant shall pay extra charges for any unusual
trash disposal.
NO SOLICITING
Canvassing, soliciting, distribution of handbills or any other written material and peddling in the Building are prohibited, and Tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same.
NO SMOKING
There shall be NO SMOKING in the Building or in the immediate area of the entrances to the Building as designated by Landlord.
PARKING RULES
1.
Tenant shall use the parking facilities of the Project only for the parking of automobiles used by Tenant’s employees while the employees are working in the Premises and for use by Tenant’s
licensees and invitees while visiting the Premises. Except as expressly designated in writing by Landlord, parking is on an unreserved, first-come basis.
2.
Automobile parking areas (except as provided below) shall be used only for parking by vehicles no longer than full size, passenger automobiles herein called “Permitted Size
Vehicles”. Vehicles other than Permitted Size Vehicles are herein referred to as “Oversized Vehicles”. Tenant shall be permitted to park Oversized Vehicles used in Tenant’s business in the automobile parking
areas, subject to reasonable limitations of such parking as designated by Landlord.
3.
Tenant shall not permit or allow any vehicles that belong to or are controlled by Tenant or Tenant’s employees, suppliers, shippers, customers, or invitees to be loaded, unloaded, or parked in
areas other than those designated by Landlord for such activities.
4.
Unless otherwise instructed, every person using the parking area is required to park and lock his own vehicle. Landlord is not responsible for any damage to vehicles, injury to persons or loss
of property, all of which risks are assumed by the party using the parking facilities. The release provision contained in Paragraph 14(f) of this Lease is expressly made applicable to Tenant’s use of the parking
facilities and any occurrences therein and in the driveway access and entrances thereto.
5.

The maintenance, washing, waxing or cleaning of vehicles in the parking areas or anywhere on the property is prohibited.

6.

Tenant shall be responsible for ensuring that all of its employees, agents and invitees comply with the applicable parking rules, regulations, laws and agreements.

7.

Parking herein provided is intended as a license only and no bailment is intended or shall be created hereby.

8.

Users of the parking area will obey all posted signs and park only in the areas designated for vehicle parking.

9.
parking facilities.

Landlord reserves the right to modify these rules and/or adopt such other reasonable and nondiscriminatory rules and regulations as it may deem necessary for the proper operation of the

WAIVER
Landlord may waive any one or more of these Rules and Regulations for the benefit of any particular tenant or tenants, but no such waiver by Landlord shall be construed as a waiver of such Rules and
Regulations in favor of any other tenant or tenants, nor prevent Landlord from thereafter enforcing any such Rules and Regulations against any or all of the tenants of the Building in a uniform and nondiscriminatory manner.
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LIFE SAFETY
Tenant shall comply with all safety, fire protection and evacuation regulations established by Landlord or any applicable governmental agency.
SUPPLEMENTAL TO LEASE
These Rules and Regulations are in addition to, and shall not be construed to in any way modify or amend, in whole or in part, the covenants of this Lease.
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EXHIBIT D
WORK LETTER
This Work Letter sets forth the agreement of Landlord and Tenant with respect to the improvements to be constructed in the Premises. All defined terms used herein shall have the meaning set forth in
the Lease, unless otherwise defined in this Work Letter.
1.

Landlord’s Work.

(a)
Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant upon Substantial Completion of the Landlord’s Work (as defined below). The term “Substantially Completed” or “Substantial
Completion” as used in the Lease or this Work Letter shall mean Landlord has sufficiently completed all the work required to be performed by Landlord in accordance with this Work Letter (except standard
punchlist items, which Landlord shall thereafter promptly complete after receipt of written notice thereof from Tenant received within thirty (30) days after the Commencement Date) such that Tenant can
conduct normal business operations from the Premises. The Landlord’s Work shall be comprised of (i) the improvements (the “Base Landlord Work”) identified in that certain space plan (the “Base Landlord
Work Space Plan”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit D-1 (and which, for avoidance of doubt, include, without limitation, HVAC for the warehouse, five (5) private offices on the first floor of the
Premises, and the epoxy finish on the warehouse floor), and (ii) the improvements identified in that certain space plan (the “Full Scope Space Plan” and referred to collectively with the Base Landlord Work
Space Plan as the “Space Plan”), a copy of which is attached as Exhibit D-2, which are in addition to the Base Landlord Work and which Tenant elects pursuant to Section 1(b) below to cause Landlord to
complete (such additional improvements, the “Supplemental Landlord Work”). Except as otherwise noted in the Space Plan, Landlord shall utilize Building Standard materials for improvement to the
Premises. Landlord shall perform and commence work on the Landlord’s Work through an architect and contractors acceptable to Landlord in its sole discretion. As used herein, the term “Building Standard”
refers to the materials maintained in stock by Landlord for use in the improvements of tenant space in the Building. The parties acknowledge and agree that the Landlord’s Work constitutes all of the work
required to enable Tenant to occupy, and operate its business in, the Premises.
(b)
Landlord will perform, at its sole cost and expense, the Base Landlord Work. Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of the Lease, Tenant shall provide written notice to
Landlord of the Supplemental Landlord Work which Tenant elects for Landlord to construct; provided that Tenant may modify its election of Supplemental Landlord Work to be performed by adding or deleting
therefrom until Construction Drawings have been approved pursuant to Section 2 below, and any modifications thereafter to the Supplemental Landlord Work shall constitute a Tenant Delay pursuant to Section
4 below. As part of the Landlord’s Work, Landlord will also perform, at its sole cost and expense, the Supplemental Landlord Work, provided however, that all costs attributable to such Supplemental Landlord
Work shall be reimbursed by Tenant within thirty (30) days of receipt from Landlord of invoice therefore (and reasonable evidence of such costs), except that Tenant shall not be responsible to reimburse
Landlord for the cost of architectural plans, engineering plans and permits attributable to the Supplemental Landlord Work, and Tenant may, by delivery of written notice to Landlord, elect to apply all or a
portion of the TI Reimbursement (as set forth under Section 13(e) of the Lease) towards Tenant’s reimbursement obligations for the Supplemental Landlord Work.
2.

Plans.

(a)
Landlord shall deliver to Tenant construction drawings which incorporate and are consistent with the Space Plan, and which show in detail the intended design, construction and
finishing of all portions of the Landlord’s Work (collectively, the “Construction Drawings”). Within five (5) business days after Tenant’s receipt of the Construction Drawings, Tenant shall either approve or
disapprove the Construction Drawings, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Tenant’s failure to approve or disapprove the Construction Drawings within such 5 business-day period shall be
deemed to constitute Tenant’s approval of the Construction Drawings. If Tenant disapproves the Construction Drawings, then Tenant shall state in reasonable detail the changes which Tenant requires to be
made thereto. Landlord shall submit to Tenant revised Construction Drawings within five (5) business days after Landlord’s receipt of Tenant’s disapproval notice. Tenant shall give Landlord written notice of
its approval or disapproval of the revised Construction Drawings within two business (2)
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days after the date of Tenant’s receipt thereof. Tenant’s failure to approve or disapprove the revised Construction Drawings within such 2 business-day period shall be deemed to constitute Tenant’s approval of
the revised Construction Drawings. If Tenant disapproves the revised Construction Drawings, then Landlord and Tenant shall continue to follow the procedures set forth in this Paragraph 2(a) until Landlord
and Tenant reasonably approve such Construction Drawings in accordance with this Paragraph 4(a); provided, however, that notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth above in this Paragraph 2(a), if
Landlord and Tenant have not mutually approved the Construction Drawings within two business (2) days after Landlord’s delivery of the third (3rd) iteration of the same to Tenant, or within thirty (30)
calendar days after Landlord delivers the initial set of Construction Drawings to Tenant (whichever is sooner), then Landlord may, in its sole discretion, elect to terminate this Lease by giving written notice of
such election to Tenant at any time thereafter.
(b)
After Landlord and Tenant have mutually approved the Construction Drawings pursuant to Paragraph 2(a) above, Landlord shall apply, or cause its architect to apply, for applicable
permits. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth above in this Paragraph 2(b), if Architect is unable to obtain the Permits within sixty (60) days after Landlord and Tenant have mutually approved the
Construction Drawings despite Architect’s good faith and diligent efforts, then Landlord may elect to terminate this Lease by giving written notice of such election to Tenant at any time thereafter.
3.
Early Access. Provided that Tenant, its employees, contractors and agents do not interfere with, or delay, the Landlord’s construction of the Landlord’s Work, Landlord shall allow Tenant
access to the Premises commencing as of the execution and delivery of this Lease by both parties for the purpose of Tenant performing any building design, permitting and preparation prior to occupancy. Prior
to Tenant’s entry into the Premises as permitted by the terms of this paragraph, Tenant shall submit a schedule to Landlord for its approval, which schedule shall detail the timing and purpose of Tenant’s entry,
and shall deliver evidence of insurance coverage as required of Tenant under this Lease. Tenant’s early access onto the Premises under this Paragraph 3 shall be subject to all terms and conditions of this Lease
(including without limitation all insurance and indemnity obligations), except for the payment of Rent.
4.
Tenant Delay. In the event of any Tenant Delays (as that term is hereinafter defined), the Commencement Date of the Lease shall be determined based on the date Landlord in good faith
determines it would have substantially completed the Landlord’s Work without the delays attributable to Tenant Delays. As used herein, the term “Tenant Delays” shall mean any delay that Landlord may
encounter in the performance of Landlord’s obligations under this Work Letter or the Lease to construct the Landlord’s Work because of any act or omission of any nature by Tenant or its employees, contractors
or agents, including, without limitation, delays resulting from changes in or additions to the plans for the Landlord’s Work; delays resulting from Tenant’s election to include in the Landlord’s Work the
construction of offices within the warehouse portion of the Premises; delays due to the failure to promptly give authorizations or approvals of the Construction Drawings or any other matter required to enable
Landlord to proceed with any work; delays resulting from interference by Tenant, its employees, contractors or agents with Landlord’s performance of the Landlord’s Work.
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EXHIBIT D-1
BASE LANDLORD WORK SPACE PLAN
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EXHIBIT D-2
FULL SCOPE SPACE PLAN
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EXHIBIT E
COMMENCEMENT LETTER
________, 20__
_____________________
_____________________
_____________________
Re:
Lease dated __________ ___, 201_ (“Lease”), by and between Princeton Avenue Holdings, a California limited liability company (“Landlord”), and Aerovironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(“Tenant”), with respect to 14501 Princeton Avenue, Moorpark, California (“Premises”)
Dear Tenant:
In accordance with the terms and conditions of the above referenced Lease, Tenant hereby accepts possession of the Premises and agrees as follows:
Commencement Date of the Lease: _______, 20__;
Expiration Date of the Lease: _______, 20__.
Please acknowledge your acceptance of possession of the Premises and agreement to the terms set forth above by signing all three (3) copies of this Commencement Letter in the space provided and returning
two (2) fully executed copies of the same to my attention.
Sincerely,
PRINCETON AVENUE HOLDINGS, LLC,
a California limited liability company
By:
Nearon Enterprises,
a California corporation
Its:
Designated Manager
By:
Anthony Perino, President
AGREED AND ACCEPTED:
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Its:
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RIDER NO. 1 TO LEASE
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE, MOORPARK, CA
This Rider No. 1 to Lease is attached to and incorporated by reference into that certain Lease, dated March 28, 2018, entered into by and between Princeton Avenue Holdings, LLC, a California limited
liability company, as Landlord, and Aerovironment, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as Tenant (the “Lease”). Landlord and Tenant hereby amend and supplement the Lease as hereinafter set forth. In the event
of any conflict or inconsistency between the Lease and this Rider, the terms of this Rider shall control and prevail. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning given said
terms in the Lease.
35.

EARLY TERMINATION.

Tenant shall have the option (“Termination Option”) to terminate this Lease effective upon the last day of the thirty ninth (39th) full calendar month of the Term only (the “Termination Date”). In order to
exercise the Termination Option, Tenant must fully and completely satisfy each and every one of the following conditions: (a) Tenant must give Landlord written notice (“Termination Notice”) at least six (6)
months prior to the Termination Date, (b) at the time of the Termination Notice, no Event of Default shall exist under this Lease, nor shall any circumstance exist that, with the giving of notice, the passage of
time, or both, would constitute an Event of Default under this Lease, and (c) concurrently with Tenant’s delivery of the Termination Notice to Landlord, Tenant shall pay to Landlord a termination fee
(“Termination Fee”) equal to Six Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($600,000.00). Tenant’s failure to deliver the Termination Fee concurrently with the Termination Notice shall render the Termination
Notice and the Termination Option null and void and this Lease shall continue in full force and effect. Tenant’s rights granted under this Paragraph 35 are personal to the original Tenant signatory to this Lease
and any Permitted Transferee, and shall not be assigned to nor inure to the benefit of any other party.
36.

EXTENSION OPTION.

Tenant shall have the right to extend the Term of this Lease (the “Extension Option”), for one (1) thirty six (36) month period (the “Extension Term”) if Tenant (i) gives Landlord written notice of such
election (the “Option Notice”) not earlier than eighteen (18) months, and not later than twelve (12) months, before the expiration of the original or then current Term of this Lease; (ii) is not in default beyond
any applicable cure periods under any provision of this Lease on the date of giving the Option Notice; and (iii) is not in default beyond any applicable cure periods of any provision of this Lease on the date of
the expiration of the original or then current Term of this Lease. The foregoing conditions are for the sole benefit of Landlord, and Landlord, alone, shall have the right in its sole and absolute discretion to insist
on strict observance with the foregoing conditions or to waive any of the foregoing conditions. All of the terms and conditions of this Lease shall apply during the Extension Term (other than the further right to
extend the Term, and any obligation to construct Landlord’s Work provided in this Lease, which shall be inapplicable). The Base Rent for the first year of the Extension Term shall equal one hundred two point
five percent (102.5%) of the then current Base Rent being paid under this Lease, and shall increase annually thereafter by two point five percent (2.5%). The foregoing Extension Option is personal to the
named Tenant under this Lease, and shall not inure to the benefit of any assignee or subtenant other than a Permitted Transferee. The Extension Option shall be void and of no further effect if at any time the
named Tenant under this Lease assigns this Lease or subleases any portion of the Premises to any entity other than a Permitted Transferee.
AEROVIRONMENT
14501 PRINCETON AVENUE

Exhibit 10.40
AMENDMENT NO. 01 TO
STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
AeroVironment, Inc., (“AV” or “Party”) and General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired (“Consultant" or "Party"), collectively referred to as the “Parties,”
previously entered into a Standard Consulting Agreement with an Effective Date of January 01, 2016 ("Agreement"), which provides for the Consultant to render
certain specified Services to AV during the Term of the Agreement. The Parties have agreed to amend the Agreement as follows:
1.

First paragraph of the Agreement is modified to update AV's corporate address and also update Consultant's address. The amended first paragraph reads
as follows: “THIS AGREEMENT is executed and made effective as of January 01, 2016 (the “Effective Date”) between AeroVironment, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, and its subsidiaries, with offices at 800 Royal Oaks Drive, Suite 210, Monrovia, CA 91016-6347 (hereinafter referred to as "AV" or Party) and
General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired, with offices at
, Phone:
, E-mail: mailto:hollandcr1@gmail.com
(hereinafter referred to as
“consultant" or “Party"). AV and the Consultant will be collectively referred to as “the Parties.”

2.

Section 2, “Term,” of the Agreement is modified to extend the Term of the Agreement to June 30, 2017. The amended Section 2 reads as follows:
"Services will be performed between the Effective Date and June 30, 2017 ("Expiration Date''). This Agreement may be extended for additional periods by
mutual written agreement between the Parties prior to the Expiration Date of the initial term or any extension thereof. If the Parties do not execute such a
written agreement, this Agreement will expire and automatically terminate as of the Expiration Date.”

3.

Section 19, "Notice,'' of the Agreement is modified to update AV’s corporate address and also update Consultant’s address. The amended Section 19 reads
as follows: “Any notice between the parties hereto required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be sufficient if in writing and sent by
registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, or other express delivery service, to the respective addresses set forth below or at such other address as either of
the parties may from time to time designate in accordance with the provisions of this Section 19.
AeroVironment:

l h

l k
John Burkholder
Senior Counsel
800 Royal Oaks Drive, Suite 210
Monrovia, CA 91016-6347
Telephone: +626-357-9983 ext 4588
Facsimile: +626-359-1894
E-Mail: burkholder@avinc.com

Consultant:

General Charles R. Holland, USAF Retired
AEROVIRONMENT PROPRIETARY INFORMATION
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All other terms of the Agreement and any other terms of previous Amendments to the Agreement remain in full force and effect. If there is a conflict between the
terms of this Amendment and those of the Agreement or any previous Amendment, the terms of this current Amendment shall control.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment effective as of January 01, 2017
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
Signature: /s/ Wahid Nawabi
Printed Name: Wahid Nawabi
Title: President and CEO
Date: 11/23/2016

CONSULTANT:
General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired
Signature: /s/ Charles R. Holland
Printed Name: Charles R. Holland
Title: Consultant
Date: 11/24/16
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STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
Effective Date: January 01, 2016
Consultant: General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired
TASK ORDER # FY17-001
A.

Project No. 9000.6435.0100.000

Effort and/or Services to be provided by Consultant:
Consultant will provide marketing support for unmanned air vehicle systems. This includes:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Scheduling meetings with key executives from the U.S. Department of Defense.
On-going consulting services on AV capture activities.
Facilitate and provide assistance scheduling meetings with key participants at various industry conferences.
Provide industry advice on ad-hoc basis as requested by the AV Task Manager.

In performance of the work under this Task Order and Consultant Agreement, the Consultant is not permitted to disclose any export-controlled data or furnish any
defense services to non-US persons, unless authorized in advance by the US Department of State or Department of Commerce. The Consultant is not permitted to
access any US or other government classified information in the course of performance of work under this Task Order and Consulting Agreement, unless the
following actions have occurred: (1) AV Security Officer has approved such access in advance; (2) the Parties have executed the “Consultant Certificate Regarding
Access to and Handling of Classified Information” (Attachment E to the Consulting Agreement); and (3) and the Consultant has completed all necessary training.
B.

Unless otherwise designated in writing by AV with notice to Consultant, the AV Task Manager is: Wahid Nawabi

C.

Target Performance Period: January 1, 2017 through June 30, 2017

D.

Rates:
Authorized Days: As required and authorized by AV Task Manager
Rate: $4,000.00 per day
Monthly Retainer: $4,000.00
Total Not To Exceed Cost: $24,000.00 (excluding expenses)

E.

Expenses:
Maximum authorized expenses: AV will reimburse Consultant for any AV related business travel expenses (transportation, lodging, meals, etc.) during
“Target Performance Period” defined under Section C above, provided all travel expenses are pre-approved in writing by the AV Task Manager.
Travel and/or miscellaneous expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with current AV standard travel procedures; receipts shall accompany invoices of
$25 or more. No labor or expense costs above those amounts shown here are to be incurred without the prior written approval of the AV Task Manager.
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F. SUBMITTING INVOICES: This practice will support efficient processing and payment.
1.
INVOICES: Reference shall be made to the correct Task Order No. and Project No. and/or Charge No. and include the name of the AV Task
Manager on all invoices.
2.
PROGRESS STATEMENT: To stay in compliance with the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), Part 31, each invoice should also be
accompanied by a progress statement.
3.
INVOICES SHALL BE SENT TO: Accounts Payable Group, AeroVironment, Inc., via e-mail to acp@avinc.com, and also reference the correct
Task Order Number and your organization’s name in the subject line of the email, with courtesy copy to AV Task Manager, or by mail to P.O. Box 5031,
Monrovia, CA 91107.
AeroVironment, Inc.

General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired

/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Signature

/s/ Charles R. Holland
Signature

Wahid Nawabi
Name (Print)

Charles R. Holland
Name (Print)

President and CEO
Title

Consultant
Title

11/28/2016
Date

11/28/2016
Date
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AMENDMENT NO. 02 TO
STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
AeroVironment, Inc. (“AV or Party”) and General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired (“Consultant or Party”), collectively the “Parties,” previously entered into a
Standard Consulting Agreement with an Effective Date of January 1, 2016 (“Agreement”), which provides for the Consultant to render certain specified services to
AV during the Term of the Agreement. The Parties have agreed to amend the Agreement as follows:
1.

Section 2, “Term,” of the Agreement is modified to extend the Term of the Agreement to April 30, 2018. The amended Section 2 reads as follows:
“Services will be performed between the Effective Date and April 30, 2018 (“Expiration Date”). This Agreement may be extended for additional periods by
mutual written agreement between the Parties prior to the Expiration Date of the initial term or any extension thereof. If the Parties do not execute such a
written agreement, this Agreement will expire and automatically terminate as of the Expiration Date.”

All other terms of the Agreement and any other terms of previous Amendments to the Agreement remain in full force and effect. If there is a conflict between the
terms of this Amendment and those of the Agreement or any previous Amendment, the terms of this current Amendment shall control.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment effective as of July 1, 2017
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
Signature: /s/ Wahid Nawabi
Printed Name: Wahid Nawabi
Title: President and CEO
Date: 6/7/2017
CONSULTANT
GENERAL CHARLES R. HOLLAND, USAF, RETIRED
Signature: /s/ Charles R. Holland
Printed Name: Charles R. Holland
Date: 6/7/2017
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STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
Effective Date: January 01, 2016
Consultant: General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired
TASK ORDER # FY18-001
A.

Project No. 0100.COR

Effort and/or Services to be provided by Consultant:
Consultant will provide marketing support for unmanned air vehicle systems. This includes:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Scheduling meetings with key executives from the U.S. Department of Defense.
On-going consulting services on AV capture activities.
Facilitate and provide assistance scheduling meetings with key participants at various industry conferences.
Provide industry advice on ad-hoc basis as requested by the AV Task Manager.

In performance of the work under this Task Order and Consultant Agreement, the Consultant is not permitted to disclose any export-controlled data or furnish any
defense services to non-US persons, unless authorized in advance by the US Department of State or Department of Commerce. The Consultant is not permitted to
access any US or other government classified information in the course of performance of work under this Task Order and Consulting Agreement, unless the
following actions have occurred: (1) AV Security Officer has approved such access in advance; (2) the Parties have executed the “Consultant Certificate Regarding
Access to and Handling of Classified Information” (Attachment E to the Consulting Agreement); and (3) and the Consultant has completed all necessary training.
B.

Unless otherwise designated in writing by AV with notice to Consultant, the AV Task Manager is: Wahid Nawabi

C.

Target Performance Period: July 1, 2017 through April 30, 2018

D.

Rates:
Authorized Days: As required and authorized by AV Task Manager
Rate: $4,000.00 per day
Monthly Retainer: $4,000.00
Total Not To Exceed Cost: $24,000.00 (excluding expenses)

E.

Expenses:
Maximum authorized expenses: AV will reimburse Consultant for any AV related business travel expenses (transportation, lodging, meals, etc.) during
“Target Performance Period” defined under Section C above, provided all travel expenses are pre-approved in writing by the AV Task Manager.
Travel and/or miscellaneous expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with current AV standard travel procedures; receipts shall accompany invoices of
$25 or more. No labor or expense costs above those amounts shown here are to be incurred without the prior written approval of the AV Task Manager.
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F. SUBMITTING INVOICES: This practice will support efficient processing and payment.
1.
INVOICES: Reference shall be made to the correct Task Order No. and Project No. and/or Charge No. and include the name of the AV Task
Manager on all invoices.
2.
PROGRESS STATEMENT: To stay in compliance with the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), Part 31, each invoice should also be
accompanied by a progress statement.
3.
INVOICES SHALL BE SENT TO: Accounts Payable Group, AeroVironment, Inc., via e-mail to acp@avinc.com, and also reference the correct
Task Order Number and your organization’s name in the subject line of the email, with courtesy copy to AV Task Manager, or by mail to P.O. Box 5031,
Monrovia, CA 91107.
AeroVironment, Inc.

General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired

/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Signature

/s/ Charles R. Holland
Signature

President and CEO
Title
6/6/2017
Date

6/5/2017
Date
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AMENDMENT NO. 03 TO
STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
Aerovironment, Inc. (“AV or Party”) and General Charles R. Holland, USAF, Retired (“Consultant or Party”), collectively the “Parties,” previously
entered into a Standard Consulting Agreement with an Effective Date of January 1, 2016 (“Agreement”), which provides for the Consultant to render
certain specified services to AV during the Term of the Agreement. The Parties have agreed to amend the Agreement as follows:
1.

Section 2, “Term,” of the Agreement is modified to extend the Term of the Agreement to April 30, 2019. The amended Section 2 reads as
follows: “Services will be performed between the Effective Date and April 30, 2019 (“Expiration Date”). This Agreement may be extended for
additional periods by mutual written agreement between the Parties prior to the Expiration Date of the initial term or any extension thereof. If the
Parties do not execute such a written agreement, this Agreement will expire and automatically terminate as of the Expiration Date.”

All other terms of the Agreement and any other terms of previous Amendments to the Agreement remain in full force and effect. If there is a conflict
between the terms of this Amendment and those of the Agreement or any previous Amendment, the terms of this current Amendment shall control.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment effective as of May 1, 2018.
AEROVIRONMENT, INC.
Signature:

/s/ Wahid Nawabi

Printed Name:

Wahid Nawabi

Title:

President and CEO

Date:

4/23/2018

CONSULTANT:
GENERAL CHARLES R. HOLLAND, USAF, RETIRED
Signature:

/s/ Charles R. Holland

Printed Name:

Charles R. Holland

Date:

4/23/2018
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STANDARD CONSULTING AGREEMENT
Effective Date: January 1, 2016
Consultant: Charles R. Holland
TASK ORDER # FY19-001

Project and/or Charge No.0100 COR

A. Effort and/or Services to be provided by Consultant:
Consultant will assist with the following services:
Consultant will provide marketing support for unmanned air vehicle systems. This includes:
1. Scheduling meetings with key executives from the U.S. Department of Defense.
2. On-going consulting services on AV capture activities.
3. Facilitate and provide assistance scheduling meetings with key participants at various industry conferences.
4. Provide industry advice on ad-hoc basis as requested by the AV Task Manager.
In performance of the work under this Task Order and Consultant Agreement, the Consultant is not permitted to disclose any export-controlled
data or furnish any defense services to non-US persons, unless authorized in advance by the US Department of State or Department of
Commerce. The Consultant is not permitted to access any US or other government classified information in the course of performance of work
under this Task Order and Consulting Agreement, unless the following actions have occurred: (1) AV Security Officer has approved such access in
advance; (2) the Parties have executed the “Consultant Certificate Regarding Access to and Handling of Classified Information” (Attachment E to
the Consulting Agreement); and (3) and the Consultant has completed all necessary training.
B. Unless otherwise designated in writing by AV with notice to Consultant, the AV Task Manager is: Wahid Nawabi
C. Target Performance Period: May 1, 2018 through April 30, 2019
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Consultant Initial

Date

AV Initial

Date

D. Rates:
Authorized Days: As required and authorized by AV Task Manager
Monthly Retainer: $4,000.00
Total Not To Exceed Cost: $48,000.00 (plus any expenses incurred as approved by Task Manager)
E. Expenses:
Maximum authorized expenses: None
AV will reimburse Consultant for any AV related business travel expenses (transportation, lodging, meals, etc.) during “Target Performance Period”
defined under Section C above, provided all travel expenses are pre-approved in writing by the AV Task Manager.
Travel and/or miscellaneous expenses shall be reimbursed in accordance with current AV standard travel procedures; receipts shall accompany
invoices of $25 or more.
No labor or expense costs above those amounts shown here are to be incurred without the prior written approval of the AV Task Manager.
F. SUBMITTING INVOICES: This practice will support efficient processing and payment.
1. INVOICES: Reference shall be made to the correct Task Order No. and Project No. and/or Charge No. and include the name of the AV Task
Manager on all invoices.
2.

PROGRESS STATEMENT: To stay in compliance with the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), Part 31, each invoice should also be
accompanied by a progress statement.

3. INVOICES SHALL BE SENT TO: Accounts Payable Group, AeroVironment, Inc., via e-mail to acp@avinc.com, and also reference the correct
Task Order Number and your organization’s name in the subject line of the email, with courtesy copy to AV Task Manager, or by mail to P.O.
Box 5031, Monrovia, CA 91107.
AeroVironment, Inc.

Charles R. Holland, USAF Retired

/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Signature

/s/ Charles R. Holland
Signature

Wahid Nawabi
Name (Print)

Charles R. Holland
Name (Print)

CEO & President
Title
4/23/2018
Date

4/23/2018
Date
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Consultant Initial

Date

AV Initial

Date

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of AeroVironment, Inc.
Name

AeroVironment International PTE. LTD.
AV Rhode Island, LLC
SkyTower, Inc.
Altoy Savunma Sanayi ve Havacilik Anonim Sirketi*
AeroVironment, Inc.
HAPSMobile, Inc.**
* AeroVironment, Inc. has an 85% ownership interest
** AeroVironment, Inc. has a 5% ownership interest

Jurisdiction of Organization

Singapore
Rhode Island
Delaware
Turkey
Afghanastan
Japan

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-140237) pertaining to the AeroVironment, Inc. Nonqualified Stock Option Plan, the
AeroVironment, Inc. 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, and the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, and Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333178349) pertaining to the AeroVironment, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restated, of our reports dated June 26, 2018, with respect to the consolidated financial statements
and schedule of AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of AeroVironment, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual
Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended April 30, 2018.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Los Angeles, California
June 26, 2018

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of CEO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a‑14 and 15d‑14
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002
I, Wahid Nawabi, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10‑K of AeroVironment, Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15(d)‑15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)
reporting.
Date: June 26, 2018

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
/s/ Wahid Nawabi
Wahid Nawabi
Chief Executive Officer and President

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of CFO Pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a‑14 and 15d‑14
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002
I, Teresa P. Covington, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10‑K of AeroVironment, Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a‑15(f) and 15(d)‑15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)
reporting.
Date: June 26, 2018

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
/s/ Teresa P. Covington
Teresa P. Covington
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES‑OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes‑Oxley Act of 2002, each of the undersigned officers of AeroVironment, Inc. (the “Company”)
hereby certifies, to each such officer’s knowledge, that:
(i)

the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10‑K of the Company for the year ended April 30, 2018 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: June 26, 2018

/s/ WAHID NAWABI
Wahid Nawabi
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: June 26, 2018

/s/ TERESA P. COVINGTON
Teresa P. Covington
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

